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OURVISION

RAZBHRANEEFMNESEREEE

To be a world-class outdoor advertising enterprise with Asian background

3% P RS {E on

OURMISSION

AEFRESENFIESHR  UBBESEENEERERRE
To provide optimal Out-Of-Home (OOH) advertising solutions with
highest Return-On-Investment (ROI) and effectiveness

BEEBTERRE  RE1TEEXRT
To promote professional excellence in outdoor advertising media
ZREMNE - S - BEEHEK
To nurture our workforce into a harmonious, efficient and effective team
BITHEET  BEELSHE

To be a community conscious enterprise

M0 EE
OURCORE

VALUES

S HARFHENEE
Integrity: Being honest and truthful towards people
i HEEFEERX  TEBM
Excellence: Continuous improvement and the pursuit of excellence
LB HHESRUCE2O  BEFHELE

Benevolence: Taking social responsibilities and caring for the community
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BAEEEREEARAA(AQT ) (FRBIMRDNRE  1993)R—REFHNFHEERAT - REEL
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BRESNFHMERBATRZ - BHAEBEATEHERIIEARTHNREARBRERAL  RMNEBRARE
RANZEHEREAR [ FARZEHFER KK OREFEFREUGERAMSHFIINEEL R - BRE
BAZREVERZNHE -

Asiaray Media Group Limited (the “Company”) (HKSE Stock Code: 1993) is an outstanding out-of-home media
company with a strategic focus on mega transport advertising media management including airport, metro line
and high speed rail advertising. We are also one of two out-of-home resources companies operating in the metro
lines segment in Hong Kong. With an extensive nationwide network of media resources covering nearly 40 cities
in Greater China, we leverage on the well-developed space management model and Out-of-home & Online New
Media Strategy to deliver integrated, creative out-of-home media solutions to advertiser customers, striving to
build a closer connection with the general public.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2022 Annual Report 3
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3 8 # e Airports with exclusive concession rights
BERTHHE

Cities where we
have operations

BRIFRT SN
U $5 A2 PR
Metro lines with exclusive
concession rights

197

+ EZE2023F3H30H As at 30 March 2023
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FE — WREBLEHZRE - FHE RELKE 2EEH/E  EEIKE

SPACE MANAGEMENT

We view ourselves as the managers of the space, which distinguishes us from the traditional

“Buy Wholesale, Sell Retail” approach in advertisement space distribution.

Our commitment to and implementation of the space management approach enables us to create value for our
advertising customers, media resources owners and passengers.

Advertising customer - enhance the overall impact and increase effectiveness of the advertisement
Media resource owner - improve the overall environment and ambience and optimize the commercial value
Passenger - extend beyond the visual to stimulate senses of smell, touch, hearing and taste,

making up an exuberant journey

MBEMEZERBMRAT - Silicon Hill
Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited - Silicon Hill
NLEEE £ The Kowloon Motor Bus
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Otsuka Pharmaceutical (H.K.) Ltd. - Pocari Sweat
RWIEE LU Tsim Sha Tsui Bus Shelter
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West Kowloon Cultural District Authority - WestK POPFEST
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One Cool Pictures Limited
EBF MK Hong Kong Outdoor Billboard
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EVENTS OF THE YEAR

NS R — R R BRI PINF BN Hivestack F &
R REEERTELGREEESEFCRXHMNES -
Launch Singapore Thomson-East Coast Line’s DOOH media
inventories on Hivestack. This marks the beginning of the
Group to realize comprehensive programmatic DOOH
trading along the TEL.

'f'l. .' |
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2022 -
1A
JANUARY

-t
i

&

BTSRRI CE] BLBTEENR : Bat e TREE
REEPIIESREENRENR  BRETEARNE -
Practice “benevolence” with actions and stick to Hong
Kong’s epidemic prevention with heart, connect different
organisations in the society, use Hong Kong outdoor
billboards to promote epidemic prevention information, and
unite Hong Kong's anti-epidemic power.

BAEEEEEBERLT 2022 FIR 12

HAHEEPHDET A - ABEENREFCBIBFINESIRE
BIRL1708RKEN -

Asiaray Joins Hands with PHD to Deliver Approximately
1.7 Million Impressions for Hong Kong's Programmatic
DOOH Campaign.

48
APRIL

TEAL #EH S B E TRADIUS DISPLAYS £
F7NE A ROBFRAE - I ERR T R TTH [
REEIER @ BFE3B34EARGE=18EEK
BEo

RADIUS DISPLAYS, a subsidiary of Asiaray
Media Group, successfully completed the
project “Sydney Waiting Hall” exceeding 100
million yuan in less than six months, including
334 bus shelters and 18 kiosks.



# Asiaray

BIRESRMNEAL 245 - I B R ESF TN A5
ZEERERERNBRAIZEEHE

Regain the exclusive concession rights on advertising
and media resources in the Hangzhou Metro Line 2 and
4, additionally obtain the exclusive concession rights on
Line 9's.

2023

2R
FEBRUARY

10AH
OCTOBER

BRENREBERARARNBEHRNS A
EREZBEENERERNBRAIZLLHE -
Renew the exclusive concession rights on
advertising and media resources in the Hong
Kong MTR Corporation Limited’s shopping
malls and commercial premises.

M MR RIE S5 T AN EEPIMI TR
FERRANFTEI -

Asiaray pioneers advertising industry to build
Asia’s first outdoor city digital gallery with NFT
technology.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

REMXEFREE WINNING TWO PROMINENT AWARDS

1Al BIPR & 88

IAl International Advertising Awards
BEN1IREIE - Ao MR RIE . R BHE
Won 11 Awards Including Gold Award, Silver Award,
Bronze Award, Merit Award

2022 L5 EI PR &8
Shanghai International Advertising Awards 2022
i 22

Bronze Award

RHAEREEERAT

KE XK %8 GROUP CHAIRMAN’S RECOGNITIONS

BRESHESEEN

Member Unit of International Advertising
Association

BEMERLHEEEELZE S

Constitution and Basic Law Promotion Steering
Committee

EARRBNTHREREZES®ERE

Member of the Election Committee of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region

EERMEE ISR

Chairman of HKMMCC
tETEEHEEAEME - LETESHE
Individual Contribution Award of Shanghai
Advertising Association — Shanghai Advertising
Association

MR E E IR B E R

Member of the Cultural Tourism Experts Association
IAIBIER B & SRE R &

Expert Judge of IAl International Advertising Awards
LBERESRERNE

Expert Judge of Shanghai International Advertising
Awards
CAMARBIESZEIHAR - FEREAEAY
CAMA China Advertising Marketing Award — Media
Leader of the Year

2022 F 1R 14

ERBERAIEE - FEZENTOPAY - REAY
Beijing International Creative Award - Top
Influencers of the Year — Top Leaders

TBIE L MBI FEAYE - FEEHERAY

Top Brand Innovation Person of the Year Award -
Outstanding Contributor of the Year
TREFIMEEASEADLER

China Outdoor Media Entrepreneur of the Year
TopDigital BIFT & $H 52 - F/E A1

TopDigital Innovative Marketing Award — Person of
the Year

TET RN EEZREHS
RERMNEREREIELES

Honorary President of the Child Welfare and
Protection Services Branch of China Social Welfare
and Elderly Welfare Association

B [RECEO]

“Best CEO” of the Golden Hong Kong Stocks
Awards

TEESHEFPIEZESRITE

Associate Director of the China Advertising
Association Outdoor Committee
tEEEHEEFHEA

Outstanding individual of the Shanghai Advertising
Association

202248 Hi% T BEFEF % TR

2022 Outstanding Volunteers Award Presentation —
Outstanding Volunteer (Silver Award)



% E 315 GROUP AWARDS

BRRIE 2 AR (R NOBAE)
-REEPEZESNRFRES

Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence
Bronze Award (Media & Communications)

— Environmental Campaign Committee and
Environmental Protection Department
FEFINEE AT - CAMA

Outdoor Advertising Agency of the Year - CAMA
FEPINEERR - BETEER

Outdoor Advertising Agency of the Year — Golden
Vision Awards

FNEEBERE - THESHE

Outdoor Advertising Quality Media — China
Advertising Association

EEMBESHERTEMN - LEESEHE

Shanghai Advertising Association Commendation
Unit - Shanghai Advertising Association

LRz RErriE - ABEAERLRBREERE
Privacy-Friendly Awards — Office of the Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data

PR E R ER %%{%%Eﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ% - MG =
SHEPIEEE - P IMEEARE

Top 100 Media Providers in China, Head Media for
Airport Scenes, Head Media for Subway Scenes -
China Outdoor Communication Conference
FEMmEE T - L

China Brand Festival - Gold Spectrum Award
FEEEREIEEN

China Trademark Association — Member Unit

EEHE GROUP QUALIFICATIONS

CNAA | (FBl— @ EEMBE)
BERBA(LEREE) - PRESHE

CNAA | (Advertising Agency — Level 1) Media Service
(Shanghai Asiaray) — China Advertising Association
CNAA | (FREl— R EERE)
BERGE(ZRRLE) - PRESHS

CNAA | (Advertising Agency — Level 1) Media
Service (Yunnan Asiaray) — China Advertising
Association

GB/T9001 — 2015/I1SO9001: 2015
REZE(LSHLE)

TEESHEEEEN

China Advertising Association Council Members
TEESHEPIEESRITEEML

Deputy Director Unit of Outdoor Committee of the
China Advertising Association

tETESHeRIeREMN

Vice President Unit of Shanghai Advertising
Association

@ EERREERGHE
RERMEREREITSLEGREN

Honorary President Unit of the Child Welfare and
Protection Services Branch of China Social Welfare
and Elderly Welfare Association
ERREHE - REEHEEGLIRRFES

Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification —
Environmental Campaign Committee and
Environmental Protection Department
FREBTEENEREWEREM

Secretary General Unit of China Urban Influence Lab
TRECEFENERERITEEM

Deputy Director Unit of China Enterprise Influence Lab

EfH3&1|m CAMPAIGN AWARDS

§)§2§2 (B | BARER3D 2 TR B XA -
k7

“Zhou Guang Cup” China King of Naked Eye 3D Innovation
Contest 2022 (List of Innovative Media) — Gold Award
CAMA 20227 Bl B &H1T8H K 4% — f58

China Advertising Marketing Awards (CAMA) 2022 -
Bronze Award

FLESEZSTHENFE - 215S 48 - 21HIRE -
3IEALE - 1IEERE

The 7th Golden Context Marketing Model Case
Selection — 2 Gold Awards, 2 Silver Awards, 3 Bronze
Awards and 1 Merit Award

2022% + [ETopDigital BIFTTHI5 =174 -

1T M - 1A 1THIRE

The 10th TopDigital Innovative Marketing Awards
(Context Marketing) — 1 Gold Award, 1 Silver Award
and 1 Bronze Award

2022 1 EBIFR B = A - 4R

ROI Festival 2022 — Bronze Award
FI10EIEERIFE - 178e 8 - 1IBRE - 1TAEFE
The 10th MAWARDS - 1 Gold Award,

1 Silver Award and 1 Merit Award

20228 EMERE P INEREE NS - 218

“Zhou Guang Cup” Southern China Out-of-home
Media Election — 2 awards

20223 KBS 4% - 21HIR4Z - 3TRIREE - JIHEF R
Modern Advertising Awards 2022 — 2 Silver Awards,
3 Bronze Awards and 3 Merit Awards

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2022 Annual Report 15
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

SHIA

COMBINED REVENUE

BEAR%
RMB million

2,338.7
2022

2,622.7
2021

m EEEHUWA Group's consolidated revenue  ® EfE AT A Associate companies’ revenue

Ket#lB RIR  -HERMHOERTF
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAX,

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

BEARY
RMB million

1,154.5

2022
2021
REESTBAAESEIMA
REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY OPERATING SEGMENT
BBAR®
RMB million
502.6 1,653.2
2022
568.5 1,895.0
2021

m #3I5 Airports = B REEE Metro Lines & Billboards B+ REMEHR Bus and other business

BAGEEEEERAT 2022 F) 16
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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| wish to hereby present the annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Asiaray” or the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year").

During the Year, the spectre of a global economic downturn
impacted on consumer sentiment, catalysed by the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic, Russia-Ukraine conflict, high inflation
and interest rates hikes by major central banks, among other
disruptive factors. In both Mainland China and Hong Kong,
COVID-19 remained the main culprit in disrupting economic
activity, which invariably affected the Group's performance.
Nevertheless, we were able to remain resilient, adapting
to the challenging business environment by implementing
measures aimed at bolstering our operations. We are
therefore confident that the Group will be able to continue
navigating through the difficult conditions and emerge even
stronger.

In riding out the storm of the past year, we employed a
media network optimisation strategy to enhance both
efficiency and the effectiveness of our media deployments.
Moreover, we strengthened collaboration with media
resource owners and advertisers to create mutually
favourable opportunities. At the same time, we terminated
resources with very narrow margins, as well as media
resources that received less traffic or reduced synergies.
When possible, we have also either reallocated resources or
reacquired those with growth potential, so as to capitalise
on prime locations or to benefit from more competitive
pricing. Separately, we have sought to grasp emerging
business opportunities brought by national development
strategies, such as the development of the Hainan Free
Trade Port into an international tourism hub by focusing on
offshore duty-free sales to attract more tourists as well as
to boost local consumption. To exploit this initiative, the
Group has established a presence at the Haikou Meilan
International Airport and Qionghai Bo’ao Airport, in Hainan
Province. Similarly, leveraging the national “Belt and Road”
initiative aimed at promoting local economic development
and improving cross-regional cultural and economic
exchanges, the Group exclusively operates, manages,
maintains and sells advertising and media resources along
the Laos-China Railway network, from the Yuxi to Mohan
section, which began contributing revenue to the Group
during the Year.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2022 Annual Report 17
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On the media solutions front, our focus has remained on
driving innovation and technologies that reinforce our
market leading position. Correspondingly, we have closely
monitored market trends, and have responded to those
that bring real benefits to our advertiser customers, brands,
media resource owners and audiences. In delivering the
latest solutions, we have employed digital intelligence and
big data analytics while leveraging our Outdoor and Online
("O&0O") New Media Strategy and Digital Out-of-Home
("DOOH") media, and the hybrid DOOH Plus ("DOOH+")
when appropriate, all of which we have continued to invest
in and refine. Leveraging multimedia expression to create
a seamless offline-to-online immersive experience in a
data-driven manner, the revenue of DOOH+ advertising
solutions celebrated fruitful revenue of RMB1,653.2 million,
contributing 18.3% of the total revenue. Meanwhile, in
our effort to offer truly impactful campaigns that cater
for market needs and also foster industry development
we have been entrusted with several landmark projects,
including “Together, We Fight the Virus!” which allowed
us to be one of the first batch media company in Hong
Kong to respond to the call for anti-pandemic publicity.
The campaign involved the launch of advertisements on
hundreds out-of-home (“OOH") media platforms, including
digital screens, subway stations, bus shelters and buses,
enabling us to have a direct role in fighting the pandemic by
raising public awareness of the importance of preventative
measures. On a more local level, we also collaborated
with a number of organisations in Kowloon City to launch
activities on its self-developed "Where We Wow" platform.
People were able to learn more about the history of this
district through interactive games found on the platform,
and even earn rewards in the form of discounts provided
by participating advertising customer and restaurants via
the games. Thanks to our tireless efforts. Harvard Business
Publishing has recognised Asiaray’s expertise in innovative
space management, utilization of OOH advertising as a
highly effective medium for brand communication, and our
significant contributions to the value chain within the media
industry as valuable case studies for their students.
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The Group has also partnered with leading programmatic
DOOH ("pDOOH") platforms to expand its reach to a wider
audience as well as maximise the effectiveness of media
campaigns by tracking their performance in real time. A
case in point is a pDOOH campaign that we developed
for a technology company working in partnership with
Omnicom Media Group. In leveraging DOOH screens in
just a few locations located in prime Hong Kong locations,
the campaign was able to deliver approximately 1.7 million
highly targeted impressions within a 3 weeks campaign.
On an even grander scale, our partnership with Hivestack
in Mainland China has enabled both local and global
advertisers to programmatically activate DOOH campaigns
across the Group's premium transport media inventory
in major airports and key metro stations in the country.
Outside China, our ties with Hivestack and The Trade Desk
(NASDAQ: TTD) has allowed customers to utilise pDOOH
technology to exploit all of the screens found on the
Singapore Thomson-East Coast Line (TEL). We have also
launched the first pDOOH campaign targeting specific
audience profile for Gojek (a multi-service platform), also
along TEL, and also in partnership with Hivestack.

Going forward, while the pandemic’s impact is expected to
ease, it is still premature to conclude that the advertising
industry, or indeed many other industries are out of the
woods. With geopolitical tensions and economic challenges
being among the concerns that have yet to be resolved,
the business climate will continue to be clouded with
uncertainty. Nevertheless, the Group is highly resilient
owing to its many competitive strengths. With a full portfolio
of industry-leading innovation-driven solutions, an extremely
efficient and optimised media network, and financial health,
we are ready and able to seize on market opportunities as
they emerge. We will also continue to work vigorously with
our advertiser customers, brands, and media owners to
break new ground and achieve mutually favourable goals.

At this time, | would like to extend my appreciation to all of
Asiaray’s long-standing allies, customers and friends for their
unequivocal support and trust. | wish to also thank the entire
Asiaray family for their dedication and diligence over the
past year. Working together, and leveraging the full might of
the Group, | am confident that Asiaray will continue to lead
the way in out-of-home media excellence.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, the global economic environment continued
to be clouded by the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19" or
“pandemic”), plus uncertainties such as rising geopolitical
tensions, interest rate hikes and inflation. To cope with
the complicated domestic and international situations, the
Group adhered to its media network optimisation strategy,
strived to maintain market leadership and pursue diversified
development, with the hope of achieving synergies for its
business. Moreover, the Group worked hard on promoting
development of new technologies as changes in the market
commanded.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”),
continuing its commitment to driving business growth and
improving operational performance, the Group recorded
revenue of RMB1,653.2 million (2021: RMB1,895.0 million),
and the combined revenue' was RMB2,338.7 million (2021:
RMB2,622.7 million). Gross profit amounted to RMB269.2
million (2021: RMB358.1 million), with gross profit margin
at 16.3%. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA) totalled at RMB1,154.5 million (2021:
RMB1,053.4 million). The Group managed to narrow the
loss by 25.9% to RMB89.7 million for the Year (2021: loss of
RMB121.1 million), thanks to its resilient operation and swift
response to challenges posed by the shrinking market.

During the Year, the Group continued to invest in digital-
driven solutions, including its Outdoor and Online ("O&0O")
New Media Strategy and Digital Out-of-Home ("DOOH")
media, and the combined DOOH Plus ("DOOH+"). The
Group believed the approach can create greater value for
advertisers, media resources owners and target audiences.
At the same time, it continued to optimise its media
network, via including relinquishing advertising supply
with very narrow margins, while strategically seeking to
regain resources with growth potential by adopting more
appropriate cooperation models. For example, recognizing
the opportunities of the key transportation hub, the Group
regained the exclusive concession rights to use and operate
the advertising resources of Hangzhou Metro Line 2 and Line
4, together with the Line 9, which was newly incorporated
into the Group’s network, at a much more competitive price
in 2023.

! Combined revenue includes the consolidated revenue of the Group
and the total revenue of the Group's associated companies engaged in

the media business as an operating information.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group was in a healthy
financial position with cash and cash equivalents and bank
deposits amounting to RMB365.1 million (2021: RMB342.5
million). For the 9th consecutive year, the Group achieved
net cash position, giving it a solid foundation for sustainable
development.

Performance of Business Segments

Airports

Despite the travel restrictions imposed in Mainland China
and Hong Kong during much of the Year, which inevitably
affected performance of the segment, the Group continued
to serve the need of advertisers and brands in many
industries to expand influence and enhance brand image
with tailored advertising solutions. However, such efforts
were not enough to offset the impact from the lower air
passenger throughput, thus revenue of the segment saw a
12.2% drop to RMB554.2 million (2021: RMB630.9 million),
while gross profit of RMB170.4 million and gross profit
margin at 30.7% were recorded (2021: RMB201.8 million and
32.0%).

In addition to actively enriching its customer base, the
Group did its best to grasp emerging business opportunities
amidst challenges. With presence at the Haikou Meilan
International Airport and Qionghai Bo’ao Airport, which
have been benefiting from the country’s Hainan Free
Trade Zone development strategy, the Group seized the
opportunities bred by surging consumption in the region
during the Year. Moreover, it optimised its airport media
resources network to enhance internal control and improve
operational efficiency. With COVID-19-related travel
restrictions and testing requirements now being lifted, the
Group's strategically-deployed media network are well-
positioned to capitalise on market recovery.
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Metro lines and billboards

Although the Hong Kong Government launched different
measures during the Year to stimulate commercial activities,
the metro lines and billboards segment was inevitably
dragged down by the widespread impact of strict COVID-19
containment measures. Hindered by weakened travel
desire and consumption sentiment, revenue of the segment
decreased by 14.3% to RMB596.4 million (2021: RMB695.7
million), with gross profit of RMB32.2 million and gross profit
margin at 5.4% (2021: RMB118.7 million and 17.1%).

During the Year, the Group continued to reinforce
established partnership with top-tier advertisers and brands
by providing them with consistently high-quality services
and innovation-driven solutions. In Hong Kong, with the East
Rail Line Cross-Harbour Extension, which includes stations
in the central business district and areas for leisure and
entertainment activities on Hong Kong Island, commencing
service, and in Singapore, the 11 new stations along the
popular Singapore Thomson-East Coast Line ("TEL") opened
connecting the vibrant city, the Group was able to extend
exceptional Out-of-Home ("“OOH") advertising experience
to passengers. Moreover, the Beijing Metro Line 17, which
advertising and media resources are exclusively operated,
managed, maintained and sold by the Group started
contributing revenue. With its digitalised network covering
the metro line full length, the Group continued to see its
O&O new media strategy reaching wider and farther yet in
Greater China. Regarding billboards operation, the Group
doubled its effort to integrate the DOOH+ solution into
digital billboards in prime locations across Hong Kong, so as
to create value for advertisers and immersive experience for
the target audiences.

Bus and others

The performance of bus media business was adversely
affected by the lack lustre macro-environment, while others
business, mainly operated by associated companies, had
fewer project completed in the second half of the Year. As a
result, the segment recorded revenue of RMB502.6 million
(2021: RMB568.4 million), representing a 11.6% decrease
year-on-year. Gross profit and gross profit margin of the
segment are RMB66.6 million and 13.3%, respectively
(2021: RMB37.6 million and 6.6%). With the market starting
to return to normal, the Group has continued to identify
potential projects, so as to ensure sustainable development
of the segment.
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O&O New Media Strategy Development

The Group firmly believes that only through constant pursuit
of new technologies to match changes in the market can
deliver greater value to advertisers, brands, media resources
owners and advertising audiences. A pioneering approach
to O&O New Media Strategy and DOOH media enabled by
digital technology, data analytics, and innovation, Asiaray’s
DOOH+ solution promises to generate more engagement
and thus support more effective advertising campaigns.
During the Year, with the approach, the Group continued
to offer campaigns empowered by digital intelligence and
big data analytics to cater to market demand and also foster
development of the industry.

In 2022, Asiaray continued to support recovery of the local
economy by launching a wide spectrum of campaigns
that combined innovative solutions and seamless offline-
to-online experience. For example, it collaborated with a
number of organisations in Hong Kong to launch a series of
activities on its “Where We Wow" platform, aiming to attract
visitors and drive consumption. In addition, by providing
an interactive advertisement for travellers in TEL stations in
Singapore, it chipped in to help the economy rebound while
also seizing the opportunities from the rebound.

On the supply side, the Group, as a leading provider of
OOH media services in Asia, spared no effort during the
Year to activate for customers its outdoor advertising
facilities programmatically via various platforms. On top of
the solid partnership it has with several leading technology
companies, including Hivestack, The Trade Desk, and
Google, the Group secured several major customers during
the Year, including Ominicom Media Group and Gojek.
Affording greater flexibility, the pDOOH partnership has
not only enabled the Group to broaden its customer base,
but also showcase more relevant, data-driven, effective
advertising solutions to audiences around the world and
power the industry.
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Prospect

Looking ahead at 2023, while pandemic-related impacts
are receding, the operating conditions for the advertising
industry may continue to be challenging due to looming
geopolitical and economic uncertainties. Nevertheless,
the Group remains cautiously optimistic about its business
performance in the coming year as it believes, with an
optimised media network, it will be able to promptly adopt
various business models and accommodate customer
demands particularly from emerging industries, and come
up with industry-leading innovation-driven solutions for
them.

The Group recognises the potential of the Mainland China
and Hong Kong markets following the lifting of COVID-19
restrictions and border reopening. That plus the “China-
chic” (guochao) trend gaining popularity in recent years, and
the return of international exhibitions and business events,
are going to create a strong demand for comprehensive
nationwide advertising solutions. With understanding of the
Greater China region, shrewd insights of market trend and
extensive advertising resources in major cities, the Group
is well-positioned to seize the new opportunities when they
arrive.

Apart from deepening the tightly-knitted relationship with
advertisers, brands and media resources owners, as well as
diversifying its customer base, the Group also places great
importance on optimising internal control. It will continue
to implement strategy that focuses on identifying and
targeting key demographics and leveraging data analytics
to better reach target audiences and allocate resources with
precision. In addition, the Group carries out timely review of
its media network with an eye on capturing more lucrative
opportunities, as well as acquiring advertising resources
with development potential through more competitive
partnership. By remaining agile and responsive to evolving
market conditions, Asiaray aims to maintain its prominent
market position and ensure stable operation in the volatile
market.
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Although the economy has yet to gather strong recovery
momentum, the Group remains confident of its financial
resilience, overall competitiveness and capability to cope
with changes in customer needs and their business models.
By remaining nimble in adapting to diverse business models,
embracing innovation and digitalisation, plus focusing
on providing exceptional experiences to audiences and
innovative advertising solutions to advertisers, brands and
media resources owners, the Group believes it and its
partners will be able to seize market opportunities together
to achieve all-win, as well as create greater value for
shareholders in the long run.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the Year decreased from
RMB1,895.0 million to RMB1,653.2 million, representing a
year-on-year decreased by 12.8%. The decrease in revenue
was attributed to the termination of airports and metro lines
projects.

The airports segment revenue decreased by 12.2% from
RMB630.9 million in 2021 to RMB554.2 million in 2022. The
decrease is due to the termination projects such as Chengdu
airport, Xiamen airport and Xinjiang airport.

The metro and billboards segment revenue decreased by
14.3% from RMB695.7 million in 2021 to RMB596.4 million
in 2022. The decrease is due to the termination of projects
such as Shenzhen metro lines, Kunming metro line and
Hangzhou metro line.

The bus and others segment revenue decreased by 11.6%
from RMB568.4 million in 2021 to RMB502.6 million in 2022.
The decrease is due to the revenue decreased in agency
business in respect of sales of advertising spaces in media
resources operated by associated companies.
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Cost of Revenue

The cost of revenue decreased by RMB152.8 million, or
9.9%, from RMB1,536.9 million in 2021 to RMB1,384.1
million in 2022. It decreased along with the revenue
decrement.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit in 2022 decreased by RMB88.9 million, or
24.8%, from RMB358.1 million in 2021 to RMB269.2 million
and the gross profit margin decreased from 18.9% in 2021 to
16.3% in 2022.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

The selling and marketing expenses slightly decreased by
RMB1.4 million, or 0.9%, from RMB147.9 million in 2021 to
RMB149.3 million in 2022.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses decreased by RMB9.3 million,
or 5.0%, from RMB185.1 million in 2021 to RMB175.8 million
in 2022. The decrease in administrative expenses was
mainly attributed to the decrease in sales-related incentives
caused by COVID-19 Pandemic and rental payment. Since
the landlord of Beijing office (i.e. Billion China International
Limited) was acquired by the Group on 14 May 2021, the
related rental payment for the Year were fully eliminated as
inter-group transaction.

Finance Costs, net

Net finance cost decreased by RMB38.2 million, or 15.6%,
from RMB244.4 million in 2021 to RMB206.2 million in 2022.
The decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease in
interest expense recognized in accordance with HKFRS16.
Since no new lease was entered during the period which fall
within HKFRS16, the interest expenses on lease liabilities
was expected to decrease year-by-year.

Share of net profit/(loss) of investments accounted for
using the equity method

The share of results of investments in associates increased
by 1,736.4% from share of net loss of RMB1.1 million in 2021
to share of net profit of RMB18.0 million in 2022 due to some
subsidiaries restructured to associated companies.
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Income Tax (Expense)/Credit

Income tax (expense)/credit increased by 131.0% from
income tax credit of RMB19.7 million in 2021 to income tax
expense of RMB6.1 million in 2022.

Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and
Amortisation (“"EBITDA")

The EBITDA of the Group increased by RMB98.9 million,
or 9.4%, from RMB1,053.4 million in 2021 to RMB1,154.5
million in 2022.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company decreased by
RMB31.0 million, or 21.6%, from RMB143.7 million in 2021
to RMB112.7 million in 2022. The loss was the net effect
of the performance of the Group as fully explained in the
above.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY
POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash
management and investment on funds. As the Group
carries out business in the Mainland China and Hong Kong,
most of our receipts and payments were denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. As the conversion of
Renminbi into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the PRC government, the Directors consider that there is
no significant exposure on the foreign exchange risk. The
Group will closely monitor foreign exchange exposure and
consider hedging significant exposure should the need
arises.

Dividend Policy

The Company endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The
Company adopts a dividend policy, which is based on
the profit attributable to owners of the Company, and the
distribution amount is up to 100% of the profit attributable
to owners of the Company.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group's cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
was RMB365.1 million as at 31 December 2022, representing
an increase of RMB22.6 million compared with that as at
31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2022, the financial
ratios of the Group were as follows:
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0.77 0.75
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Net cash Net cash

Notes:

(1) Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current

liabilities.
(2) Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity.

Borrowings

The Group had bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 in
the sum of RMB323.8 million. Out of the total borrowings,
RMB146.4 million was repayable within one year, while
RMB177.4 million was repayable after one year. The carrying
amounts of bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi.

No financial instruments were used for hedging purposes,
nor were there any foreign currency net investments hedged
by current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.
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Exposure to Interest Rate Risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing
short-term bank deposits and bank borrowings. Short-
term bank deposits and bank borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank
borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

The Group's interest rate risks arise primarily from variable
rates bank borrowings. The management manages interest
rate risks and controls such risks within a reasonable level by
closely tracking changes in the macroeconomic environment
and monitoring changes in current and projected interest
rates on a regular basis, taking into account conditions in the
domestic and international markets.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not pledge its
buildings and land use rights (31 December 2021: carrying
amount of RMB18.5 million was pledged) to secure
borrowings of the Group. The Group has no secured
borrowings as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021:
RMBO0.8 million).

Fund Raising Activities/Use of Proceeds

Subscription of perpetual subordinated convertible
securities under specific mandate

On 16 July 2021, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement, and pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue perpetual subordinated
convertible securities (the “2021 PSCS”) in the principal
amount of HKD75.0 million convertible into conversion
shares at the initial conversion price of HKD2.43 per
conversion share under specific mandate. The intended
use of proceeds were disclosed in the circular issued by
the Company dated 27 September 2021. The 2021 PSCS
in the principal amount of HKD75.0 million was issued on
1 November 2021. The net proceeds of approximately
HKD74.7 million had been fully utilised during the Year.
As at 31 December 2022, the 2021 PSCS in the principal
amount of HKD75.0 million has not been converted into
conversion shares. For details, please refer to the circular
issued by the Company dated 27 September 2021.
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Further, on 13 December 2021, the Company entered
into a subscription agreement, and pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue the perpetual
subordinated convertible securities (the “2022 PSCS”) in
the principal amount of HKD37.5 million convertible into
conversion shares at the initial conversion price of HKD1.4
per conversion share under specific mandate. The intended
use of proceeds were disclosed in the circular issued by
the Company dated 18 February 2022. The 2022 PSCS in
the principal amount of HKD37.5 million was issued on
27 September 2022. The net proceeds of approximately
HKD37.5 million had been fully utilised during the Year.
As at 31 December 2022, the 2022 PSCS in the principal
amount of HKD37.5 million has not been converted into
conversion shares. For details, please refer to the circular
issued by the Company dated 18 February 2022.

The use of proceeds was as follows:

As at 31 December 2022

FERERE
BREBEEARE
VRAER
Whether the
proceeds are used
according to

ERERESR

the intention

Net proceeds Intended use of the net Actual used Unutilized previously
raised proceeds amount amount disclosed
(#4) (84) (#4)
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
FTHET THET FTHET
HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000
74,700 —REEES 74,700 i =
(BIT2021FAARZ (XNFHFEEE) Nil Yes
A% ) General working capital
74,700  (Payment of concession fee)
(Issue of 2021 PSCS)
37,500 —REEES 37,500 4 =
(B#172022F kAR (BERINEFEER) Nil Yes
AJ#fEES) General working capital
37,500  (Operation and payment of

(Issue of 2022 PSCS)

RHAEREEERAT

concession fee)
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Capital Expenditures

The Group's capital expenditures primarily comprise cash
expenditures for property, plant and equipment, such as
advertising facilities and furniture and office equipment.
Our capital expenditures for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 were RMB51.5 million and RMB56.0 million,
respectively.

Contingent liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities outstanding
as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Important events after the reporting period

(1) On 9 February 2023, E BT HESBEREAERA
7] (Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Media Company
Limited*) and MMM HELLERAR QA
(Hangzhou Metro Commercial Operation and
Management Co., Ltd.*) entered into an advertising
resources operation contract in respect of the exclusive
concession rights to use and operate the advertising
resources in Hangzhou metro line 2, line 4 and line 9
for a period of 5 years commencing on 1 January 2023.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 9 February 2023 and circular of the
Company dated 14 April 2023.

(2) On 17 April 2023, the Company issued a total of
9,235,063 consideration shares under general mandate
to Mr. Lo Chi Kwong, Mr. Colin Neil Stewart and Mr.
Leung Siu Pun based on the issue price of HK$1.248.
For details, please refer to the further announcement of
the Company dated 17 April 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other important event
affecting the Group which have occurred since 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages,
including trainings, medical, insurance coverage and
retirement benefits, to all employees in Hong Kong and in
Mainland China. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has
932 employees (2021: 1,135 employees). The total salaries
and related costs for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 amounted to RMB230.0 million and RMB232.7
million, respectively.

* For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent, aged 63

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (“Mr. Lam"”) was appointed as a
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as an executive
Director and Chairman on 12 June 2014. Mr. Lam is the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Lam is
the founder of the Group and is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and development of the Group. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Lam graduated from the University of Sydney with a
Bachelor of Science Honours degree in March 1984 and
subsequently obtained a Master’s degree in Commerce from
the University of New South Wales (“UNSW") in Australia in
April 1987. Mr. Lam is also a member and a director of the
UNSW Hong Kong Foundation Board. He is a fellow of the
CPA Australia.

Mr. Lam is a director of the Christian Action, a charitable
organisation in Hong Kong. He was appointed as the
Chairman of Hong Kong Macau and Myanmar Chamber
of Commerce and Industry with effect from 9 December
2019 and was re-appointed as a Non-official Member of
Constitution and Basic Law Promotion Steering Committee
for a term of two years commencing on 1 January 2022.
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Kwan Tat Cheong, aged 64

Executive Director

Mr. Kwan Tat Cheong (“Mr. Kwan") was appointed as an
executive Director on 10 March 2022. Mr. Kwan joined the
Group as the Chief Development Officer of the Group on 1
January 2022 (ceased to be the Chief Development Officer
of the Group immediately upon the appointment of an
executive Director becoming effective), and is responsible
for the overall operation and management of the Group. He
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Kwan holds a Master of Business Administration awarded
by the School of Business and Technology of Webster
University, United States of America. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Kwan worked in the Bank of East Asia, Limited
from May 1978 to October 2019. While working for the Bank
of East Asia, Limited, he had been appointed as the general
manager of Shenzhen, Shanghai and Guangzhou branches,
executive director, chief executive and senior advisor of the
Bank of East Asia (China) Limited respectively. Mr. Kwan
had been appointed as a member of the Twelfth Shanghai
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FBIARBGH R LEME T _EZE )
during the period from January 2013 to December 2017.
Mr. Kwan was an executive director of Bonjour Holdings
Limited whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 653)
during the period from August 2020 to December 2021.

Mr. Kwan is currently (i) a director of the Sixth Shanghai
Soong Ching Ling Foundation Committee (/G RERESD
SENEEED); (i) a director of the Spring Up Foundation
Limited, which is a non-governmental organisation providing
social services in Hong Kong; (iii) an independent director
of Power Glory Battery Tech (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (1E&E R
BHECRIYN)BR A B R A R]) whose shares are listed on Beijing
Stock Exchange and delisted on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations (NEEQ, known as the New Third
Board) on 25 November 2022 (stock code: 835237); (iv) a
director of the China Shanghai Chinese Overseas Friendship
Association; (v) as the chair of board of the Fifth Greater
China Financial Professionals Association; and (vi) a vice-
president of Metaverse Society, a Hong Kong registered
non-profit making organisation under the supervision of the
Doctors Think Tank Academy.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Ka Po, aged 49

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Ka Po (“Mr. K. P. Lam”) was appointed as a Director
on 20 May 2014 and was designated as an executive
Director and a non-executive Director on 12 June 2014 and
1 October 2022 respectively. Mr. K. P. Lam has ceased to be
the Chief Operation Officer of the Company and a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group since 1 October 2022.

Mr. K. P. Lam has been in the advertising industry for over
27 years with extensive experience in outdoor advertising
media and marketing management. Prior to joining the
Group in December 2007, Mr. K. P. Lam has taken up various
roles in a few advertising agencies under the Association of
Accredited Advertising Agencies of Hong Kong, including
the Associate Business Director of OMD, Media Manager of
Zenith, Media Supervisor and Media Manager of Motivator
as well as Senior Media Planner of Euro RSCG Partnership
Ltd.

Mr. K. P. Lam graduated from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree in Integrated BBA (Marketing concentration).

Wong Chi Kin, aged 49

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Chi Kin (“Mr. Wong"”) was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 24 March 2017, mainly responsible
for strategic mergers and acquisitions as well as capital
market transactions. Mr. Wong has over 26 years of solid
accounting, banking and corporate finance experience with
reputable commercial banks and leading investment banks
(including ING Bank, UBS and Morgan Stanley) as well as
various companies in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom.

Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of CPA
Australia.
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Mr. Wong was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited (“Tsui Wah"), whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1314), in November 2012 and was re-designated as a non-
executive director of Tsui Wah in November 2016. Further,
Mr. Wong has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Forgame Holdings Limited, whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 484),
with effect from May 2020 and has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Modern Chinese
Medicine Group Co., Ltd., whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1643), with effect from April
2023. Also, Mr. Wong was the chief financial officer of Orient
Victory Travel Group Company Limited (“Orient Victory”),
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
265), during the period from October 2014 to October
2018. Prior to joining Orient Victory, Mr. Wong held various
management positions at China Qinfa Group Limited, whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 866),
including (i) deputy chief financial officer (from April 2011 to
September 2011); (ii) chief financial officer (from September
2011 to October 2014); and (iii) company secretary and
authorised representative (from July 2011 to August 2014).

For the period from July 2018 to July 2019, given Mr.
Wong's professional background and his areas of expertise,
he was appointed as (i) the chairman of the independent
board committee and an independent non-executive
director of Shenzhou Space Park Group Limited (“Shenzhou
Space”), whose shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
(former Stock Code: 692) and delisted in December 2019
under Rule 6.01A of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) (for
details, please refer to the announcement of Shenzhou
Space dated 9 December 2019). Mr. Wong played
curial roles in delivering independent advice on listing
resumption proposal and corporate governance issues as
well as providing guidance in the investigation of certain
transactions throughout his appointment in Shenzhou
Space; and (i) a member of the independent investigation
committee of Mayer Holdings Limited, whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1116), and an
independent non-executive director, for the period from
November 2021 to February 2022.
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Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree
in Finance from The City University of Hong Kong in
December 1996, a Certificate in Consecutive Interpretation:
Putonghua/English from The School of Professional and
Continuing Education of The University of Hong Kong in
March 2001, a Master’s degree in Practicing Accounting
from The Monash University, Australia in November 2001,
and a Master of Business Administration degree (Executive
MBA Programme) from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in December 2010 (Dean’s list: 2009/2010).

Wu Xiaopin, aged 49

Non-executive Director

Ms. Wu Xiaopin (“Ms. Wu") was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 18 April 2023.

She has more than 20 years of experience in investment
and capital markets. Ms. Wu joined Ant Group in 2018 and
has held various positions including Managing Partner of
Ant Unicorn Fund, Head of Fund Investments and Head of
Capital Markets. Prior to joining Ant Group, Ms. Wu spent
18 years in investment banking industry and worked at The
China Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC), Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, Bank of China International, Citigroup and
Deutsche Bank with her last position being Head of China
Equity Capital Markets for Deutsche Bank. Ms. Wu obtained
her master’s degree in economics and finance from the
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China (Wudaokou)
(PEARBITHREIL(RBEA)) in 2001.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, aged 81

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung ("Mr. A. Ma") was appointed
as a Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 June 2014. He is
also the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. A. Ma is a founder and former director of AMA
CPA Limited (formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA)
Limited) in Hong Kong. He is presently a director of Mayee
Management Limited. He has more than 40 years of
experience in the fields of accounting, auditing and finance.

Mr. A Ma is currently also an independent non-executive
director of C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (stock code:
3309) and S.A.l. Leisure Group Company Limited (stock
code: 1832). He was an independent non-executive director
of Asia Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 662), C.P.
Pokphand Co. Ltd. (stock code: 43), Chong Hing Bank Ltd.
(stock code: 1111) and China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 836) from September 2004
to May 2019, September 2005 to June 2020, August 2007
to May 2021 and December 2006 to September 2021
respectively as well.

Mr. A Ma received his Bachelor’s degree in Economics
from the London School of Economics and Political Science
(University of London) in England in 1966. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2022 Annual Report 37



EEEX  DIRECTORS PROFILE

Ex®EGBsJp: 715

BB ITESE

BB aGRs uP([ B E ) R2014F 5820
HEZTAES H WHR2014F6R12BEF
MABIYIERITES - RAARRAFHFNE
BEXEREBFTZESNREZZESZEN

BAERBRBAMAEMITHBETERMITH

BREBA  R198AFREEERMER

1987 FEUS WAEH M R AT 2RI E #% - 1988
FEUVS BN & B I R A E & K 1990F IS
TN HFNBEANE A o 1570 20004F & A
AEHEZTATREZLAEA © 2006 F IS
IEIREEIE A B - 2018 F EFBEFRITTIR
ERNZEABERGREESZESERE
FBE2020F WEARIRBEELEERER It
G BAET— T RT=ZE2EARR
FRERE - ARBHEHALH AKX ELER
% B AR 2005 F EEH B BI1TBE BT
ZEABBIEE TAF4 LT RR2017F &R
SEFIES o HHN2003FE2AE2021FE8 AR
cEEEERARAR([&EEE]) (RBRK
KRR NT2)EEBLIERITES - 520214
8H2H EFIORFIERE « £ ETRBIZE6.01AF
T 2EEEN T AE RIS - BB
MM EREBUENFE - H28HeE5EA
B A2021F7A29B M A% -

BAEEEEEBERLT 2022 FIR 38

Ma Ho Fai GBS Jr, aged 71

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP (“Mr. Ma") was appointed as a Director
on 20 May 2014 and designated as an independent non-
executive Director on 12 June 2014. He is also the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of
the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Ma is a senior partner of Woo Kwan Lee & Lo, a local law
firm in Hong Kong, and was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in 1984, England and Wales in 1987, Australian Capital
Territory in 1988 and the Republic of Singapore in 1990. Mr.
Ma has been appointed by the Ministry of Justice as a China
Appointed Attesting Officer since 2000 and a Civil Celebrant
since 2006. He has also been appointed by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as the
Chairman of the Protection of Wages on Insolvency Fund
Board since 2018 and the Chairperson of the Travel Industry
Authority since 2020. In addition, he is a Deputy of the
11th, 12th and 13th National People’s Congress of the PRC.
In recognition of his distinguished public and community
service, Mr. Ma was appointed as a Non-Official Justice of
the Peace in 2005 by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star in 2017. He was an independent non-executive
director of Goldbond Group Holdings Limited (“Goldbond
Group”) (former stock code: 172) from February 2003 to
August 2021. The listing of Goldbond Group’s shares has
been cancelled with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 2 August 2021
under Rule 6.01A of the Listing Rules. For details of the
cancellation, please refer to the announcement of Goldbond
Group dated 29 July 2021.
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Mak Ka Ling, aged 53

Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. Mak Ka Ling (“Ms. Mak”) was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 5 May 2017. She is
also a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Ms. Mak has over 23 years of experience in human resources
and organisation effectiveness consulting. She had worked
at Korn Ferry Hay Group (“Hay Group”), which is the
global people and organisational advisory division of Korn
Ferry International, a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (NYSE: KFY), for 15 years. Ms. Mak was an
associate director and an associate client partner of Hay
Group from December 2014 to May 2016 and May 2016 to
April 2017, respectively. During her tenure at Hay Group,
she advised boards on market best practices on human
capital related issues; and worked with organisations to help
clarify strategy priorities, develop people and organisation
transformation solutions and consulted on human resources
implementation plans to support organisation changes.

Ms. Mak started her career as an executive management
trainee of Jardine, Matheson & Co., Limited (the “Jardine
Matheson”), a subsidiary of Jardine Matheson Holdings
Limited listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange (SGX:
J36), in September 1993. During her employment with
Jardine Matheson until February 2002, Ms. Mak held various
managerial positions, including working as a business unit
head at the subsidiaries of Jardine Matheson as well as a
human resources management leader in the head office of
Jardine Matheson.

Ms. Mak obtained a Bachelor of Science (Joint Honours)
degree in Computer Science and Accounting from the
University of Manchester in July 1992, a Master of Business
Administration degree from the business school of Imperial
College, University of London in November 1993. She is an
associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to uphold a high standard of corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth in its business in
accordance with all applicable rules and regulations. The
Board believes that good corporate governance is important
in balancing the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees and the success of business.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code")
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Throughout
the Year, the Company had complied with all applicable code
provisions as in force during the Year under the CG Code
except for the deviations from code provisions C.2.1 and
C.1.6 of the CG Code. The deviation from code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code is explained in the paragraph headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive” of this annual report.

Under code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent
non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors should
attend general meetings of the Company and develop a
balanced understanding of shareholders’ view. Due to other
business engagement, a non-executive Director and an
independent non-executive Director were unable to attend
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company during the
Year.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is mainly responsible for formulating the Group's
long term strategy and development plan, deciding major
financial and capital project and reviewing internal control
and risks.

The Board delegates certain aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management for implementing
day-to-day operation. It has given clear directions to the
management as to its powers, in particular, with respect to
different circumstances. While allowing management to enjoy
substantial autonomy to run and develop the Company’s
business, the Board also plays a key role in structuring and
monitoring the reporting systems and internal controls.
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Composition
The Board currently comprises eight directors (“Directors”),
the composition is set out as follows:

Executive Directors:
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
Kwan Tat Cheong

Non-executive Directors:

Lam Ka Po (re-designated from an executive Director
on 1 October 2022)

Wong Chi Kin

Yang Peng (resigned on 18 April 2023)

Wu Xiaopin (appointed on 18 April 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Mak Ka Ling

The biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 32
to 39 of this annual report. There is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) among the Directors.

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has had three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, with one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has received annual
confirmation in writing of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Director and consider them to be
independence according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Under the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association ("M&A"), the Board may from time to time
appoint a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board. Any such new Director shall hold
office until the next following general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election at the same meeting.

All non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors except Mr. Yang Peng) are appointed
without a specific term and all Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
are subject to re-election in accordance with the M&A.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established.

Mr. Lam currently assumes the roles of both the Chairman
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer (the “CEQO") of
the Company. The Board considers that this structure could
enhance efficiency in formulation and implementation of
the Company’s strategies. The Board will review the need of
appointing suitable candidate to assume the role of the CEO
when necessary.

Diversity
The Board
The Company adopted a board diversity policy which set out
its approach to achieve diversity on the Board with a view
to achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also
take into account factors based on its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board. The Company has
considered board diversity policy in designing composition
of the Board. As such, Ms. Wu Xiaopin has been appointed
to the Board as an independent non-executvie Director with
effect from 18 April 2023.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity and considered that
they remain effective and appropriate for the Company.
As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
Directors, two of which are female. The Board considers its
diversity of gender is appropriate and targets to maintain at
least the current level of female representation to avoid a
single gender Board.
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The Workforce

In terms of workforce of the Group, as at 31 December
2022, the Group has 932 employees (including the Board
and senior management). Among which, there were 469
male employees and 463 female employees. Based on the
current gender ratio in the Group’s workforce, the Board
is of the view that the Company has basically achieved a
certain degree of balanced diversity. Nevertheless, the
Company aims to further enhance its diversity in workforce
by introducing more staff with different sex and age (subject
to job nature) and expects to perform a further review of its
diversity in workforce by the end of 2023.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board shall be responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties set out below or it may delegate the
responsibilities to a Board committee or Board committees:

J To develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

o To review the internal control system and risk
management system of the Group;

o To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company;

J To review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

. To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual, if any, applicable to
employees and Directors of the Company;

J To review the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code as set out in the Listing Rules and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report; and

J To review the disclosure system of the Company.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness

of the risk management and internal control system of the
Group.
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Name of Directors

Executive Directors
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

Kwan Tat Cheong o7

FHTEE Non-executive Directors
)M(%%EE (H#2) Lam Ka Po (Note2)
BER Wong Chi Kin
i Yang Peng
RpegEm) Wau Xiaopin ete?!
BUFHTES Independent Non-
executive Directors

SR Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
5518 6BS Jp Ma Ho Fai GBS Jp
BRR Mak Ka Ling
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Board

6/6

6/6

5/6

6/6

0/0

6/6

6/6
6/6

Board Meetings

During the Year, the Board held six meetings to review the
Group's overall strategies and policies, to approve interim
and final results, to discuss significant issues and operation
of the Group. The attendance (either in person or through
other electronic means of communication) record of each
Director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and General Meetings during the year ended 31 December
2022 is set out below:

B/ AERLREERY
Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend
Ezg

R2ZE8 ¥MEEE RRAFAE
Annual
General

Meeting

RREBIAE
Extraordinary
General
Meeting

EitZ88

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Comnmittee

Nomination
Committee

TEf n 212 ”n I
N/A
TER TR @R 171 0/0
N/A N/A N/A
MR TR TaA ”n 7
N/A N/A N/A
MR iR TEA ”n 71
N/A N/A N/A
MR iR TEA ”n 0/1
N/A N/A N/A
TER TR @R 0/0 0/0
N/A N/A N/A
313 TR 2/2 ”n I
N/A
33 A 2/2 n 0/1
33 A 2/2 ”n 17
Notes:
1. Mr. Kwan Tat Cheong was appointed as an executive Director on 10
March 2022.
2. Mr. Lam Ka Po was re-designated from an executive Directors to a

non-executive Director on 1 October 2022.

38 Ms. Wu Xiaopin was appointed as a non-executive Director on 18
April 2023.
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EECHESXERRE Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

BREZINFEE (WA ) ERHES A comprehensive, formal and tailored induction training will
H FRARVEHBENAREI - EFH be given to every newly appointed Director, if any. Directors
BRESEARAEBEURESBHEREMR will be provided with materials relevant to the Company's
BER - ko BRTRESTHEEREGR business and director’s duties and responsibilities. In
FENSHER  KRETSERMHTISHEHR addition, in order to allow the Directors to understand the
MEBOEER  EWET gHENER latest development of regulatory and compliance issues, they
ESHESEHER c BERNEZE2022F12 are also provided with market news and regulatory updates
A31BLEHE  REFBEREIINCEM in relation to the corporate governance, the listing issue, the
EHHWT accounting standards and the anti-corruption. A summary of

their records of continuous development training during the
year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

A,
e BE S 'R
BmELEES
BRAZEREH
Attending trainings/

briefings/seminars/
conference/
reading regulatory
updates relevant to

Name of Directors corporate governance

BITES Executive Directors
MR E Lam Tak Hing, Vincent v
BES Kwan Tat Cheong y
FHITES Non-executive Directors
MRE Lam Ka Po \

(R2022F 1015 1¢HTEF#F  (re-designated from an executive

F) Director on 1 October 2022)
BER Wong Chi Kin \
55 Yang Peng i
RBesa Wu Xiaopin i@ A

(R2023F4H18HEZ(F) (appointed on 18 April 2023) N/A
BYFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
elicres Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung v
B RIEGBS JP Ma Ho Fai GBS JP v
BER Mak Ka Ling o
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The Board has established three Committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. The table below provides membership information
of these Committees on which each Director serves.

EEZET
Board Committees
B EEY EEEEY FMESES
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee
MinER Lam Tak Hing, Vincent 3 B C M
N/A
Bk Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung C e A M
N/A
B XE GBS Jp Ma Ho Fai GBS JP M M C
Bk Mak Ka Ling M M M
k=3 Notes:
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RAFEE  BHREBEERT-REZH - N
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C Chairman of the relevant Board Committees

M Member of the relevant Board Committees

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and is chaired by Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung. Other
members are Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP and Ms. Mak Ka Ling. All
members of the Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include (1) to
review the Company’s financial statements and reports,
the changes in accounting policies and practices, and the
compliance with applicable accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and legal requirements; (2) to oversee the Group's
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and (3) to review the services and appointment
of the Company’s external auditor, the nature and scope of
auditing, and the related audit fees. The terms of reference of
Audit Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Year.
During the meetings, the Audit Committee (i) reviewed
the interim and annual financial statements and reports; (ii)
discussed and reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems; (iii) reviewed the corporate governance
issues; (iv) reviewed the continuing connected transactions;
and (v) made recommendation to the Board on the re-
appointment of the external auditor.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and is chaired by Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent, the
chairman of the Board and an executive Director. Other
members are two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP and Ms. Mak Ka Ling.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
(1) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy; (2) to report to the Board
the composition of the Board members and monitor the
implementation of the policy on board diversity; (3) to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
(4) to assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and (5) to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular
the chairman of the Board and the CEO. The terms of
reference of Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
Year. During the meeting, the Nomination Committee (i)
reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board; (i) reviewed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and (iii) made recommendations to the
Board on the proposed re-election of the retiring Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”)
on 6 December 2014 which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board.

Under the Policy, the Company recognises and embraces

the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance.
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In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 6
December 2014 and is chaired by Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP,
an independent non-executive Director. Other members
are two independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung and Ms. Mak Ka Ling and one
executive Director, namely, Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee
include (1) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (2) to review and approve the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; (3) to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; (4) to make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of non-executive Directors; and (5) to
review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes.
The terms of reference of Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the
Year. During the meetings, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of the Directors.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
of the Company in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards. The Directors confirm that
suitable accounting policies have been used and applied
consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgement
and estimates have been made in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. The Board is not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may affect the business of the Company or cast doubts
on its ability to continue as a going concern.

The external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 81 to 90.

Risk Management and Internal Control

Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain, and review the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems, where
management is responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control
systems to manage risk.

A sound and effective system of risk management and
internal control is designed to achieve the Group's strategic
objectives and safeguard shareholder investments and
the Group's assets. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve strategic
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Board has the overall responsibilities of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.
With the support of the Audit Committee, the Board
monitors the Group's risk exposures, oversees the actions
of management and monitors the overall effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. Management is responsible for setting the
appropriate tone from the top, performing risk assessments,
and owning the design, implementation and maintenance of
internal control. Policies and procedures form the basis and
set forth the control standards required for functioning of
the Group's business entities. These policies and procedures
covered various aspects, including operations, finance &
accounting, human resources, regulatory & compliance,
delegation of authority, etc.
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Propose and recommend
mitigating controls for
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and assist the person in
charge or business units
to implement relevant
remedial measures.

Risk Management and Enterprise-wide Risk Assessment

4. RIEHE

Risk Report
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senior management on
the implementation of the
remedial measures.
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Risk Response

An annual enterprise-wide risk assessment has been
performed to evaluate the nature and extent of the risks to
which the Group is willing to take in achieving its strategic
objectives. During the risk assessment process, the Group
has identified a number of key risks that may impact the
Group's strategic objectives in responding to the changes
in the business and external environment. These risks are
prioritised according to the likelihood of their occurrence
and the significance of their impact on the business of
the Group. Moreover, remedial measures and mitigating
controls are developed to manage these risks to an
acceptable level.
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Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Department is led by the Internal Audit
Manager, who reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The Internal Audit Department is primarily responsible for
conducting internal audit reviews on operational, financial
and compliance controls of the operating entities to ensure
their compliance with the Group's risk management and
internal control policies and procedures.

Internal Audit Department is independent from operation
management and has full access to data required in
performing internal audit reviews. Internal audits are
conducted according to the three-year internal audit plan
approved by the Audit Committee to review our major
operational, financial, compliance and risk management
controls. In 2022, Internal Audit Department performed
audits on the key operating entities located in Mainland
China and Hong Kong.

During the process of the internal audits, the Internal
Audit Department identified internal control deficiencies
and weaknesses and proposed recommendations for
improvements. Internal audit findings and control
deficiencies are communicated to internal audit team and
the management, who is responsible for ensuring the
deficiencies are rectified within a reasonable period. A
follow-up review is also performed to ensure the remedial
actions are implemented.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholder investments and the Group's assets and with the
support of the Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness
of such systems on an annual basis.

Key or major business units are required to perform an
annual control self-assessment to assess the effectiveness
of their internal control system within its key business
processes. The control self-assessment performed is in
the form of a questionnaire that sets out the key risks and
corresponding controls for each of key business process. The
Internal Audit Department reviews the completed control
self-assessment questionnaires and provide comments and
recommendations for management of the business units’
consideration.
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During the Year, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and considered the risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate. In
addition, the Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget.

Procedures and Controls Over Handling and Dissemination
of Inside Information

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant
sections of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
Listing Rules. An Inside Information Disclosure Policy
has been established to lay down practical guidelines on
definition and the scope of inside information; disclosure
and management framework; exemptions for disclosure;
receiving, reporting and disclosing of inside information;
confidentiality and records of such information. Pursuant
to the Inside Information Disclosure Policy, staff who have
access to inside information are required to follow the Inside
Information Disclosure Policy to keep the unpublished inside
information strictly confidential until such inside information
has been officially announced to the public in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Board will
review and approve the inside information to be disclosed
and the Company Secretary has the responsibility to monitor
and communicate with professional parties such as our
external lawyer and auditor during the process of inside
information discussion and announcement preparation.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the fee payable to the
external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in
respect of audit services is set out below:

20224
2022

ARBT T
RMB’000

Audit services 3,800

During the year, there were no non-audit service provided by
the external auditor of the company.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and
that all the Directors confirmed their compliance with the
required standards set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ip Pui Sum (“Mr. Ip”), the Company Secretary, is an
external service provider to the Company and a Certified
Public Accountant practicing in Hong Kong. Mr. Ip’s primary
contact person at the Company is Mr. Lam Tak Hing,
Vincent, the executive Director. During the Year, Mr. Ip has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
to update his skills and knowledge. The Company Secretary
reports to the Board on corporate governance matters and
is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures and all
applicable law, rules and regulations are followed. All Board
members have access to the advice and services of Company
Secretary.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company has established a shareholders communication
policy with the objective of promoting a transparent and
effective communication with shareholders and enabling
shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner
through the publication of notices, announcements, circulars,
interim and annual reports on a timely manner via the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
also encourages shareholders to attend general meetings
to communicate any concerns they might have with the
Board or management directly. Details of the shareholders
communication policy are available on the website of the
Company under Corporate Governance section.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and

effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy and
considered it to be effective.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The
Company adopts a dividend policy, which is based on
the profit attributable to owners of the Company, and the
distribution amount is up to 100% of the profit attributable
to owners of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the M&A, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any two or more
members of the Company deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event
that the Company ceases to have such a principal place of
business, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that
such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting,
the requisitionists themselves or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them
by the Company.

Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the M&A or the Cayman Islands
Companies Law for shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a
resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of
the Company, please refer to the procedures posted on the
Company'’s website.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time put forward any enquiries to
the Board, details are as follows:

Address: 16/F, Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower, 1 Kornhill Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Email: ir@asiaray.com

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has not made any changes
to its M&A. However, the Company proposes to make
certain amendments to its existing M&A to, among other
things, (i) conform the existing M&A to the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing
Rules; (ii) reflect certain updates in relation to the Listing
Rules and the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands; and (iii)
make other consequential and housekeeping improvements
in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(the “AGM"). The Company will publish an announcement as
and when appropriate in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents
their annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 93 to 94.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”,
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 17 to
19 and pages 20 to 31 respectively of this annual report.

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the Group, which
are provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 40 to 55 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 31 December 2022, no environmental
exceedances were recorded and there was no non-
compliance in relation to environmental and social aspects.
Given the business nature, the Group recognises its daily
operation has an impact to the environment. The Group is
highly committed to make continuous efforts on efficient
use of natural resources, promotion of energy conservation
in its operations and offices, as well as minimisation of its
overall emissions on the environment. Engagement with
stakeholders has resulted in raised concerns on key material
issues, which include: Employment, Occupational Health and
Safety, Development and Training, Consumer Data Protection
and Customer Service. The Group will continue to identify
areas of improvement for the concerned aspects and keep
close communication with its stakeholders for advancing
environmental, social and governance management.

The Company will separately publish the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31
December 2022 in compliance with Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules in due course.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 246
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company'’s reserves available
for distribution amounted to approximately RMB360.1
million (2021: approximately RMB407.0 million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s top
five largest customers accounted for 9.7% (2021: 6.4%) of
our revenues and the single largest customer accounted
for 4.0% (2021: 2.0%) of our revenues. The Group's top five
suppliers, who were the media resources owners, accounted
for 44.7% (2021: 46.7%) of our cost of revenue and the single
largest supplier accounted for 14.6% (2021: 14.1%) of our
cost of revenue.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in the Group's five largest customers
and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwan Tat Cheong

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Ka Po (re-designated from an executive Director on
1 October 2022)

Mr. Wong Chi Kin

Mr. Yang Peng (resigned on 18 April 2023)

Ms. Wu Xiaopin (appointed on 18 April 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Ms. Mak Ka Ling

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the M&A, Ms. Wu Xiaopin shall
retire from office and being eligible, offer herself for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the M&A, one-third of the
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at least once every three years at the AGM.

As such, Mr. Wong Chi Kin, Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
and Ms. Mak Ka Ling (the “retiring Directors”) shall retire by
rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu
Cheung and Ms. Mak Ka Ling, who are being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set on the basis
of the employees’ merit, qualifications and competence.
The emoluments of the Directors and senior management
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, with
consideration to the Group's operation results and individual
performance. The Company has adopted a share option
scheme to the eligible persons as an incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group, details of which are set
out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the M&A, every Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him about the
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and Officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share Option Scheme

The fair values of share options issued are measured on the
grant date based on the fair value of the underlying shares.
The valuation of the fair values of share options issued
mainly involves management judgements and estimates
about significant inputs subject to volatility, dividend yield,
annual risk-free interest rate etc. Changes in these estimates
and assumptions could have a material effect on the
determination of the fair value of the share options, which
may in turn impact the determination of the share options
expenses. Details of the share option scheme have been set
out on pages 65 to 67 of this annual report.
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Agreement Relating to Perpetual Subordinated
Convertible Securities ("PSCS")

Save for the agreements disclosed in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company had no
other equity-linked agreement that would or might result in
the Company issuing shares, or that requiring the Company
to enter into an agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing shares, was entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

OUTSTANDING PSCS
As at 31 December 2022, the following PSCS were still
outstanding:

()  on 28 December 2017, for the purpose of raising
general working capital of the Company to support
its business development opportunities without
immediate shareholdings’ dilution impact, the
Company issued PSCS in the principal amount of
HKD30,000,000 convertible into conversion shares at
the initial conversion price of HKD3.54 per conversion
share under specific mandate (the “2017 PSCS") to
Space Management Limited (“Space Management”),
a company incorporated under the laws of the British
Virgin Islands and a controlling shareholder of the
Company holding 17.73% of the then issued share
capital of the Company. As at 31 December 2022,
none of the conversion rights under the 2017 PSCS
was exercised by Space Management and was still
outstanding. For details, please refer to the circular of
the Company dated 30 November 2017;

(i) on 28 June 2019, for the purpose of raising general
working capital of the Company to support payment
of concession fees in relation to projects previously
bidded such as the Wenzhou Metro Exclusive
Concession Rights without immediate shareholdings’
dilution impact, the Company issued PSCS in the
principal amount of HKD20,000,000 convertible into
conversion shares at the initial conversion price of
HKD3.54 per conversion share under specific mandate
(the "2019 PSCS") to Space Management. As at 31
December 2022, none of the conversion rights under
the 2019 PSCS was exercised by Space Management
and was still outstanding. For details, please refer to
the circular of the Company dated 10 June 2019;
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(i)

(iv)

(vi)

R2021FE58148 » A NKEEER
BERQA([EBE])E2HEBITHRA
BRE - ARRRBSRIEERMEE
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IR AR FE ([ RAB K AR R AT R
FBH]) o JRVSBRRESRBRERG
3.9B L ER ARG, o 12022412
A318 » ML ETEREXRALR
ARRESFE NOBRRE - B28RR
BDMRITHE - FFIBEFLEARRFIBHA
202143 A31BHIEB K

R20215F 11 A1H - REEARRAN—
REBESUHEERBERE
MEANENRERETE  XAFM
Space Management#1720214F K AR
MATRAEE S - 2022912 A318 -
Space Managementill JE{T{£20214F 5k
ARBATRRFHFE THH@RE - B2
BN ARITE - FIBH2H AT
RHIR2021F9R27 HEBE « I

MR2022F9A27H » BEEARQTH—
BEEESUTHEKERTE - mE
AR RESEETE - ARaMMKE
HEEIT2022F K AR PRI R FE S -
202212 A31H » ML EITE
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- BREURREDNRITE - F1BHFL
MAR R HEIA20222 18 HHYREK °

R2020F11 A10H - KA BRIEE R
X# - MSpace ManagementZ TR &
¥ 220,000,0007% 7T B9 7k A X AR AT R 3%
FH([2020F KA X B AT RIRFES]) -
AR BB ETRBRRRKR G515 T
s SIS RS 1 - 12022F9 A30H -
2020 F K AR AT MR B H B B HE
Bl - WEEEE B - Space Management
W EEFT{E 2020 F 5K AR R AT A IR 78 5518
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(iii)

(iv)

on 14 May 2021, in settlement of the consideration
for the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of
Billion China International Limited (“Billion China”),
the Company issued PSCS in the principal amount of
HKD122,715,000 convertible into conversion shares at
the initial conversion price of HKD3.9 per conversion
share under specific mandate (the “Consideration
PSCS”) to Mr. Lam. As at 31 December 2022, none of
the conversion rights under the Consideration PSCS
was exercised by Mr. Lam and was still outstanding.
For details, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 31 March 2021;

on 1 November 2021, for the purpose of raising
general working capital of the Company to support
its business development plan without immediate
shareholdings’ dilution impact, the Company issued
the 2021 PSCS to Space Management. As at 31
December 2022, none of the conversion rights under
the 2021 PSCS was exercised by Space Management
and was still outstanding. For details, please refer to
the circular of the Company dated 27 September 2021;
and

on 27 September 2022, for the purpose of raising
general working capital of the Company to support
its business development plan without immediate
shareholdings’ dilution impact, the Company issued
the 2022 PSCS to Mr. Lam. As at 31 December 2022,
none of the conversion rights under the 2022 PSCS
was exercised by Mr. Lam and was still outstanding.
For details, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 18 February 2022.

on 10 November 2020, the Company issued PSCS in
the principal amount of HKD20,000,000 convertible
into conversion shares at the initial conversion price of
HKDS5.1 per conversion share under specific mandate
(the "2020 PSCS") to Space Management. On 30
September 2022, the 2020 PSCS was fully redeemed.
As at the date of redemption, none of the conversion
rights under the 2020 PSCS was exercised by Space
Management.
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Assuming that there are no other changes, the shareholding
structure of the Company upon the PSCS rights being
exercised in full are as follows:

H2022E12A31R

BHEKARS
TRRESNEL
BREEEHRY

Immediately upon

BENTEXARE
TERRZR20195XA
RETRRERNEZ
BREERRAEA

Immediately upon

EUPITVES VYR TEE

R - 0195 X408

TERRSRREXANG

TEERSHGZERE
b EEOLE

Immediately upon
exercise in full of

BE0TEXARRTR
Bit% 20195 XA R
TakEs  REAR
TERRRRANEXARE
ThREsHEZARE
b F Ol

Immediately upon
exercise in ful of the conversion

BENTEXARGTR
B - 0195 XAR%
TaRES  REXARE
TEERS  W1EXARGR
TAREER02EXA
RETRRRSHG 2ARE
23 1
Immediately upon
exercise in fullof the conversion
rights attached to the 2017

exercise in full of exercise in full of the conversion rights rights attached to the 2017 PSCS, the 2019 PSCS,
the conversion rights the conversion rights attached to the 2017 PSCS, PSCS, the 2019 PSCS, the Consideration PSCS,
attached to the attached to the 2017 PSCS the 2019 PSCS and the Consideration PSCS and the 2021 PSCS and
Shareholders As at 31 December 2022 2017 PSCS and the 2019 PSCS the Consideration PSCS the 2021 PSCS the 2022 PSCS

BHESRY LHEV A RREAL" LRV BHEARY BHESRY

FOEE! (%) FOEE (%) ivit (%) ivit ] (%) ivit ] (%) iyt ] (%)

Approximate Approximate Approximate Approximate Approximate Approximate

Numberof percentage™  Numberof percentage™  Numberof percentage™  Numberof percentage™  Numberof percentage™  Numberof percentage®

Shares (%) Shares (%) Shares (%) Shares (%) Shares (%) Shares (%)

hi4 Mr. Lam 293,121,500 61,62 301,596,076 62.29 307,245,793 6273 338,711,178 64.98 369,575,375 66.94 396,361,089 68.47

ifitd Mr. Lam

(BA#E) [Personall helo) 0 000 0 000 0 000 31,465,385 604 31,465,385 570 58,251,099 10.06

Medlz Comerstone Wedia Comerstone Limited
Limited (IMedla ("Media Comerstone”)

Comerstone ) 254,921,500 5359 254921500 5285 254,921,500 5205 254,921,500 4890 254921500 417 254921500 403

Space Management ~ Space Management 38,200,000 803 46674576 964 52324293 1068 52324293 1004 83,188,490 1507 83,188,490 14371

2RER Public Shareholders 182,554,176 3838 182,554,176 3 182,554,176 321 182,554,176 35,02 182,554,176 33.06 182,554,176 3153

3 Total 475,675,676 100 484,150,252 100 489,799,969 100 521,265,354 100 552,129,551 100 578,915,265 100

M Note:
1. R2022F 128318 ARAREBRTRAS 1. As at 31 December 2022, the issued share capital of the Company

475,675,6768% X 15 ©

BAEEREEERAE 2022 FH 62

was 475,675,676 shares.
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MR2022%12A31H  EERARBEBIT
BAEBRBESEZHBEARKRARRMD ([ K
7)) s AR EEMEREE (ERRES
FHEABE GO #FHLEE KA ) EXVEL) 218
AR MERETHEBELARERES X
BEIEPIEIS2EREBFEMNZ LM - BE
ERRM S A EEETRSITAEARAA
A MR TR S MR BT

54 HEEHE

Capacity/

Name of Directors Nature of interest

ke SRGENAIPIA - RRIEF
EENERREREAA
Mr. Lam Founder of a discretionary

trust, interest in

a controlled corporation and

beneficial owner

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE
COMPANY, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company and
their associate in the shares of the Company (“Shares”),
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO")), as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules, were as follows:

R20215
12A31H
AATRE BT
B2 2 4
BaHk®

Approximate

RASTETR
(B8 M)

percentage of

issued share

Total capital of
number of the Company
Equity Shares and as at
31 December

2021@

Number of derivative underlying

Shares Shares

(Share options)

396,361,089 (L) /396,361,089 (L) 83.33%

Nil
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1. 396,361,089 fi% % 19 £ #& (i) Media Cornerstone
E @ 5 B 8 254,921,500 & BR 15 ¢ (i) Space
Management & i 45 /5 #) 38,200,000 % i% 7 K 5k
ARBABBRFESMEO@GRE - THaREH
44,988,4908% 17 + R EE B SR BHRKAR
AR AT R SR I A A AR AE - AT 88127558,251,099
&A% 1 o R M5 & & Space Management )
— R K& Shalom TrustB gl ¥t A - MEREERHE
Media Cornerstonef) & &2 BITHRA - M5t 44
R A Media Cornerstone &zSpace Management
BEnfFan 2 EmT e g -

2. R2022F12831H ARAAEBEEARAR

475,675,676 X5 -

EEE
[LIRiFRE

B FATIRESE - 202256128318 - &
BEERARAIEETHRAEREG - AAF
SR MEE AR (T RESMPEEHE
XVE) 2B M EEEFHEEE AR
BREELEENFEIS2EREAFEENERL
ft - SKIRBZEESTRIZBME ARD R KB AT
HIRER TR ©

BAEEEEEBERLT 2022 FIR 64

Notes:

The 396,361,089 Shares include (i) 254,921,500 Shares beneficially
held by Media Cornerstone; (ii) 38,200,000 Shares and the conversion
rights attaching to the PSCS convertible into 44,988,490 Shares
in aggregate beneficially held by Space Management; and (iii) the
conversion rights attaching to the PSCS convertible into 58,251,099
Shares beneficially held by Mr. Lam. As Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder
of Space Management and the founder of the Shalom Trust which
indirectly holds the entire issued share capital of Media Cornerstone,
Mr. Lam is deemed to be interested in all the interest beneficially held

by Media Cornerstone and Space Management.

As at 31 December 2022, the issued share capital of the Company was
475,675,676 Shares.

Abbreviation:

“L" stands for long position

Save

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none

of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company

had any interest or short position in the Shares, underlying

Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated

corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as

recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or which are required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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AEANEEREER AAKETMNKE
N BB B AR 5 2 AR T SR ) R
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant
to a shareholders’ resolution in writing passed on 6
December 2014 (the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons as
defined in the Scheme for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group. The Scheme took effect on 15
January 2015 and will expire on 14 January 2025.

As at 31 December 2022, there were no outstanding share
options granted by the Company. No share options were
granted, exercised, expired or lapsed during the Year.

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to any employee of the Group, options to subscribe for
shares of the Company subject to the terms and conditions
stipulated in the Scheme.

(a) Purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Board to
provide incentives or rewards to the eligible persons
for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may at its absolute
discretion grant options to any eligible employee, a
supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any director or employee of such supplier,
customer, any advisory, consultancy or professional
services to any member of the Group or any director
or employee of such entity (including any director,
whether executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not, of the Company or its subsidiaries)
who is in full-time or part-time employment with the
Company or its subsidiaries at the time when an option
is granted to such employee, or any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or may
contribute to the Group.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2022 Annual Report 65



EEEWE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(c)

(d)

(e)

RIBZAFTEI T RIT2ZROLH

—HEBRBEN2016F6A1HER
HBEFRE BB ARSPREMNBER
B 5T 81 4% # BR %2 = 44,000,000 % %
D HERARARAFHRHEHHE %
TR AN L9.25% » BEEM%TEl
LAZE - H$%H15,934,8750 B #E - B
2EB R o P2022%12AH318 » I
AT B AR B3 i A AR 1T 15 B9 BB AR
30

RIFEZET 8 AR BEM H A F 8R b
BRARITEZABBRIEETEm A T
BOIZBERARABRNHE NEBEEN
DA B BTN B B30% °

ESHEETRBZHESRHOHE
BRIEEARBIRRIAZFTBIFAEIEZTT
g TRRNER+—EA SRR -
BUZ2EETEERZBERE(EREE
1T - MARTERD FEHZBRE) M
BB TRTZARBARDEE - &
SEBBARARCEITROAE%

TEBRERE
BEREATNREFTETLNEEARAL
HARR M BE R AR IR A AT 81 2 IRBRITIE - %
HIRAITNE2RHBREE Bt -
BN A NMFER B BRER L A MR
P EFRER - BAESTEHRAR LK
NHRTE o LAt AR TE B IRAETT AL
BUARB Z&AHIR

BAEEEEEBERLT 2022 FIR 66

(c)

(d)

(e)

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

An ordinary resolution was passed at the AGM on
1 June 2016 relating to the refreshment of scheme
mandate limit of the share option to 44,000,000 shares,
representing approximately 9.25% of the total issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report. Since the adoption of the scheme, a
total of 15,934,875 share options have been granted
and were all lapsed. As at 31 December 2022, there
were no outstanding share options granted by the
Company.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other schemes of the Company shall not exceed
30% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each participant (including those exercised,
outstanding and cancelled options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue, unless approved by
the shareholders of the Company in the manner as
stipulated in the Scheme.

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, which period may commence on the date on
which the offer for the grant of options is made but
shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the
date of grant of the option subject to the provisions
for early termination thereof. No minimum period
for which the option must be held before it can be
exercised as specified in the Scheme.
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(f) The subscription price per share
The subscription price per share in respect of an option
granted under the Scheme is such price as determined
by the Board at the time of the grant of the options,
but in any case the subscription price shall not be lower
than the higher of:

o the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

° the price being the average closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and

o the nominal value of a share of the Company.

(g) Payment on acceptance of option
A non-refundable sum of HKD10 or other amount as
determined by the Board by way of consideration for
the grant of an option is required to be paid by each of
the grantee upon acceptance of the option.

(h) Remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme will expire on 14 January 2025 and no
further options may be granted but the provisions
of the Scheme shall in all other respects remain in
force and effect and options which are granted during
the life of the Scheme may continue to exercise in
accordance with their respective terms of grant.

Details of the Scheme are set out in Note 32(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 17 May
2018 (the “Share Award Scheme”) for the primary purposes
of providing incentives to eligible persons as defined in the
Share Award Scheme for their contribution to the Group.

(a) Purpose of the Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to
recognise and reward the contribution of certain
eligible persons for the growth and development of
the Group and to provide them with incentives in
order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

(b) Participants of the Share Award Scheme

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the Board
may at its absolute discretion grant shares to any
eligible employee, executive director or non-
executive director (including any independent non-
executive director), customer, supplier of goods or
services to any member of the Group, shareholder
of any member of the Group or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group, or any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have
contributed the Group.
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(c)

Remaining life of the Share Award Scheme
The Share Award Scheme will expire on 17 May 2028
and that such expiration shall not affect any subsisting
rights of any selected participant thereunder.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 191,666
shares have been granted under the Share Award
Scheme without vesting condition.

The following table discloses movements of the
granted share during the year:

RHAH RHRHNEE
Date of grant Number of granted

shares
202245H31H 191,666
31 May 2022

Details of the Share Award Scheme are set out in
Note 32(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Given the fact that the above awarded shares were
part of their remuneration during the Year pursuant
to their respective service agreements, the awarded
shares were granted without imposing and vesting
condition. The awarded shares were fully vested in
them on the date of grant.
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TERRRRORABER G 2 EHER K INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
) SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
of the Company recorded in the register required to be kept

M2022%128318 * LM FATRARATRG
SRR D HE A B I 5 5 R H S 1551 55 3361%
BREZECMP RS ERIAE

REGRAEBERG 2HFE

BRREE BB

Name of Shareholders

Media Cornerstone
Media Cornerstone

Shalom Family Holding Limited
Shalom Family Holding Limited

UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited
UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited

Space Management
Space Management

Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited
Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited

MMEBLEXEREAFTRAF
(Hangzhou Yungiang Enterprise
Management Consulting Co., Ltd.*)

BEM R EEBRNARAQT
(Ant Group Co., Ltd.*)
MINERREEABRAA
(Hangzhou Yunbo Investment
Consultancy Co., Ltd.*)

B5E

Ma Yun

HER

Eric Xiandong Jing

BAGEEEEERAT 2022 F) 70

under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

5/ REME

Capacity/Nature of interest

EnlEAA
Beneficial owner

REZG)EE R

Interest in a controlled corporation

Shalom Trust ®3EA
Trustee of Shalom Trust
wEE A

eneficial owner
ExnEEA

Beneficial owner

REEGLEE R

Interest in a controlled corporation

it

[os '

et WA o)

Interest in a controlled corporation

REEHLEE R

Interest in a controlled corporation

BEE317(1) @M E AR #E— 771
—HITBAL

A concert party to an agreement to buy
shares described in s.317(1)(a)

BE317(1)@ERMANE RN HE 771
—HITBAL

A concert party to an agreement to buy
shares described in 5.317(1)(a)

RAAT
ERITRAZ
BREse
Approximate
percentage of
issued share

BH8E

Number of capital in
shares the Company®
254,921,500 (L) 53.59%
254,921,500 (L) 53.59%
254,921,500 (L) 53.59%
83,188,490 (L)@ 17.49%
35,675,676 (L)® 7.5%
35,675,676 (L)® 7.5%
35,675,676 (L)® 7.5%
35,675,676 (L)“® 7.5%
35,675,676 (L)4® 7.5%
35,675,676 (L)@®) 7.5%

*  For identification purpose only
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BRRMEE BB

5/ BEME

RADE
ERITREZ
BHEDHO

Approximate

ROBE

percentage of
issued share

Number of capital in
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest shares the Company*
W BEN7() ) EFEOEARBHH 7 35,675,676 ()9 7.5%
—HABAL
Fang Jiang A concert party to an agreement to buy
shares described in 5.317(1)(a)
piliEs BE317(1) )Rt EARD BE—TH 35,675,676 (L) 7.5%
—BITBAL
Simon Xiaoming Hu A concert party to an agreement to buy
shares described in 5.317(1)(a)
et Notes:
1. Media Cornerstone H Shalom Family Holding 1. Media Cornerstone is wholly-owned by Shalom Family Holding

Limited & & ¥ & * 1M Shalom Family Holding
LimitedAlfShalom Trust (FAMGEAERMER T
AJUBS Trustees (B.V.1) LimitedtF &% 5L AR
WERET)2EHER -

28 A AR &R B2 75(1)38,200,000/% A% 15+ R (ii) Ak A IR AR
AT R SR I R O R - AT IAG 2£44,988,490
A&AZ1A ° Space ManagementAMRE A Eiw 2 &
A o

3. Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited$$%35,675,676
&f%1n + Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited E8#1
MNEFECEERZAGRARZERSE  MMNEH
CEEEFAFTRADIHBERNRERRNHER
ARN[IBHEER])2EHEE - MMNBBRERES
BOX(BRER) (BB RMMNERRERES
BOEEBERAEBR)([BRDOAFEEBREED S
TR 4R 8#31.04% 52 22.42% ©

Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by the Shalom Trust, a
discretionary trust established by Mr. Lam as settlor with UBS Trustees
(B.V.l.) Limited as the trustee thereof.

2. Such interest includes (i) 38,200,000 Shares; and (ii) the conversion
rights attaching to the PSCS convertible into 44,988,490 Shares in
aggregate. Space Management is beneficially wholly-owned by Mr.

Lam.

3. The 35,675,676 Shares are held by Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited
which is wholly-owned by #i/N EFE R EEEZMREGR AR (Hangzhou
Yungiang Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.*), which is
in turn wholly-owned by &R £ B D AR 2 (Ant Group Co.,
Ltd.*) (“Ant Group”). Hangzhou Junhan Equity Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (“Junhan”) and Hangzhou Junao Equity
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Junao”) hold 31.04%
and 22.42% of the total issued shares of Ant Group respectively.

*  For identification purpose only
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4. TINE R E A BR A (Hangzhou Yunbo Investment Consultancy
Co., Ltd.*) (“Yunbo") is the general partner of both Junhan and
Junao, and is owned as to 34%, 22%, 22% and 22% by Mr. Ma Yun,
Mr. Eric Xiandong Jing, Ms. Fang Jiang, and Mr. Simon Xiaoming
Hu respectively. Pursuant to an agreement (the “Concert Party
Agreement”) dated 21 August 2020 and entered into between Mr. Ma
Yun, Mr. Eric Xiandong Jing, Ms. Fang Jiang, and Mr. Simon Xiaoming
Hu, they have agreed on certain arrangements pertaining to their
shareholdings in Yunbo. Pursuant to the SFO, since each of Mr. Ma
Yun, Mr. Eric Xiandong Jing, Ms. Fang Jiang, and Mr. Simon Xiaoming
Hu is a party to the Concert Party Agreement, each of them is deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which the other parties to the Concert

Party Agreement are interested.

B Pursuant to certain agreements dated 7 January 2023, subject to
certain conditions (including obtaining regulatory approvals) being
satisfied, among other things, the Concert Party Agreement among
Mr. Ma Yun, Mr. Eric Xiandong Jing, Ms. Fang Jiang and Mr. Simon
Xiaoming Hu will be terminated, Yunbo will cease to be the general
partner of Junhan, Mr. Ma Yun will cease to hold any interests in
Yunbo. When these steps are effected, each of Mr. Ma Yun, Mr. Eric
Xiandong Jing, Ms. Fang Jiang, Mr. Simon Xiaoming Hu, and Yunbo

will cease to have a notifiable interest.

6. As at 31 December 2022, the issued share capital of the Company was
475,675,676 Shares.

Abbreviations:

“L" stands for long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, there
were no other persons who had an interest or short position
in the Shares, or underlying Shares which recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of SFO.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the following transactions, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his
or her connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the
financial Year:

(i)  the tenancy agreements between Genesis Printing and
Production Limited (“Genesis Printing”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant,
and Peaky Limited (“Peaky"”), a company wholly-owned
by Mr. Lam, as landlord, to lease the warehouse and
car parking space in Hong Kong for HKD38,000 per
month for a term of two years from 1 July 2022 to 30
June 2024 (both days inclusive); Asiaray Media Limited
(“Asiaray Media”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as tenant, and Peaky, as landlord,
to lease the warehouse in Hong Kong for HKD 10,000
per month for a term of two years from 1 July 2022 to
30 June 2024 (both days inclusive); and Hong Kong
Asiaray Advertising Limited (BB #ESHR A A)
("HK Asiaray Advertising”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, and Asiaray
China Media Limited (“Asiaray China”), a company
wholly-owned by Mr. Lam, as landlord, to lease the
office in Shanghai for RMB114,000 per month for a
term of two years from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024
(both days inclusive). For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2022;
and

(i) on 13 December 2021, the Company and Mr. Lam
entered into (a) an agreement for the subscription of
the 2022 PSCS; and (b) an agreement for the sale and
purchase of Rooms 2901, 2902, 2903 and 2904, Yuhai
World Financial Centre, No. 1009 Jiu Zhou Da Dao
Zhong, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai, the PRC owned
by Mr. Lam. Completion took place on 27 September
2022 and the 2022 PSCS were issued to Mr. Lam on the
same day. For details, please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 18 February 2022.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. Lam, Media Cornerstone, Space Management and
Shalom Family (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”)
entered into a Deed of Non-competition dated 22
December 2014 with the Company (the “Deed of Non-
competition”). Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition,
each of the Controlling Shareholder has undertaken that,
among other things, he/it shall not and shall procure his/
its associates not to, either alone or jointly with any other
person or entity, or for any other person, firm or company,
or as principal, partner, director, employee, consultant
or agent through any body corporate, partnership, joint
venture or other contractual arrangement, be engaged,
invested, or otherwise involved, whether as a shareholder,
director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise, directly or
indirectly, in the carrying on of any business in any form or
manner in Hong Kong or the PRC in competition or likely to
be in competition, directly or indirectly, with the business
operated by the Group in Hong Kong or the PRC. Mr. Lam
has further undertaken that he shall procure Main Element
Profits Limited to exercise all its voting power in & /&%t
HEERMABM AT (Taiwan Asiaray Advertising Holdings
Company Limited)* (“Taiwan Asiaray”) to ensure that the
business of Taiwan Asiaray will not expand outside Taiwan.
Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders
— Non-Competition Undertakings” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 31 December 2014.

The Company has received confirmations from the
Controlling Shareholders of their compliance with the Deed
of Non-competition for the year ended 31 December 2022
(the "Confirmations”). The independent non-executive
Directors have been provided with all necessary information
and have reviewed the Confirmations and are satisfied that
the Deed of Non-competition was complied with and was
effectively enforced during the year ended 31 December
2022.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the Year, none of the Directors is interested in any
business, apart from the Group’s business, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the Year, the Group did not have any significant
investments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
Completion of the acquisition of the target properties,
namely Rooms 2901, 2902, 2903 & 2904, Yuhai World
Financial Centre, No. 1009 Jiu Zhou Da Dao Zhong,
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai, the PRC took place on 27
September 2022 and the 2022 PSCS were issued to Mr. Lam
on the same day. For details, please refer to the circular of
the Company dated 18 February 2022.

Save for the above, during the Year, the Group did not have
any material acquisition or disposal.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties
regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting
principles. These mainly relate to contracts entered into by
the Group in the ordinary course of business, which contracts
were negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an
arm'’s length basis. Further details are set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Some of these transactions also constituted non-exempt

“Connected Transaction” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions” under the Listing Rules, as identified below.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i)

(i)

On 13 December 2021, the Company and Mr. Lam
entered into (i) an acquisition agreement, pursuant
to which Mr. Lam has conditionally agreed to sell,
and the Company has conditionally agreed to
purchase, the target properties at the consideration
of RMB30,400,000; and (ii) a subscription agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to issue, and Mr. Lam has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for, the 2022 PSCS. As Mr. Lam is an
executive Director and a controlling shareholder
of the Company, Mr. Lam is therefore a connected
person of the Company and each of the transactions
contemplated under the aforesaid agreements
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 18
February 2022.

On 30 June 2022, (a) Genesis Printing, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into the tenancy agreement as tenant, with Peaky, as
landlord, to lease the warehouse and car parking space
in Hong Kong from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 upon
the expiration of the previous tenancy agreement on
30 June 2022; (b) Asiaray Media, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
tenancy agreement as tenant, with Peaky, as landlord,
to lease the warehouse in Hong Kong from 1 July
2022 to 30 June 2024 upon the expiration of the
previous tenancy agreement on 30 June 2022; and
(c) HK Asiaray Advertising, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the tenancy
agreement as tenant, with Asiaray China, as landlord,
to lease the office in Shanghai from 1 July 2022 to 30
June 2024 upon the expiration of the previous tenancy
agreement on 30 June 2022.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into a number of transactions with entities which will
be regarded as connected parties of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the announcements dated 15 June 2015 and
14 December 2017, the annual cap of the concession fees
for the year ended 31 December 2022 include:

i. the agreement dated 12 June 2015 with )il F & #4355
EHBMRZAFR] (Henan Airport Group Company Limited*)
(“Henan Airport Group”) and its associates. The annual
cap for the agreement is RMB189.0 million. Henan
Airport Group is a substantial shareholder of an indirect
subsidiary of the Company, and each of the Henan
Airport Group and its associates is thus a connected
person of the Company. The concession fee for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMBO0.8 million; and

ii. the framework agreement dated 21 October 2014
with Yunnan Airport Group Limited Liability Company
("Yunnan Airport Company”). The annual cap for the
framework agreement is RMB218.8 million. Yunnan
Airport Company is a substantial shareholder of an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Yunnan Airport Company is thus a connected
person of the Company. The concession fee for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMB15.5 million.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group has established internal controls and procedures
to ensure the compliance of the continuing connected
transactions with the requirement of the Listing Rules.
Finance department has prepared monthly transaction
reports to ensure the annual caps not to be exceeded. The
Board, including the independent non-executive Directors,
has reviewed and confirmed that the continuing connected
transactions have been entered into and the fees paid were:

i in the ordinary course of business of the Group;

ii. either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third party; and

iii. in accordance with the terms of the contract that
are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group on page 77 of this annual report in accordance with
paragraph 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that, save as disclosed above, none
of the related party transactions set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had
not entered into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transactions which are required to be disclosed in
this report pursuant to the Listing Rules during the reporting
period.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Save for the Directors’ Profile which set out on pages 32
to 39 of this annual report, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
M&A or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at
the date of this annual report, there was sufficient public
float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages,
including trainings, medical, insurance coverage and
retirement benefits, to all employees in Hong Kong and in
Mainland China. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has
932 employees (2021: 1,135 employees). The total salaries
and related costs for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 amounted to approximately RMB230.0 million and
RMB232.7 million, respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during
the Year amounted to approximately RMB9%,000
(2021: approximately RMB209,000).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

Annual General Meeting

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 30 May 2023 to Friday, 2 June 2023, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected.

In order to determine who are eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM to be held on Friday, 2 June 2023, the
shareholders of the Company should ensure that all transfers
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 29 May 2023.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.
A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM for the
re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company.

ADJUSTMENTS ON THE PUBLISHED ANNUAL
RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

Reference is made to the supplemental announcement of
the Company regarding the published unaudited annual
results for the Year dated 30 March 2023 (the “Supplemental
Announcement”). As disclosed in the Supplemental
Announcement, save for some minor adjustments, the
audited annual results have no other adjustment compared
to the unaudited annual results published on 27 March
2023. Such minor adjustments include adjustments on item
description and figures of certain items.

Further, due to inadvertent error, the items (i) currency
translation differences; (ii) net losses from changes in
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, net of tax; and (iii) total comprehensive loss for
the Year were mistakenly stated in the Supplemental
Announcement. The correct amounts should be (i)
RMB17,864,000; (ii) RMB973,000; and (iii) RMB108,586,000
respectively.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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To the Shareholders of Asiaray Media Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Asiaray Media
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 91 to 245, comprise:

o the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2022;
° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince's Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
("the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

o Impairment assessment of trade receivables

*  Impairment assessment of right-of-use assets
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(a) and Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had trade
receivables, of approximately RMB626 million and
provision for impairment of approximately RMB90
million.

Management applied the simplified approach to measure
the lifetime expected loss allowance for all its trade
receivables. In developing the loss allowances of trade
receivables, management used judgement in making the
assumptions about the risk of default and expected credit
loss rate with reference to the historical payment profiles
of sales, the corresponding historical credit losses rate,
forward-looking information. In addition, management
also reviewed the credit risk of individual debtors by
considering the nature of transactions, relationship with
customers and their financial position, etc. to assess
whether any increase in credit risk which may trigger
further specific provision at the end of the reporting
period.

We focused on this area because of the estimation of
the recoverable amount of trade receivables is subject
to high degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the impairment assessment of trade
receivables is considered high due to management’s
judgement and estimates involved.

In response to the key audit matter, we performed the

following procedures:

We obtained an understanding of the Group'’s
internal control and assessment process of
impairment of trade receivables including
credit control and data collection for analysis,
etc. We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors, such as complexity and subjectivity
involved in significant management judgement

We evaluated and validated the design and
operating effectiveness of the key controls over
debt collection and the impairment assessment
process, in particular those over the identification
of impaired receivables and the calculation of the
impairment provision, on a sample basis.

We discussed with management and assessed
the reasonableness of the provision policy of
trade receivables and assessed any indicators
for change in credit risk characteristics from
historical patterns.

We tested the aging profile of trade receivables
on a sample basis and analysed historical loss
allowance on trade receivables to assess the
reasonableness of expected credit loss rates
calculated by management.

We involved our internal valuation expert in
assessing the significant assumptions used in
estimating the impairment loss, such as looking
forward factors adopted.

We assessed the reasonableness of the
assumptions and data used in assessing
the expected credit loss rate, corroborated
explanations with underlying documentation
and correspondence with the customers.

We interviewed management to corroborate their
explanations on the doubtful receivable balances
to evaluate whether any increase in credit risk
which may trigger further specific provision.

We tested, on a sample basis, the subsequent
collection.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to estimated impairment loss of trade
receivables in the context of the applicable
financial reporting framework.

Based on the procedures above, we found that the

judgement and estimates applied by management

were supported by the evidence that we obtained.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of right-of-use assets In response to the key audit matter, we performed the

following procedures:

Refer to Note 4(b) and Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group has right-of-use assets (“ROU”) of RMB1,418
million respectively after impairment loss provision as
at 31 December 2022, which are subject to impairment
tests when there are impairment indicators. The carrying
amounts of the ROU are written down to its recoverable
amount when the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Management prepared discounted cash flow analysis
on the contracts with impairment indicators. The
recoverable amounts were determined based on the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and the value-
in-use calculations of these contracts. These calculations
involved significant management judgement with respect
to the assumptions used including the long-term growth
rate and discount rates. Based on the impairment
assessment performed, an aggregate of impairment of
ROU amounted to RMB17 million was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

We focused on the evaluation of management’s
assessment on impairment of ROU due to the size of
the Group’s ROU and the significant judgement and
estimates used to perform the impairment review.

We obtained an understanding of the
management’s process and controls over the
identification of contracts having indicators
of impairment and preparation of cash flow
forecasts and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement;

We discussed with management and assessed the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management to determine the
recoverable amount;

We evaluated the key assumptions, on a sample
basis used in the value-in-use calculations by:

- applying our knowledge of the business
and industry;

- discussing business plans with senior
management;

- performing market research on long-term
growth rate; and

- assessing the reasonableness of discount
rates adopted by management.

We compared the forecasted sales performance
and estimated costs of revenue applied in the
value-in-use calculations to the historical records
and challenged and evaluated management's
key assumptions applied by comparing them
to historical trends, the approved business
plans and our understanding of latest market
information and conditions, on a sample basis.

Based on the procedures above, we found that the
judgement and estimates applied by management
were supported by the evidence that we obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is CHAN Chiu Kong, Edmond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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20224 20214 720214
12831H 12H31H 1H1H
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2022 2021 2021
k3 ARET T ARET T ARETIT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(&=7) (&ZE=7)
(restated) (restated)
BE ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current assets
VI - B R Property, plant and
equipment 6 157,876 142,385 62,384
fEREEE Right-of-use assets 7 1,418,362 3,688,589 2,920,123
B Investment properties 8 94,924 56,340 9,255
ﬁ}bﬁ? Intangible assets 9 13,306 14,022 16,156
{F R EARA Investments accounted for
& using the equity method 12 76,465 58,664 42,609
BATF(EIAEZEE  Financial assets at fair
e BEE value through profit
or loss 10 8,433 6,511 6,209
&’Aﬁfﬁﬁw\ﬁi\@ Financial assets at fair
melEnE R value through other
BE comprehensive income 10 5,852 6,094 6,509
BEFTSIHEE Deferred income tax
assets 14 193,537 187,459 165,760
rE Deposits 15 9,455 7,267 10,998
1,978,210 4,167,331 3,240,003
B ﬁE Current assets
FE Inventories 16 22,902 8,504 3,381
FEUERS &ﬁﬁﬂ Trade and other
JE W TR receivables 15 786,779 934,529 851,017
TIEH|IRE Restricted cash 17 31,797 26,884 28,407
ReRREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 17 333,320 315,625 318,553
1,174,798 1,285,542 1,201,358
BEE Total assets 3,153,008 5,452,873 4,441,361
EENEE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
RAREE A Equity attributable to
Eihs owners of the Company
& A Share capital 18 38,139 38,139 38,139
R Reserves 19 101,114 226,874 206,834
139,253 265,013 244,973
IEERER Non-controlling interests 132,895 111,944 70,419
R Total equity 272,148 376,957 315,392
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afE Liabilities
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
e Borrowings
HEAE Lease liabilities
BEFTBSHAE Deferred income tax
liabilities
REBEE Current liabilities
FERTBR SR R Ho A Trade and other payables
FEf 5RT8
BHAEE Contract liabilities
BAFEHAEZE  Financial liabilities at fair
TR AE value through profit
or loss
fa Borrowings
BIHAFR S & & Current income tax
liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities
PR =R Total liabilities
BEZREE Total equity and liabilities

A L& OHEE B BRMEEBEM M T — G5 -

FIE245EMNEHUBHREAEEEZTEN
20233 A30BH#ETIE - WHIATEREK
REE °

MR
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
TE
Chairman

BAGEEEEERAT 2022 FiR 92

20225
12831H

As at

31 December

2022

ARBT T
RMB’000

R20214F
12H31H

As at

31 December
2021
AREFTE
RMB’000
(#£&E7))
(restated)

20214
1H1H

As at

1 January
2021
ARETT
RMB’000
(#£=71))
(restated)

21 177,408 131,020 67,867
7 1,173,285 3,222,874 2,589,627
14 1,827 1,906 1,962
1,352,520 3,355,800 2,659,456

22 348,958 277,932 245,315
23 98,203 126,850 107,210
3.3 - 10,244 6,564
21 146,348 127,004 186,993
5,677 5,408 11,657

7 929,154 1,172,678 908,774
1,528,340 1,720,116 1,466,513
2,880,860 5,075,916 4,125,969
3,153,008 5,452,873 4,441,361

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to
245 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on
30 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf.

BES
Kwan Tat Cheong
HITEF

Executive Director
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L'ON

L ONDFN

E7
HERMIGHERERX
TTHRFEX
SREERERIRFH

HAb YA
Hib st - F8R

HENE

BEWA
B E KA

BB - FER

ERESEARNDERE
YRR, (&E)

BRETSBATE R

FrSBi(Fx), e

FEBR

FE1E (B18), /78

ZA/NCIEZ 2SN
TR

Revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Selling and marketing expenses

Administrative expenses

Net impairment losses on
financial assets

Other income

Other gains, net

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs, net

Share of net profit/(loss) of
investments accounted for using
the equity method

Loss before income tax
Income tax (expense)/credit
Loss for the year

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

HZ12A318LLEE

Year ended 31 December

20224 2021€

2022 2021

ARET T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

(&=&75)

(restated)

5 1,653,226 1,895,020
24 (1,384,062) (1,536,938)
269,164 358,082
24 (149,306) (147,919)
24 (175,838) (185,069)
(29,836) (10,784)

26 35,651 35,213
27 154,758 55,186
104,593 104,709

28 2,203 2,276
28 (208,432) (246,709)
28 (206,229) (244,433)
12 17,961 (1,142)
(83,675) (140,866)

29 (6,074) 19,732
(89,749) (121,134)

(112,663) (143,671)

22,914 22,537

(89,749) (121,134)
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HZ12A318LLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
Hiat ARMT T ARBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
(&=5)
(restated)
HtiR4 (FR) i Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Te2EEEmER Item will not be recycled to profit
or loss
BATEIAEMERS W ER Net losses from changes in
WEREESHEIRFH financial assets at fair value through
(B#5) other comprehensive income,
net of tax 3.3 (973) (195)
AEEEF B E B e iy IE H Item that may be reclassified to profit
or loss
BB E =5 Currency translation differences (17,864) 7,573
(18,837) 7,378
FEFEBEARE Total comprehensive loss
for the year (108,586) (113,756)
FEAL - Attributable to:
PIN/NCIEZZEWN Owners of the Company (129,537) (136,293)
R = Non-controlling interests 20,951 22,537
FEFEFEARE Total comprehensive loss for
the year (108,586) (113,756)
AATEBAEMEKEESR Loss per share attributable
EE(UERARESIIR) to owners of the Company for
the year (expressed in RMB cents
per share)
—EARREE - Basic and diluted 30 (26.3) (32.0)
A B GHRA MR BB M —FFRIE - The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

R202251 818 48

RaER
FE(ER)/FE

Rftizakis

FEGE (BR)/WEsE

BIOXARBAI R RES -
MR TRA(H1i£20)
KARBAIEIRE DI
DIRTXARBAEBREZRBRD
@ EBARD (HZ320)
EERHEE
2t

BHEA AMERRAAGETH
RHBE

R2022512 831 A&

Balance 1 January 2022

Comprehensive loss

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

for the year

Issue of PSCS, net of issuance
costs (Note 20)

Distributions to PSCS

Purchase of shares for Share
Award Scheme (Note 32 (b))

Value of employee services

Others

Total transactions with owners,

in their capacity as owners

Balance at 31 December 2022

KAAHANEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
L2 ffe ax  FERES C
Non-
Share controlling
capital Reserves Total interests Total
ARBTR  ARETRT  ARMTR  ARMTR  AR%TR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
(KrE19)
(Note 19)
38,139 226,874 265,013 111,944 376,957
- (112,663) (112,663) 22,914 (89,749)
- (16,874) (16,874) (1,963) (18,837)
- (129,537) (129,537) 20,951 (108,586)
- 17,182 17,182 - 17,182
- (10,479) (10,479) - (10,479)
- (507) (507) - (507)
- 819 819 - 819
- (3,238) (3,238) - (3,238)
- 3,17 3,777 - 3,777
38,139 101,114 139,253 132,895 272,148
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EOtREZR S B3k CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

R [ Bt R ER @it
Non-
Share controlling
capital Reserves Total interests Total
AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(7)) (m=3) (m=51) (&s5)) (&=31)
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(Mz19)
(Note 19)
R2021F1818 £ Balance 1 January 2021 38,139 206,834 244,973 70,419 315,392
GEFR Comprehensive loss
EE(EE)/NE (Loss)/profit for the year = (143,671) (143,671) 22,537 (121,134)
Hibirala Other comprehensive income = 7,378 7,378 : 7,378
EEGA(BR)/hinag Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year - (136,293) (136,293) 22,537 (113,756)
FERERIE Capital injection by
non-controlling interests - - - 3,034 3,034
LERBAR(H#35) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) = = = 15,954 15,954
BT ARB TR ES - Issue of PSCS, net of issuance
MBRBITRA(H220) costs (Note 20) = 163,483 163,483 = 163,483
KARBARRES DK Distributions to PSCS - (6,339) (6,339) - (6,339)
DEFAARBAERESFRRD  Purchase of shares for Share
REGTEBARD (H223206) Award Scheme (Note 32 (b)) = (1,043) (1,043) - (1,043)
EERBEE Value of employee services = 232 232 - 232
BEE AAESEEASHETH Total transactions with owners,
Pt in their capacity as owners = 156,333 156,333 18,988 175,321
R2021512 331 B e Balance at 31 December 2021 38,139 226,874 265,013 111,944 376,957

PA_E & ff i o 52 B 5 7 B BB P B R — B -

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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SHEERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
2022% 20214
2022 2021
KtaE AR®T T AREFTT
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
(&=5)
(restated)
EETEHMENESRE Cash flows from operating activities
EEMERE Cash generated from operations 31 822,750 887,521
EARFE Interest paid (9,343) (8,594)
EETER Income tax paid (11,883) (20,330)
EETHREREEHE Net cash generated from
operating activities 801,524 858,597
RETHMEBNRERE Cash flows from investing activities
W= B A Acquisition of a subsidiary,
(BB WEBERS) net of cash acquired 34 - 23
BEWE  BRERZH Purchases of property, plant and
equipment (51,453) (55,989)
BAFEIAEBZERNSRE Payments for financial assets at fair
BEMNK value through profit or loss (506) (486)
BAFEINAEMERE WZER  Payments for financial assets at
TREEMNRK fair value through other
comprehensive income (400) -
EEELEE Purchases of intangible assets (205) (285)
BEREYE Purchases of investment properties (41,388) =
HEME - BB REER Proceeds from disposal of property,
B EEMSHIA plant and equipment and
intangible assets 31 252 82
SN Interest received 2,203 2,276
B U — B & A B IR Dividends received from an associate = 9,866
& B A Rl Disposal of subsidiaries 35 - (11,292)
REEEFAES S Net cash used in investing activities (91,497) (55,805)
METHAENRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BTSN IE Proceeds from borrowings 123,024 222,723
BEER Repayment of borrowings (70,943) (219,5006)
AR B AT AR 78 5 9 Ik Distribution of PSCS (10,479) (6,339)
BT AR R TR B Issue of PSCS, net of expenses
(&R 34,286 61,640
e R ERIEE Capital injection by non-controlling
interests - 3,034
HERR Lease payments (765,351) (864,947)
BT S Dividends paid (10,760) -
RESEB AR S FHE Net cash used in financing activities (700,223) (803,395)
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SR ERER  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZ12A318LLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T ARBTFIT
RMB'000 RMB’000
(&E:7)
(restated)
HERBEZEY Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
#h0 GRd ) B8 cash equivalents 9,804 (603)
FUNBRE LR EEY Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 315,625 318,553
ReE MRS EBYMIENZ% Exchange differences on cash and
cash equivalents 7.891 (2,325)
FHRNESRBELEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year 17 333,320 315,625
N EEHE S REREEREN M E—05:E - The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

—REHR
HAREEEEFRAR(ARF DR
2014F5 20 ER SRS RERSE
SRANE(2013F BT AR ) sl &
—MHERRERAA - ARAIFEMES
Bz #b 3k % PO Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands * AR AP 2015F 1 A15H
EEBHMEXSGMARRAAFR M -

ARAR—MREBBARF - ARAR
HIBA R (TR [ A%E)EBRFE
ARSRE (B E)) - B - RPIRE
MTUEFNES REERREE @ 6
i EES B RAEAE
s -

B BRI - WERHFHHRKREGINA
ARB(TARK D2 MABEFE
HWEBEEREANTUE(ARETT)
WEMR2023F3H30BHARRRIZEEE
(TEEg HET -

EXRETHERE

TXHIN R F A Gt 5K PR
ZEBEFHR -BXBEAIN - A
ERFEHERERLFER
mBLEE
ARBNEHMBHRRECRIEAET LS
SR ARG ([BARETRAE ) BMAIPT

BERBAYBHEEL([FEVHR
FER ) REBRBHED (FAEHE
62T )M EBERTRE - B HB WK
BELKRAN L RS - YRERERFE
IARMGEERENEREE - HRF

BIABSENEREE - RAFET
ABRENEBE ENUNMRAFETIR
HIR B EIEHRIERT -

2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Asiaray Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company's registered office is PO
Box 309, Ugland House Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares have been
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 15 January 2015.

The Company is an investment holding company.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the development
and operations of out-of-home advertising media,
including advertising in airports, metro lines, billboards
and building solutions, mainly in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"), Hong Kong, Macau and Southeast
Asia.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“"RMB"”) and all figures are rounded to the
nearest thousand (RMB’000) unless otherwise stated,
and have been approved for issue by the Company’s
board of directors (the “Board”) on 30 March 2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
investment properties, which are carried at fair values.
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S OFE R R MIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

EAGTHEEE)

RREEEE)

M2022F 12 A31H - AEEBEBHRK
HEEBHERHEENDARE
353,542,000 - BB EFREEE

HRERETEABEINANARKE
929,154,000 B BB RO AR
1,173,285,0008) FE B B (& - 1M+ FE
FRAEEELNOARE,418,362,000H
REIERBDEE - BIE2022F12 A 31
HIEFE  AEESSEZER ABRE
FEE - ERAHRA S RIEE -

ERzERR ARREF(EFDE
AEAEEREA RAVBERFEL
L EEEZEAEENRRAHE
T REERBRABES IR °

EXRRAKEASHNESRR(ERE
AEBWEHEERDRERAFER
KERITHOFESS) RABITERR
2022F 12 A31 BREETARK + 1@ A 2
HIMMBEE - Bt - ZFAHIBR
RIVEFBIREEERY -

RENEBRBHBRELEANNA G
BRBERE TR ES - MEX
BEENERAASE ST HRANBRET
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2.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB353,542,000. The net current liabilities was
mainly attributable to recognition of lease liabilities of
approximately RMB929,154,000 in current liabilities
and approximately RMB1,173,285,000 in non-current
liabilities respectively, while the associated right-of-use
assets amounting to approximately RMB1,418,362,000
were recognised in non-current assets. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a net
loss to equity owners as disclosed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of
the Company (“Directors”) have given careful
consideration of the future liquidity and operating
performance of the Group and its available source of
financing in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group's
available sources of funds, including the Group's
expected net cash inflows from its operating activities
and the continuous support from its banks, are
sufficient to fulfil its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31
December 2022. Accordingly, these consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“"RMB") and all figures are rounded to the
nearest thousand (RMB’000) unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1
(a)
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FENRE
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FEIF2IEFT
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B50E
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FEITHR2EFT )N
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2.1
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Amendments to standards, interpretation and
accounting guideline adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
to existing standards, interpretation and accounting
guideline for the first time for their financial year
beginning on 1 January 2022:

Annual Improvements
Project (Amendments)

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the
conceptual framework

Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds
before intended use

Onerous contracts — Cost
of fulfilling a contract

COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
2021

Revised Accounting
Guideline 5 Merger
Accounting for
Common Control
Combinations

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

HKAS 16 (Amendments)

HKAS 37 (Amendments)

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

Accounting Guideline 5
(Amendments)

The amendments listed above did not have any impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods, except for the Amendment to HKFRS 16 set
out above.
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2 BEASTHBREEE) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

21 mBEXE(E) 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) B A {E 4 K £ 3 A N5 [E] 5 K FE AT AR (b) New standards and amendments to existing standards,

BEFTLR) - BRI - 2% - 2
R EH#53]

improvement, interpretation and accounting guideline
that have been issued but are not effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group

RULT B
ZERFEE
B FEER

Effective for
accounting year
beginning on
or after

ARG EAE 1R R
BB RS 4R B 5 6
E25% 2 1EET]
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 (Amendments)
BB MELERE 45 2 E5]
Amendments to HKFRS 4

20231 H1H

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023

ERERAREAEBVEREERNEIR ZHR

Extension of the Temporary Exemption from
Applying HKFRS 9

HEBRRNE-RHNEENRBEABNELERA

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

20231 H1H
1 January 2023

BB GETERE129 2 157]
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

20231 H1H
1 January 2023

R G ERFESH 2 EF] BEHEFTHER 2023%1H1H
HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BEMBRELRNFE17H REREH 2023F1A1H
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
BRMEME LR FENTHR ZER] BEMBREERF 7R 2EF] 2023%1H1H
HKFRS 17 (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 17 1 January 2023
BAMBHREERS175 2 EF] NP RAE BN BHRERNE17H R 2023%1A1H

HKFRS 17 (Amendments)

EBREESH (20204F)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BRUBME LR E 1657 2E7]

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

RAAEREEERAT

2022 F 1R

102

BREMBMELNFEIT - LLBREHR
Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information
MERRNZT - ERAYH S HREREEGK
BEHIE M D MR
Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
SROENEESE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

1 January 2023

20241 H1H

1 January 2024

202451 A1H
1 January 2024



SOt FEERERMEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 EASHBERESE) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 REEEE) 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b)  [H K AE XA N E E] R R BRI ETET (b) New standards and amendments to existing standards,
RACNSETER - 2= - ZER 25155/ improvement, interpretation and accounting guideline
(4&) that have been issued but are not effective and have

not been early adopted by the Group (Continued)

RELT B
ZERFEEN
B FEER

Effective for
accounting year
beginning on

or after
BB ERE 1R 2(EF] BESEAREBNIERD 202451 A1H
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2024
Non-current
BB ERE 1R 2EF] MR AR ERE B E 2024%1H18
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
ARV MELEZ 10X EELGFT REFHEAEMENASEERECHNEEL S5 RFE
AR 2857 28] &
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
(Amendments) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
BEBEEEGELHOTE - ZEHTRE According to the assessment made by the board
1BET2R - 2E  REREFESEAX of directors, these new and amended standards,
SETHEE BERERBRUAREERZ improvement, interpretation and accounting guideline
MBRARMATMEL TEBERK - are either not relevant to the Group or not significant

to the financial performance and positions of the
Group when they become effective.

2.2 B BEEH 2.2 Changes in accounting policies
FRNAEEEHEZINEERET During the year, the Group has changed its
(IBTHERRBARYE - URERHEOE presentation currency from Hong Kong dollars (“HKD")
BHwEK  ZRIAEENTIZRBIR to RMB for the preparation of its consolidated financial
ERBET  MxFHENEREND statements. Having considered the principal activities
REBRARYE XRAEZEARR & of the Group are mainly conducted in the PRC where
—HEERERXESHUBRRTEE the functional currency of those subsidiaries in the PRC
B2 AKENRS - AEEZYE are denominated in RMB, the directors of the Company
WMoBEBEEHNER  MRZESHY considered that the change would result in a more
BHRRULBBEFNREHETRERA appropriate presentation of the Group's transactions
R GHEERERBEERANEH in these consolidated financial statements. The
BEHFRZWMEER - §HEEMER change in presentation currency have been applied
RANEERR . FTHER - ZERE retrospectively. The comparative figures in these
MR FEREREXERET consolidated financial statements were translated from
BESARE - HKD to RMB using the applicable closing rates for

items in the consolidated balance sheet and applicable
average rates that approximated to actual rates for
items in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. The comparative figures in these disclosure
notes were translated from HKD to RMB using the
applicable rates accordingly.
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2 ERGTEEREE) 2 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 EotRBEEERA 2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

2.3.1K1/E 2 A] 2.3.1Subsidiaries
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Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group as
Note 2.4.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated
balance sheet respectively.
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SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(Continued)

2.3.2 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, after initially being
recognised at cost.

2.3.3 Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group's share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments

is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.12.
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SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(Continued)

2.3.4 Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change
in ownership interest results in an adjustment between
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of
the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of control
or significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This
fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced
but joint control or significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred,

3 liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business,

o equity interests issued by the Group,

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:
o consideration transferred,

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

®  acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are
less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets
of the business acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.
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2.4

2.5

2.6

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as
the executive directors of the Company (“Executive
Directors”).
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(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they
relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net
investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net
investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or
loss, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the statement of
profit or loss on a net basis within ‘other gains, net'.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss
and translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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2.7
(c)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(i)  Income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.
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(d)

2.8

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share
of accumulated currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership
interest in associates or joint ventures that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.
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2.8

2.9

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

20 years
Shorter of remaining lease
term or useful lives

Motor vehicles 5 years

Furniture and office 3 -5 years
equipment

Advertising fixtures 2 - 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.92).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within ‘other gains, net’ in profit or loss.

Land use rights

Land use rights represents payment of land use rights
to the PRC's land bureau. Land use rights is carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided to write off
the cost of land use rights on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms. Land use right is grouped as part of
right-of-use assets.
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SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investment properties

2.11
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Investment properties, principally office and buildings,
are held for long-term rental yields and are not
occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially
measured at cost, including related transaction costs
and where applicable borrowing costs. Subsequently,
they are carried at fair value. Changes in fair values are
presented in profit or loss as part of other gains.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.4.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation
is made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes, being the operating segments
(Note 5).

Software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software, and are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of 5 years.

Brand name

Brand name acquired in a business combination is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. It has a
finite useful life of 10 years.
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2

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of
assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting date.

2.13 Financial assets

(i)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income
("OCl") or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in ‘other gains, net’ together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
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(i) FrE (&) (iii) Measurement (Continued)
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Debt instruments (Continued)

o FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in ‘other gains, net’. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains, net and impairment expenses are
presented in profit or loss.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net within ‘other
gains, net’ in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in profit or loss within other gains, net.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.
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(iv)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For
trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables. For details, please refer
to note 3.1(b).

2.14 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty. There is no offsetting
financial instruments as at 31 December 2022.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out method. Cost comprises all costs of purchase.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.
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2 EAREHHEEE) 2 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Trade and other receivables
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Trade receivables are amounts due from customers or
agents for merchandise sold or services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or less,
they are classified as current assets. Otherwise, they
are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less. Bank deposits with original maturities over three
months but less than one year are classified as ‘short-
term bank deposits’.

2.18 Share capital and shares held for employee share

scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
share options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity instruments, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to
the owners of the Company as treasury shares until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the
Company. Shares held by the Share Award Scheme
Trust are disclosed as treasury shares and deducted
from contributed equity.
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SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities (“PSCS")
issued by the Company give the right to the holder
to convert those securities into a fixed number of the
Company'’s shares at any time at a fixed exercise price
per share. The perpetual subordinated convertible
securities have no maturity date and are redeemable at
the option of the Company. These securities are equity
instruments.

2.20 Trade and other payables

2.21

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less. If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference
between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over
their period using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.
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2.21

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)
Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit
or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

(a)

The tax expense for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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(b)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely
through use.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the current and
prior periods.

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries and Hong Kong
subsidiaries contribute on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans and the mandatory
provident fund plan in Hong Kong, respectively. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due. Assets of the plans of the PRC subsidiaries are
held and managed by the relevant PRC government
authorities; while assets of the plans of the Hong Kong
subsidiaries are held in separate trustee-administrated
funds in Hong Kong. The assets of the plans are
separated from those of the Group.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.
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(a)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments of the Group.

Employee options

The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.
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2

(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Employee options (Continued)

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the
purposes of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period and grant
date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital and share premium.

If an equity award is cancelled by forfeiture, when the
vesting conditions (other than market conditions) have
not been met, any expense not yet recognised for that
award, as at the date of forfeiture, is treated as if it had
never been recognised. At the same time, any expense
previously recognised on such cancelled equity awards
are reversed from the accounts effective as at the date
of forfeiture.

Employee share award scheme

Under the employee share award scheme, shares
issued by the Employee Share Trust to employees for
no cash consideration vest immediately on grant date.
On this date, the market value of the shares issued is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity.

Share-based payment transactions among Group
entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments or shares to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with
a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity
accounts.
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2.25 & 2.25 Provisions
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow of resources will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow of resources with
respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.26 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured when or as the control of
the goods or services is transferred to a customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods and
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods and services is transferred
over time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to

the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.
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2 EBABHEEEE) 2 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 WA (&) 2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued)
HE R EREHESIELr — RN If control of the goods and services transfers over time,
% AIRAZRBRTE2EXNBHEETHE revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
EMmRE #HEER o AEEEAH D by reference to the progress towards complete
FERTEEE  WRERNEFEBENER satisfaction of that performance obligation. The Group
BEFAERABWA - TR WAREP use the output methods to measure the progress
ESE G M AR FS 52 i #E O Bes BHHE SR towards, that recognise revenue based on direct

measurements of the value transferred to the customer.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods and

services.

XEPAAREEEZHBHNET -t E Contracts with customers may include multiple
BAZHEmE AEEBRBEEHERE performance obligations. For such arrangements,
BEORRAZBRENEE - AEE— the Group allocates revenue to each performance
BEEBERNEFHRDNEREECERE obligation based on its relative standalone selling
B - BEEREETITEEER  QIHSF price. The Group generally determines standalone
FA T8 HARK AN DN B 3R s 48 S B T % BT A selling prices based on the prices charged to
FOEETEE - BFRAIERE ARG customers. If the standalone selling price is not
BME - Bt BEBEYRBOERTHEY directly observable, it is estimated using expected
EERESIEDRERMGEF  MEZER cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment

BEOIEER:E i K52 T PN approach, depending on the availability of observable
R o information. Assumptions and estimations have been

made in estimating the relative selling price of each
distinct performance obligation, and changes in
judgements on these assumptions and estimates may
impact the revenue recognition.

ESANTE—FIAREREA  ~NEER When either party to a contract has performed, the
BEBBARBEREPNRZEOBER Group presents the contract in the consolidated
ﬂ%EE\WEA/\WﬁFEFﬁE@JEA%’] balance sheet as a contract asset or a contract liability,
BEXEHARE depending on the relationship between the entity’s

performance and the customer’s payment.
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SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the Group presents the
contract liability when the payment is made or a
receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract
liability is the Group's obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration)
is due from the customer. Revenue is measured at the
fair value of the consideration received or receivable,
and represents amounts receivable for services
rendered, stated net of discounts and value-added
taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities
as described below. The Group bases its estimates
on historical results, taking into consideration the
type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement. The Group records
accounts receivables when the revenue recognized
since the Group has unconditional rights to payments
of advertising services which are due according to the
contract terms.

Advertising display services

Revenue from advertising display services is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
performance period for which the advertisements are

displayed.

Advertising production, installation and dismantling
services

Revenue from advertising production, installation and
dismantling services is recognised at a point in time
when the related advertisements is produced, installed
or dismantled.

Advertising consulting service

Revenue from rendering of consulting services is
recognised over the period in which the services are
rendered.
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2

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Rental income

Rental income from operating lease of properties is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

The Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities
of the Group in rendering the relevant services and
concluded that the Group has the primarily obligation
in rendering the services and has the sole latitude in
establishing prices. Accordingly, the Group records the
revenue of the advertising media on a gross basis.
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Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is
included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).

2.28 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.29 Government grants

Grants from government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

2.30 Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

The Group enters into concession right agreements
with media resources owners such as metro lines and
airports, under which the Group obtains the right
to use the media resources owners’ spaces for the
display of the advertisements. The concession rights
agreement is accounted for according to Note 2.31.

The concession fees payable to media resources
owners were typically comprised of a percentage
share of the revenue earned from the operations. The
concession fees were recognised in the period in which
they are actually incurred.
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2

2.31

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.
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2.31

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease payments to be made by a lessee to a lessor
for the right to use an underlying asset during periods
covered by an option to extend or terminate a lease
that are not included in the lease term.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases
held by the Group, which does not have recent
third-party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term,
country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on index or rate, which
are not included in the lease liability until they take
effect. When adjustments to lease payments based
on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is
reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.
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2.31

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

. any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term concession fee
and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-
term concession fee are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise small
advertising fixture and small items of office furniture.

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

All of the Group's lease modifications are not
accounted for a separate lease, the Group remeasures
the lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The Group accounts for
the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
assets. Please refer to Note 7 for details.
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2 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.32 Dividends distribution
Dividends distribution to the shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements in the period in which the dividend is
declared and approved by the shareholders or the
Board, where appropriate.

2.33 Insurance policy investments
Insurance policy investments are measured at
FVPL. The carrying amount of the insurance policy
investments represented the cash surrender value of
the insurance policies which approximates their fair

values.

2.34 Earnings/(Losses) per share

Basic earnings/(losses) per share

Basic earnings/(losses) per share is calculated by
dividing:

(a)

(b)

the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the
company, the distribution of PSCS by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share adjusts
the figures used in the determination of basic
earnings per share to take into account:

the after-income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risk factors: market risk (including foreign exchange
risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by the senior management of the Group and approved
by the Board.

Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries carried out their
principal activities in the PRC in RMB. The
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government. The exchange differences arising
upon translation of net assets of HK subsidiaries
with functional currencies in HKD to RMB are
recognised as currency translation differences
and recorded as part of other comprehensive
income.

As most of the Group'’s entities’ transactions
are denominated in functional currencies,
the directors are of the view that exchange
difference recognised in profit or loss arise from
the assets and liabilities denominated in other
foreign currencies is not material. Therefore,
no sensitivity analysis for these currencies is
presented.
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3.1
(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-
bearing bank deposits and bank borrowings. Bank
deposits and bank borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. Bank borrowings at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Other than interest-bearing bank deposits, the
Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets. The directors of the Company do not
anticipate there is any significant impact to
interest-bearing assets resulted from the changes
in interest rates, because the interest rates
of bank deposits are not expected to change
significantly.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings at fixed rate and
floating rate were as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
(&&E7)
(restated)
ZEEF X ERER Borrowings at fixed rate 61,084 48,635
ZEFBF R ERER Borrowings at floating rate 262,672 209,389
323,756 258,024
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3.1
(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, if the
floating interest rate on deposits and borrowings
had been higher/lower by 100 basis points (2021:
100 basis points) with all other variables held
constant, the post-tax loss (2021: post-tax loss)
would be approximately RMB1,442,000 lower/
higher (2021: RMB718,000 lower/higher) mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest on floating rate
deposits and borrowings.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because
of investments held by the Group, which are
classified as FVPL and FVOCI. The Group is not
exposed to commodity price risk.

The sensitivity analysis is determined based
on the exposure to price risk of the FVPL and
FVOCI at the end of each reporting period. If the
fair values of the FVPL held by the Group had
been 5% (2021: 5%) higher/lower, post-tax loss
(2021: post-tax loss) would be approximately
RMB352,000 lower/higher (2021: RMB275,000
lower/higher) for the year ended 31 December
2022. If the fair values of the FVOCI held by the
Group had been 5% (2021: 5%) higher/lower, the
other comprehensive income, net of tax would be
approximately RMB244,000 (2021: RMB258,000)
higher/lower for the year ended 31 December
2022.
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3.1
(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from short-term bank deposits,
bank balances (including restricted cash), trade and
other receivables excluding prepayments, FVPL
and FVOCI. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset in the consolidated balance sheet.

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Management
has policies in place and exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

To mitigate the risk arising from bank deposits, the
Group places their bank deposits to certain reputable
banks with a minimum rating of “investment grade”
ranked by an independent party or financial institutions
with high credit quality. The directors of the Company
do not expect any loss arising from non-performance
by these counterparties.

Trade receivables, other receivables and deposits are
continuously monitored by assessing the credit quality
of respective counterparties, taking into account its
financial position, past experience and other factors.
The Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
Impairment of financial assets

The Group has the following types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss model:

o Trade and other receivables

o Restricted cash

. Cash and cash equivalents

° FVPL

. FVOCI
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3.1
(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss model for
all trade receivables from third parties.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due.

The loss allowances of trade receivables are based on
assumptions about the risk of default and expected
loss rate. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, mainly based on the historical payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit
losses rate, forward-looking information at the end
of each reporting period. As at 31 December 2022,
the loss allowance on trade receivables amounted to
RMB89,911,000 (2021: RMB63,608,000).

Other receivables and deposits are measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The Directors consider the probability of
default upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been significant increase in credit risk on
an ongoing basis for the year. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk the Group
compares risk of a default occurring on the assets
as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It considered
the available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information and the indicators that the actual
or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant change to the third party’s ability
to meet its obligations. As at 31 December 2022,
the loss allowance on other receivables amounted to
RMB7,985,000 (2021: RMB4,229,000).
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ERMARAFEIAEMERS Wasst
HONEBRE ORRABEBERENE
RERRE - FHtHAERRERREE
R12EAMEHEE  EEERRE
HWREBRIE  BITABREENDERHR
BIIAORENREREME -

R B Rz (8 Bl & 5= B B = R W AR
R E ERIRETAE -

3.1
(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, substantially all
the bank balances as detailed in Note 17 are held
in major financial institutions located in Hong Kong
and Mainland China, which management believes are
of high credit quality. The Group has not incurred
significant loss from non-performance by these parties
in the past and management does not expect so in the
future.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with financial assets at FVPL as the
Group invests in treasury investment products with
high market credit rating, liquidity and stable return.
Management does not expect that there will be any
significant losses from non-performance by these
counterparties.

All of the entity's debt investments at FVOCI are
considered to have low credit risk, and the loss
allowance recognised during the period was therefore
limited to 12 months’ expected losses. Management
consider low risk of default and the issuer has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term.

The Group assesses the expected credit loss of the

trade receivables on individual and collective basis
separately.
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3 HBEREEE)

3.1 MBEBEEGE)

(b) 1EEER(E)
ERMEERME(E)
AR A EFRH(E S

ER B AN B R B sk Uk Bl R IR IE
EARBNZTLFEEMNERZE 25
FHERERE T AE R o TRIER
ZHHEAZ 5720224 K 2021412 A 31
HE@EB AR EUEERNEDRER
EiERE SR -

2022%12A31H 31 December 2022

=1
(b)

B%6fEA
Up to

6 months
ARETT
RMB'000

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on an individual
basis

Receivable relating to customers with known financial
difficulties or significant doubt on collection of
receivables are assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance. The following table presents
the balances of gross carrying amounts and the loss
allowance in respect of the individually assessed trade
receivables by invoice date as at 31 December 2022
and 2021:

6RZE
1288 15E2F  2FE3f% 3FENL @it
6 months to 1yearto  2yearsto Over
12 months 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
ARMTR ARBTR AR%TR ARMTR ARET:R
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

BHEEBRE Expected credit loss rate
RmefE Gross carrying amount
ERAR Loss allowance

20215124318 31 December 2021

100.00%
120
120

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% N/A FEA
2,242 1,760 674 36,791 41,587
2,242 1,760 674 36,791 41,587

&%6f8R
Upto

6 months

ARETFT
RMB'000

EAZ
12{& A 15526 2FE3f 3ENE &5t
6 months to Tyearto  2yearsto Over
12 months 2 years 3 years 3 years Total

ARBTL ARMTL ARMTT ARMTT ARETR

BHREERRX Expected credit loss rate
REaE(EEs]) Gross carrying amount (restated)
BERE(CEY) Loss allowance (restated)
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N/A TR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

NATER  NANER 100.00% 100.00%  N/A NER
- - 2,138 32,297 34,435
- - 2,138 32,297 34,435
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3.1
(b)

MEEREE )
BB E E ()

EE R (&)
EEMEERE(E
REREEGERMEEEE

B 122 18 Bl 2= 2E 7Y il 1O FE MR KON+ FEUR
RACREBEARNBLUEERBREHR
BHRBETHE  TERZFPHE
g mBEMEMRERER  SEER
&5 18 R e A A %% AR B U BR SR R0 R T AR
B SEMEEEORR -

TR HA S 18 R Ty AR 481 A A & 1 3K
BRMAAKENEEREE - BLERX
EEHE  URREZETPEEERYR
FRRE ) B R B AR R = B E AT AN AT AR 1
AR o REBEE B HHEm RS
PATFE B o B P b 0 B P A E AR(EL A
KR#HH O S&ARE R - XHERE
WRBZEAEZNRAECARELE

R2022F K 2021F 12 A31 HiZ#ZH
B EUERZUREEBE T ¢

2022F12A318 31 December 2022

BHREERR Expected credit loss rate
REEE Gross carrying amount
ERAR Loss allowance

2021128318 (& &5) 31 December 2021 (restated)

BEEEBEE Expected credit loss rate

REAEEES]) Gross carrying amount (restated)

BREEEE) Loss allowance (restated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on a collective
basis

Other than those trade receivables which were
assessed by individual basis, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared similar credit risk
characteristics and the days past due and collectively
assessed for the risk of default, taking in account the
nature of customer, its geographical location and its
ageing category, and applying the expected credit loss
rates to the respective gross carrying amounts of the
trade receivables.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales and credit losses experience over the
past 48 months. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the gross domestic product and export of
goods and services of Mainland China in which it sells
its goods and services to be the most relevant factors,
and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rate based
on expected changes in these factors.

The loss for impairment of trade receivables by
invoice date as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was
determined as follows:

6AZE
B%6f8 A 121848 1522 25 23% 3ENE @t
Up to 6 months to 1yearto  2yearsto Over

6 months 12 months 2 years 3 years 3 years Total

ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARMTR ARMTR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

1.07% 4.36% 17.33% 57.50% 57.92% N/A TEA
393,708 76,028 62,227 44,960 7,208 584,131
4,199 3,314 10,785 25,851 4,175 48,324

6fEAE
&%6{iA 12{6A 15528 2EEIE 3ELE @t
Upto 6 months to Tyearto  2yearsto Over
6 months 12 months 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
ARBTR  ARETR ARMTRT ARETT ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

1.05% 1.66% 13.3% 37.9% 95.5%  N/AMER
442,048 64,927 41,998 15,148 12,728 576,849
4,623 1,080 5,568 5,741 12,161 29,173
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3 B EEEE (&) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 MEERBEER(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) 1=EEE(E) (b)  Credit risk (Continued)
SRMEEREE) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
IREREELSEEHEEEER(E) Measurement of expected credit loss on a collective

basis (Continued)

72022412 A 31 B YRR 3R &% H th & The loss allowance for trade receivables and other
WERIEM EE R ARV EBEREN Y receivables as at 31 December 2022 reconciling to the
BRI : opening loss allowances as follows:

FE W R Hir WA
Trade receivables Other receivables

R12A31A R12A31A
As at 31 December As at 31 December

2022F 20215 20225 20215

2022 2021 2022 2021
ARETRE ARETT AR¥TR AR%TR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(E=5) (&=71)

(restated) (restated)

REA At beginning of the year 63,608 53,731 4,229 3,956
NEEREANSEEE Increase in loss allowance recognised in

& m profit or loss 26,214 10,513 3,622 271
HisH Written off - (386) - =
ERpEES Currency translation differences 89 (250) 134 2
RER At end of the year 89,911 63,608 7,985 4,229
ERFEA K @S BTERR - B Trade receivables are written off when there is no
T AMEE - NFER K E RS IRTEH reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
EEAF(ETRR)ERABEREASE there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
BEKENRTE - A REERRIETER amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
BIEELR BN - repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make

contractual payments upon termination of projects.
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3.1
(c)

MRRRERE)

P EEEEE)

B
AEEEEEBRARRERASEE
Y o MR EBHEIELE - NEE
MM BHPIBEERRRRENASE
BYMERESTHNELE - A&E
EHESRBERENETER - UER
HamarAeRHBRERTIZ2REE
ES o URREZMHEHRBEIGEHDN
AERRE  NWENEEHREARD
BeHFR -

AEBEBHNNZEER - ABH
EANELRS  YE-FEHERR
REFIANBEEES ©

TRLAEESRABERRAFERE
B #EHI B & R &R B 20 AR AR R O 2 HA
ARETTON - RAFFWRESER/AH
AMBRSRE(BREMRSHMEG
HEOHMEN) - HERGEHBRE
RKEEG  EERAREGREERN A
PERFEME R - RIREEFRESBARE
RAAZRERNZFEHEARN AT E
EEMBAK -

BB - RERBRZR N

R2022512A31R At 31 December 2022

WERZKEEEFE  Bank borrowings subject to a
RTRR repayment on demand clause

HhRiTiaa Other bank borrowings

ERSHREMENFE  Trade and other payables (Note)
(i)

HEEfR Lease liabilties

a3t Total

g

On demand

ABRTR
RMB'000

3.1
(c)

Less than

AE®TR
RMB'000

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and
cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group's finance department
maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate
cash and cash equivalents. The Group regularly
monitors compliance with lending covenants, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily
realisable marketable securities and adequate undrawn
facilities from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The Group continues its efforts to implement measures
to generate cash from new sales contracts, and to
further control capital and operating expenditures to
strengthen its working capital.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the year-end date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interests payments computed using
contractual rates). Where the loan agreement contains
a repayable on demand clause which gives the lender
the unconditional right to call the loan at any time, the
amounts repayable are classified in the earliest time
bracket in which the lender could demand repayment
and no interest payments were included.

Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash outflows

BENRLR
Total
contractual
cash flows
ARET T
RMB'000

BEEAEME
Carrying
amount of
liabilities
ARET T
RMB'000

SME SENE
Over

5 years
ARET R
RMB'000

Between

2 and 5 years
ARET T
RMB'000

Between
1year 1and2years
ARETR

RMB'000

64,514 - - - - 6451 64,514
- 96,390 67,584 123,224 - 287,198 259,242
- 311,306 - - - 311,306 311,306
- 996,146 508,203 650,112 147,395 2,301,856 2,102,439
64,514 1,403,842 575,787 773,336 147,395 2,964,874 2,737,501
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3 HBEREEE)
3.1 MBEBEEGE)
(c) mEtEmR (&)
AHMADH - RERRERH(E)

120215128318 (BZ7]) At 31 December 2021 (restated)
HERERER AN Bank borrowings subject to a

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash outflows
(Continued)

SEN £ BERAE
Carrying
Less than Between Between Over  contractual amount of

Tyear 1and2years 2and5 years Syears  cashflows liabilities
ARBTL  AR®TT ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

1,231 - - - - 1,231 1,231
- 128,080 54,580 83,765 - 266,425 250,787
- 235,861 - - - 235,881 235,881

- 10,244 - - - 10,244 10,244
- 1,188,900 1,085,151 1,667,301 478,476 4,419,828 4,395,552

BN repayment on demand clause
AfpSftant Other bank borrowings
ERESREMENE  Trade and other payables (Note)

(i)

BATEFINERES  Financial liabilities at fair value

THRE through profit or loss
EEET Lease liabilties
) Total

1,231 1,563,105 1,139,731 1,751,066 478476 4939615 4,899,701

Hret - REANERF R BN FORT 2 E BB
ARENFERETREN -
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Note: Trade and other payables excluded other taxes payables and
salary and staff welfare payables.
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3.2

MERBERE)

B EEEE(E)

wBtEE (&)

MBS -RERECERVHNAERE
REBHRAWBRTER(BEESFE)

R20225F12A31R

R2021512A318 (&E5]) At 31 December 2021 (restated)

EXEHE
AEBEEREARN B BERREAEHRE
FEKE  ARBRRGERE RN AEAM
Mes AR E S RN - AR SIEER
BB AR E AR

RERXLHABEARE - NREA R
EXNTREROBEESE - MEREE
B BIIHBROIELEEENRDE
% o

HEMRARME-H  AEEUEER
B RERENR o W RUFEBH IR
TERABERE FEHIRSIAE
RRB(BRAHEEABRMAIN IR
BRIFERDERDBRSLAEEFED
FE - R IR REHEA AEGER
NIEERRAEE -

At 31 December 2022

3.1
(c)

3.2

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings subject
to a repayment on demand clause based on
scheduled repayments (including interest
payable)

1ELEE  2FNEE
155/ 26U 5L L ik
More than  More than
1year but 2 years but
Within less than less than  More than Total
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Outflows
ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARET:
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
65,156 - - - 65,156
4,247 3,182 - - 7,429

Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the
shareholders, return capital to the shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt or cash/total equity.
Net debt or cash is calculated as total borrowings
(including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as
shown in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash
and cash equivalents. Total equity represents the
equity attributable to owners of the Company and non-
controlling interests.
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3 HXEREE(E)
3.2 BAXREHE(E)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Capital management (Continued)

R12A31H

As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T AREBTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(&==E7)
(restated)
IRITEREE (W E21) Total bank borrowings (Note 21) 323,756 258,024
B IRE RIBEEEY(HTiE17) Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) 333,320 315,625
EIRS Net cash (9,564) (57,601)
1R T Total equity 272,148 376,957

BEAMBLER

3.3 AVEMEE
AEERARENSRTANFSRE
EETHE BREDR/YVBKREB M
ARFEINR  BRE=ZRIFE- %
EMEERERASRERERS - K
BEREEEREMGEEERNESEEER

A
af ©

TREEETES TR A FEIERNS
BTA - TRBENERAT :

s RBBEEHABINVERMSTHR
BORERE) (F14) -

s ZBEXABAEEK(BER)XH
EZ(AEERGH) BRNB AR
B(E1RMBRMORERRIN (F2
&) o

o WHERABEMSBBENEER

BEHASE (T ERE AR
#)(FE3®) -
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Gearing ratio

TEA N/A TEA N/A

3.3 Fair value estimation

The Group performs the valuations of the Group's
financial instruments and non-financial assets that are
stated at fair value for financial reporting purposes,
including Level 3 fair values. These valuation results
are then reported to the senior management for
discussions in relation to the valuation processes and
the reasonableness of the valuation results.

The table below analyses financial instruments carried
at fair values, by valuation method. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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3 HXEBEEE) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 AFEKEE) 3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
TREJANEENR2022F12A31 B8R The following table presents the Group’s financial
ANEEF=ENSRT A : instruments that are measured at fair values at 31

December 2022:

E—& -t B st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

ARBTR ARBTR ARETR AR®TR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’'000

BRFEHABEER FVPL - - 8,433 8,433
BRAFENAEMES  FVOC
U zs 5,452 - 400 5,852
5,452 - 8,833 14,285
TREJAREER2021F12831 1R The following table presents the Group’s financial
ANEEFFENSRIA(KLEY]) : instruments that are measured at fair values at 31

December 2021 (restated):

FE—1 F_R BE=4
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

ARBTT ARBTET ARETRT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BAFEIABRER FVPL - - 6,511 6,511
BERAFEIAEMES  FVOCI
Yozm 6,094 - - 6,094
6,094 - 6,511 12,605
BAFENABZEN  Financial liabilities at fair
TRAE-EM value through profit or loss
HARME - Contingent consideration
payable = = 10,244 10,244
i —ERZAERBABIRIL IFER A If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
BRMSHEE  IZITERAFEIR - on observable market data, the instrument is included
F2HMT8R10GMIAR T ENEN in level 3. Refer to Notes 8 and 10 for disclosure of
BRAFEINABRERERAFEIAE the investment properties and the FVPL and FVOCI
iR e WA I - respectively, which are measured at fair value.
FA - BIREAEIRAFEBRI AL There were no significant transfers of assets between
Rl M B A& EE (20214 < MHMA]) © level 1 and level 3 fair value hierarchy classifications

during the year (2021: same).
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3 HXEREE(E) 3
3.3 AVEMGEE) 3.3

TR HE E2022F % 202112 A 31
BIFFENFEIRTAENE L

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
2021:

BZ12A31HLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARETTT
RMB’000
(&E7))
(restated)

ARBT R
RMB’000

RAAEREEERAT

BRAFEIIABERE
®1A1H

RE

N EWE (M E27)
Bl E =

M12831H

TAGR S R H
BSR4 E

BROAVEIARMBES WS
M1A1H

NE

NEREE

ERBEEH

R12A31H

FEAEMERS W
EEARE(T )

AR IZ A FEII AR iR kIR A FED
ARMERA KRBT - BN

HRAMFE0 ©
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A%

FVPL
At 1 January 6,511 6,209
Additions 506 486
Fair value gains (Note 27) 768 -
Currency translation difference 648 (184)
At 31 December 8,433 6,511
Total losses included in the statement

of comprehensive income 768 -
FVOCI
At 1 January 6,094 6,509
Additions 400 -
Fair value losses (1,165) (233)
Currency translation difference 523 (182)
At 31 December 5,852 6,094
Total losses included in the other

comprehensive income, net of tax (973) (195)

consolidated financial statements.

Details of FVPL and FVOCI are set out in Note 10 to
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3
3.3

MRRERERE)
DRPEGEE)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®ET T

ARBT R
RMB’000 RMB’000

(&E5)
(restated)

BRAFEIIABREN Financial liabilities at fair value

THEE-IANRE through profit or loss - contingent

consideration

W1A1B (&E5)) At 1 January (restated) 10,244 6,564
NEEEERE27) Fair value losses (Note 27) 6,598 3,922
e = Currency translation difference 1,129 (242)
BN EEERNRE Reclassified to consideration payable

(BHtetz2) (Note 22) (17,971) -
M12A31H At 31 December - 10,244

R2018F 10 A30H - AN&E et i
Radius Displays International Limited
(IRadius Displays|)51%E &1 -
Radius Displays & H fff & 2 =] ( 4t 18
% [Radius]) EBR HRHESBEART
& REME TR ARG TR AR
1% o IRBWERadiusVE BB © LR
WEE e B ERRERadiusH ST RBAL
MREE - EFRBFRANBARERE
BT FHRAERRRR28% @ SR K (H
A A18% ° B ERBREELITEN
REMEmEERNBYRETELH
R -

On 30 October 2018, the Group completed the
acquisition of 51% issued share capital of Radius
Displays International Limited (“Radius Displays”).
Radius Displays and its subsidiary (collectively as the
“Radius”) is principally engaged in the provision of
advertisement solutions, signage and urban furniture
design engineering and consulting services. In
accordance with the sale and purchase agreement
of the acquisition of Radius, total consideration of
this acquisition was based on the adjusted net profit
of Radius. The key assumptions adopted in the
projections including growth rate of revenue of 28%
for the next year and a discount rate (pre-tax) of 18%.
Management determined these key assumptions based
on their experience in the industry and expectations on
market development.
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MRREBERE)
APEGEEE)

R2022F12A31H » REHNANRE L

R ERadius IR REK B E - RE
AANREE17,971,000 ° EIH » %4 EEHE
B OB AEARE(MFE22) -

T REE KA E MR FE AR HK A

=
5 °

& Wk TR % A SR IR B BB 0 B BR T M
RREREEREATESERES - AR
BRENMBEENAFENZARSH
T AR B E AT 5H KELR
ARENREREMFTFH - FRIEIR
VRELTERX -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the final payment is
confirmed and agreed with the shareholders of Radius
at a consideration of RMB17,971,000. The amount is
therefore reclassified to consideration payable (Note
22).

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at
amortized cost.

The carrying values less impairment provision of the
current portion of receivables and payables are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. The fair
value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash
flows at the current market interest rate that is available
to the Group for similar financial instruments, unless
the effect of discounting is immaterial.
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(b)
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AEBSEN GG RAE - XIRBE
REMEBAR(BREERREMHNE
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REBEVRRREHEEBRER ZBR
BE  ARERMEHZEBRRSEER
BEfEHARER  REAKEZBHE
HENRCHE  BEENELNERS
HAR 2 ATRE Sl et 1E L I -

FTREZMEANFRERGHFMHRE
BIEE3.1(b) MR AB I EE

FETRMEERE
HELEEHABRES R BMEEKEE
Al REEAIE - AREHRTIETHE
E(BEYE BELRE ERAEE
ENEVEE)NRERBL BERES
EHBERERTERELZ BT RRE
& BRETWERSREAERESER
EEEER BELERSROAERSF
Bl -HeBRREEXNGREE(WE) -
STEREBRAEEAIKREISHE - &)
EREEEBUABHREEREL MG
it AEERBELRIABN RS
SAERESRME - RETAIREEHE
AEEERRAEMRXMANR RN
st ~ RIS YT 5 B OB S AT 4 (40
BA)  EBEEAMEmERSIREREH
BARER -

FREEEREFBHN A HUHERE
MizE7(a)A ©

(a)

(b)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Loss allowance of trade receivables

The loss allowance for trade and other receivables is
made based on assumptions about the risk of default
and expected credit loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group's historical payment profiles of sales, historical
default history, as well as forward looking estimates, at
the end of each reporting period.

Details of the key estimates used are disclosed in
the table in Note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment non-financial assets

Non-financial assets including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets,
are reviewed for impairment by the Group whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
related carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Determining whether impairment has occurred
typically requires various estimates and assumptions,
including determining which cash flows are directly
related to the potentially impaired asset, the useful
life over which cash flows will occur, their amount,
and the asset’s residual value, if any. Measurement
of an impairment loss requires a determination of
recoverable amount, which is based on management'’s
estimate with best information available. The Group
derives the cash flow estimates from historical
experience and internal business plans. To determine
recoverable amount, the Group uses cash flow
estimates discounted at an appropriate discount rate,
quoted market prices when available and independent
appraisals, as appropriate. The determination of
recoverable amount involved management judgements
and estimations.

Details of impairment of right-of-use assets are set out
in Note 7(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
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(c)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are many transactions and events
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Significant
judgement is required from the Group in determining
the provision for income taxes in each of these
jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

The Group recognises deferred income tax assets
based on judgement that it is probable to generate
sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future
against which the unutilised tax losses and the
deductible temporary differences would be utilised.
The recognition of deferred income tax assets mainly
involved management’s judgements and estimations
about the timing and the amount of taxable profits of
the companies which had tax losses.
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(d)

BAEE A RAME(E)
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EFIREARILMEESLD - A%
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@ AREEERYPAR AR
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AHAEE BETEHEANELTEH
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(d)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Lease identification and lease term and discount
rate determination

For all the lease contracts entered at the inception,
the Group has obtained the rights to control the use of
identified assets if the Group has obtained substantially
all of the economic benefits from the use of the
advertising space and the right to direct how and for
what purpose the assets are used throughout the lease
term. In determining if there is an identified asset for
the lease contract, the Group considers whether the
supplier has the substantive right to substitute the
asset.

In determining the lease term, the Group considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not
exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
periods after termination options) are only included
in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended (or not terminated). Potential future cash
outflows have not been included in the lease liability
because it is not reasonably certain that the leases will
be extended (or not terminated). The assessment is
reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in
circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and
that is within the control of the lessee.

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required
to exercise considerable judgement in relation to
determining the discount rate taking into account the
nature of the underlying assets and the terms and
conditions of the leases, at both the commencement
date and the effective date of the modification.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Executive Directors have been identified as
the chief operating decision-maker. The Executive
Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in
order to assess performance and allocate resources.
Executive Directors has determined the operating
segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors considered the business from
product perspective, and determined that the Group
has the following operating segments:

e  Airports business — operation of advertising
services in airports;

o Metro and billboards business — operation of
advertising services in metro lines; and billboards
and building solutions;

o Bus and other business — operation of advertising
services in bus exterior & interior, and bus shelter,
and also advertising services from other media
spaces.

The chief operating decision-maker assesses the
performance of the operating segments mainly
based on revenue and gross profit of each operating
segment. Majority of the businesses of the Group
are carried out in Mainland China and Hong Kong
during the year. Selling and marketing expenses and
administrative expenses are common costs incurred
for the operating segments as a whole and therefore
they are not included in the measure of the segments’
performance which is used by the chief operating
decision-maker as a basis for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
Other income, other gains, net, finance costs, net and
income tax expense are also not allocated to individual
operating segment.



SOt FEERERMEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEER(E) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
MEEErERE AR EIREHILEER There are no segment assets and liabilities information
BIEEE o provided to chief operating decision-maker.
EHYES B WERMT The segment information for the operating segments is

as follows:

&R Btk
BSER BERER Hn 5%

Metro and Bus and

Airports  billboards other

business business business Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

HZ2022F12A31BLFE

LiON
LN

£

EREDEARODERRER

A

AEEE

HERMEHRERX
TBRX
TREEREBRRFR
A
Hftilhas - 8

mEWA
AR A

REKK  FE

BRATRHAER

EREEENE
nx - BERRERE

BRAESH
REENAEBRFE
EREEENRERR

Year ended 31 December 2022

Revenue 554,240 596,368 502,618 1,653,226
Cost of revenue (383,829) (564,174) (436,059) (1,384,062)
Gross profit 170,411 32,194 66,559 269,164
Share of net profit of investments

accounted for using the equity method 14,259 3,702 - 17,961
Segment results 184,670 35,896 66,559 287,125
Selling and marketing expenses (149,306)
Administrative expenses (175,838)
Net impairment losses on financial assets (29,836)
Other income 35,651
Other gains, net 154,758
Finance income 2,203
Finance costs (208,432)
Finance costs, net (206,229)
Loss before income tax (83,675)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 421,916 393,968 169,372 985,256
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 29,812 11,814 832 42,458
Amortisation of intangible assets - - 2,054 2,054
Net impairment losses on financial assets 19,790 6,676 3,370 29,836
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets - 6,923 9,827 16,750
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

HEER

Airports

business
ARETT
RMB’000
(==7])
(restated)

Year ended 31 December 2021

&
BEEER
Metro and
billboards
business
ARETT
RMB’000
(==5)
(restated)

Btk

H R
Bus and
other
business
ARETT
RMB'000
(s E=5)
(restated)

A=
st

Total
ARETT
RMB’000
(==5)
(restated)

Revenue 630,893 695,669 568,458 1,895,020
Cost of revenue (429,080) (576,920) (530,938)  (1,536,938)
Gross profit 201,813 118,749 37,520 358,082
Share of net profit/(loss) of investments

accounted for using the equity method 15,891 (17,033) = (1,142)
Segment results 217,704 101,716 37,520 356,940
Selling and marketing expenses (147,919)
Administrative expenses (185,069)
Net impairment losses on financial assets (10,784)
Other income 35,213
Other gains, net 55,186
Finance income 2,276
Finance costs (246,709)
Finance costs, net (244,433)
Loss before income tax (140,866)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 326,004 426,556 167,156 919,716
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 17,097 4,958 6,038 28,093
Amortisation of intangible assets = = 2,014 2,014
Net impairment losses on financial assets 10,373 399 12 10,784
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets - 21,412 - 21,412

media spaces.

Bus and other business represent revenue from other
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5 22HRERE) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
WABEATEIE : Revenue consisted of the following:

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
(18 &%)
(restated)
E A EMmURA Advertising display revenue 1,347,499 1,521,556
EEEE - R RIFHIA Advertising production, installation and
dismantling revenue 305,727 373,464
1,653,226 1,895,020
REERANWAERRHAT The timing of revenue recognition of the Group's

revenue was as follows:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 20214

2022 2021

ARET T AREFIT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

(&E=7))

(restated)

BE RF I FE R A A Revenue over time 1,347,499 1,521,556
A — BB RER A U A Revenue at a point in time 305,727 373,464
1,653,226 1,895,020
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5 oSHERE) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
REEBRAWM RS BT : The geographical distribution of the Group's revenue
was as follows:

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR® T AREFIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
C=2D)
(restated)
B A Mainland China 1,126,523 1,336,316
a5 Hong Kong 526,703 558,704
1,653,226 1,895,020
AEBHEEAERF  BEXMNEFE The Group has a large number of customers, none of
BRI B AR AR10%IA L o which contributed 10% or more of the Group's total
revenue.
REENERBEE(ERITARERL The Group's non-current assets other than financial
IS EERIN MR BE A - HB instruments and deferred income tax assets were
NEAME - BEBMT : located in Mainland China, Hong Kong and others as
follows:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 2021

ARET T AR¥ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

(g=E75)

(restated)

AR B A i, Mainland China 1,318,955 3,344,961
aBH Hong Kong 428,944 617,867
Hitb Others 22,489 4,439
1,770,388 3,967,267
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6 WX BENKE

R2021E151R(BE5)

A

Zithhe

EEFE

BZ0211512A31ALEE
(BE7)

HNREFE

&

WeHio)

WEHBRR(H234)
HERBAR K23
e

EMpEES

HREEFE

R2021%£12531R (£E7)
A

2iE

BEFE

HZ2022512B31B L EE
BIERAEAD)

AE
iR
&
EMABES
BRERFE
R2022512A318
A

2ithhE
ERFE

At 1 January 2021 (restated)
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2021
(restated)

Opening net book amount

Additions

Depreciation (Note 24)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35)

Disposals

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2021 (restated)
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2022
Opening net book amount (restated)
Additions

Depreciation (Note 24)

Disposals

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2022
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BEN

Buildings
ARETR
RMB'000

RERHE

Advertising
fixtures
AEETR
RMB'000

BENEEE

Motor
vehicles
ARETT
RMB'000

Leasehold
improvements
N S
RMB'000

FRR
HARME
Furniture
and office
equipment
ARETT
RMB'000

it

‘Total
ARETT
RMB'000

26,401 251,034 17,73 9,361 27113 331,443
6777 (222282) (13,605) (7,161) 1943 (269,259
19,624 28752 4129 2200 1479 62,384
19,624 28752 4129 2,200 7679 62384
- 53,030 1,562 - 1,397 55,989
(2,284 (20,645) (2,154) (199) (2,209 (28,099)
56,333 - - - - 56,333
- 3,441 - (126) (113 (3,882

i . - (64) (75) (139
(78) (164) (10 (12 761 (207)
72,889 57,332 351 1,197 7,440 142,385
81,938 29,638 18,734 8,703 27,848 133,861
0049 (239308 (15,207) (7,506 0408) (291476
72,889 57,332 35 1,197 7,440 142,385
72,889 57,332 352 1197 740 142,385
(458) 28,989 3,984 823 18,115 51,453
(309 (30,804) (5,248) (705) (2607 (42458)
- - - (122) (30) (152)
4,984 Gl 15 38 1,300 6,648
74,321 55,828 2,278 1,231 U8 157,87
86,623 327487 22,993 8,355 g313 4921
(12302 @M659)  (20,715) (7124) (23,095  (334,895)
74,321 55,828 2,278 1,231 U8 157,87
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6 WX MERREE)

FEXHRaHEaKRERPE TR
AIFIVERX

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Depreciation charges were expensed in the following
categories in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 AOVA

ARET T AREFIT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

(&E=7)

(restated)

W A B AR Cost of revenue 34,496 20,634
THEEX Administrative expenses 5,665 5,857
HERTSHEERE Selling and marketing expenses 2,297 1,602
42,458 28,093

MR2021F12A31H @ 2R\ E®EFE
A AR 7,436,000 H) 2 EE W {E A RTT
BRI - PR2022F12 8318 © #
IR EEY) o

BAEEREEERAT 2022 FH 160

As at 31 December 2021, buildings with net book value
of RMB7,436,000 were pledged as security for bank
borrowings. As at 31 December 2022, no buildings
were pledged.
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7 ERAEEEREESE 7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES
(a) MEMEEEEBERBERNES (a) Balance recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet
(EHEESE Right-of-use assets
T fE AR BERE NS @3
Land use Advertising

rights fixtures Office Total
ARBTT ARETT ARETRT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
R2021F1A18 (BE5) At 1 January 2021 (restated) 19,649 2,888,368 12,106 2,920,123
E Additions - 1,797,070 23,386 1,820,456
e #24) Depreciation (Note 24) (568) (907,733) (11,415) (919,716)
HEME R R (A:235) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) - (85,575) (1,245) (86,820)
®E Termination - (7,392) (221) (7,613)
BB (Hi24) Impairment loss (Note 24) - (21,412) - (21,412)
EMnEEE Currency translation differences - (16,236) (193) (16,429)
202151283108 (KE5) At 31 December 2021 (restated) 19,081 3,647,090 22,418 3,688,589
NE Additions - 88,478 5,346 93,824
WE(Hizt24) Depreciation (Note 24) (568)  (975,025) (9,663)  (985,256)
2k Termination - (1,247,724) (2,741) (1,250,465)
B% Modification - (149,118) - (149,118)
BEERE(HiF24) Impairment loss (Note 24) = (16,750) = (16,750)
ERMEEE Currency translation differences = 36,971 567 37,538
#2022512H831H8 At 31 December 2022 18,513 1,383,922 15,927 1,418,362

R2021412A318 @ B EBERFE
AR ¥11,025,00000 -0 (F A #E - &
AIRITHE RO - 7820224F 12 A 31
B EKAB L ERE -

As at 31 December 2021, land use right of net book
value of RMB11,025,000 were pledged as security for
bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2022, no land use
right were pledged.

2022612 A318 - AEBE&EA#E
BER/ART,418,362,000(20214F :
AR¥3,688,589,000) A {E AT it Z 7
ReEtBN(ReELBMN ) ET
AELRAEMEENREEMMNNRSR
ARBBIZ RS RA KR/ A E R E
EER -

The Group had right-of-use assets of RMB1,418,362,000
(2021: RMB3,688,589,000) as at 31 December 2022.
The impairment assessment is performed on the basis of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU"), which is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets.
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(a)
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HRBREFRORESELEM - A%
BERBEEAEBEERFERDEKRA
MEPNRSE  FEZEREELE
MR Bl S5 - U HRREReESL
BAETRERNE - REEEEMAA
WEeBEDREERAEEAEEE - £
BAFEBROERANFELSS

BEH THERATKRESENEIE@A
BEERFRHEHEREREMAIIHIRE
2022128318 - BEKPEAM
BENMANFEREHEERDBIR5%E
40% K2 5%ZE10% ° & E A U8 @ & B
MR ATRA IR R B13% ©

MEHRTHBABEENEREETEK
RRESEEEMHETE - Bt - &
F2022F12A31BIEFE @ AEERE
RIEFAEEEREAREK16,750,000
(20214 : AR #21,412,000) (Fft 5%
24) °
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(a)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

Balance recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, management carried out
an impairment assessment for the right-of-use assets
when there are impairment indicators. The Group
regards each lease contract for advertising fixtures as a
separately identifiable CGU and performed impairment
assessments on each of the CGU with impairment
indicators by considering the recoverable amount of
such assets at contract level.

For CGU with impairment indicators, the Group has
performed impairment assessments on the relevant
CGU by assessing their recoverable amounts based
on the higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs
of disposal. The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which
are higher than the fair value less costs of disposal
calculations.

Key inputs to the determination of the recoverable
amount over the remaining lease period includes
annual sales growth and pre-tax discount rate. As at 31
December 2022, the annual sales growth used by each
contract in Hong Kong and the Mainland China is 5% to
40% and 5% to 10%, respectively. The pre-tax discount
rate used to determine the recoverable amounts is
13%.

The value-in-use calculations covering a period of the
remaining lease term were lower than the carrying
amounts of the CGUs. Accordingly, the Group
recognised an impairment of the right-of-use assets of
RMB16,750,000 during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: RMB21,412,000) (Note 24).
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7 ERAEEEREESE#E)

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(a) REHEEEBREIANER(E) (a) Balance recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet (Continued)
HEARE Lease liabilities

BIERAER >
FERNERER >

HERBEHAR

(b) REFFRERBRPERNEHE

EREEENERX
(KHtez24)
HERENEMAX
(Ktez28)
HEHHERFREEE RN
Pz (Hiit24)
EEERBFAZEEEE
(Ktet24)

ERS R RELY A ARET65,351,000
(20214 : AR¥£864,947,000) °

R12A31H

As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARMT T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
(g&E75)
(restated)
Current portion 929,154 1,172,678
Non-current portion 1,173,285 3,222,874
Total lease liabilities 2,102,439 4,395,552

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARBTFIT
RMB’'000
(=E751)
(restated)

AR®TT
RMB’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use

assets (Note 24) 985,256 919,716
Interest expenses on lease liabilities

(Note 28) 199,089 238,115
Expenses related to short-term

concession fee (Note 24) 198,500 319,421
Variable concession fee charges for

advertising spaces (Note 24) 114,500 131,246

The total cash outflow of leases was approximately
RMB765,351,000 (2021: RMB864,947,000).

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2022 Annual Report 163



S OFE R R MIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g9)

ERAEEEREEREE)

FEENEEED
AEEHEZRESRE WRERL
WERE BEREMMAENEES
HW—RIIEV4FOHRARETIL - HEK
RNEEFEREE XEESBTRA
B 16K e (R o THE 2 BEXE DA AEAA
R

AR AE AR

B EE A A B R BE LA
ELXHERH - ENEHMmE - 1&ZA
BENRIERAEE  HEAOHENT
A% ZE25% ° 5 A A] B4 5k k0B 2 1818
B B R E S RS E E KA
A RTHEHEMEMNATEHENTRA
R 114,500,000 7 8 2% 15 30 2 4 2%
FHRARIBRERER(2021F « AR
#131,246,000) o ] & FH &~ Z I FEER
R EER B B E = Kat AUk

EERRIERE

LEEBSNAEBE THAFEEHE
HEP c ZEBRFHRIRAEEER
SELEMEREE L RIEGAEE
BEl - IBEATSEERKILEE
ATAAEEITFE HELDHEATAIT
fif o 720225 12H318 ' BEM KK
/LA E ARM1,069,357,000 (5 Bh
R)WEAFAHEGERN  AAETES
EREHAOGELTCRE(2021F : AR
1,051,797,000) °

W ARG ECREFEHEARNES

HE2022F12A31HIEEE - K
EBEABEAMBED I EEL A
ENHENBEAKXRRESRHAA
R ¥ 113,047,000 (20214 : AR
301,357,000) °

COVID- 19t EE
AREBBEHEACOVID-19&EmME
FEANHSEEEANTITERS I
BIE BB BRELENE1657EEZ
{EFICOVID-1918 £ B = | & M
ORI o
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group's leasing activities

The Group leases various advertising fixtures, offices
and land use rights. Rental contracts of advertising
fixtures and offices are typically entered into for a
period of 1 to 14 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease arrangements
do not impose any covenants.

Variable lease payments

Some leases contain variable payment terms that
are linked to sales generated from a contract. For
individual contract, the basis of variable payment
terms with percentages was ranging from 4% to 25%
of sales. Variable payment terms are used for a variety
of reasons, including minimising the fixed costs base
for newly established advertising fixture. Variable lease
payments of RMB114,500,000 that depend on sales are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
condition that triggers those payments occurs (2021:
RMB131,246,000). Variable lease payments does not
depend on an index or rate recognised as an expense
and included in cost of revenue.

Extension and termination options

Extension is included in certain concession lease
agreement across the Group. These are used to
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing
the assets used in The Group’s operations. The
majority of extension and termination options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not by
the respective lessor. As at 31 December 2022,
potential future cash outflows of RMB1,069,357,000
(undiscounted) have not been included in the lease
liability because it is not reasonably certain that the
leases will be extended. (2021: RMB1,051,797,000).

Lease not yet commenced to which the lease is
committed

As at 31 December 2022, the future cash outflows
to which the Group is potentially exposed for
lease not yet commenced to which the lease is
committed amounted to RMB113,047,000 (2021:
RMB301,357,000).

COVID-19-related rent concessions

The Group has applied practical expedient to all rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of
the COVID-19 pandemic with adoption precondition
met under the “COVID-19-related rent concessions
amendment to HKFRS 16 Leases”.
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(9)

ERAEEEREERE#E)

COVID-19t8E@E e EE (&)

& B EARKE146,438,000(2021 4 :
AER#87,129,000) 58 E COVID-1948#EHH
202256 A30R 2 pIERELEMEE
N EE) - EREZE2022F128318 1k
FEFABHERADSBERRBERFTAEB
mAREATERENK -

BREM=

(g9)
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

COVID-19-related rent concessions (Continued)
Rent concession amounting to RMB146,438,000
(2021: RMB87,129,000) represents the change in
lease payment arising from COVID-19-related rent
concession before 30 June 2022 and has been
accounted for as a variable lease payment by
derecognising part of the lease liabilities and crediting
to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ARETT
RMB’000

N2021F1818 (KE5) At 1 January 2021 (restated) 9,255
U BE B B A 3] (A1 £ 34) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) 32,261
N EESH) Changes in fair value 14,311
BEMEERE Currency translation differences 513
M2021%E128318 (&£ E%|) At 31 December 2021 (restated) 56,340
N2022F1818 (KE5) At 1 January 2022 (restated) 56,340
N=E Additions 41,388
NEEED) Changes in fair value (2,804)
A2022%12H31H At 31 December 2022 94,924

R2022F & 2021F 12 A31H » A&
EMREMERNFEIFNBARE
94,924,000 % A R#56,340,000 * J5H
AARESL2RBEUAERIEMGERM
ERPRELEEFHEREARA &
MoGREEHELEETHERA
RIEITHEEREFE(20214F : b ERFP K
EZEFHARETAA) o HEHFH
HELBAETT  UREIZWEARE
BEMAOKUEMERNERR TREH
& UK2BREEMS LA/ L E
ERG - WEWENAFEFES AR
AR EERFHEIL

The fair values of the Group’s investment
properties were approximately RMB94,924,000 and
RMB56,340,000 as at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
respectively, as determined by the directors of the
Company with reference to the valuation performed
by Beijing Zhong Tian Hua Asset Appraisal Company
Limited (tRFPRELEENHBREMELLT]), Roma
Appraisals Limited and Yunnan Sanyang Kaitai Real
Estate Land Assets Appraisal Co., Ltd. (EF =[5
i E + & E T L AR A F]), independent qualified
professional valuers (2021: Beijing Zhong Tian Hua
Asset Appraisal Company Limited (b R REZE
FHEBMREIEZAR]). Valuation was performed using
the direct comparison method on the assumption
that the property can be sold in its existing state
subject to existing tenancies or otherwise with the
benefit of vacant possession and making references
to comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market. The fair value measurement of the
investment properties is categorised within level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.
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8 REWXR#E)

(a) RENHGEUBRTPERIANRENXS

#

REMENHSBA

R2022F K 2021F12831H » A&EE
MES A REEREEM R RBEDNS
HEE -

(b) FHEZRH
WEMEMNFERARM - DRIRELE
AHOEAFEE  eBARASIN - &
BEMEASTIUEKEHEIE T EKE
ERLMT :

8
(a)

(b)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Amounts recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for investment properties

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20224 20214

2022 2021

ARBTR
RMB’000

ARET T
RMB’000
(&E5)

(restated)

Rental income from investment properties 336 305

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no
un-provided contractual obligations for future repairs
and maintenance.

Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are located in Mainland
China and leased to tenants under operating leases
with rental payable monthly. Minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases of investment
properties are receivable as follows:

M12A31H
As at 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 AOVA
ARBT T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(&&75)
(restated)
156K Within one year 248 317
iR FEAEZRN2F Later than one year but not later than 2
years 54 197
302 514
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9 HEFEEE 9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

L a4 3

Brand Computer

Goodwill name software Total
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETL
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

R2021F1818 (REF)) At 1 January 2021 (restated)

%N Cost 2,260 14,557 5,789 22,606
Rt Accumulated amortisation = (2,911) (3,539) (6,450)
REFRE Net book amount 2,260 11,646 2,250 16,156

HZ2021F12A3181LEE  Year ended 31 December 2021

(&%) (restated)
HREFE Opening net book amount 2,260 11,646 2,250 16,156
NE Additions - - 285 285
BiH(it24) Amortisation (Note 24) - (1,435) (579) (2,014)
HE Disposal - = () (5
EEHEZEE Currency translation differences (65) (310) (25) (400)
HREMTFE Closing net book amount 2,195 9,901 1,926 14,022

H2021F12A318 (BE5|) At 31 December 2021 (restated)

(BN Cost 2,195 14,143 5,911 22,249
EYg fi Accumulated amortisation = (4,242) (3,985) (8,227)
BEEFE Net book amount 2,195 9,901 1,926 14,022

HZ2022F12A3181LFE  Year ended 31 December 2022

BRI HE(KET) Opening net book amount

(restated) 2,195 9,901 1,926 14,022
NE Additions - - 205 205
B (H224) Amortisation (Note 24) - (1,493) (561) (2,054)
HE Disposal - - - -
BRBREER Currency translation differences 204 862 67 1,133
HREMFE Closing net book amount 2,399 9,270 1,637 13,306
R2022512A31A At 31 December 2022
A Cost 2,399 15,452 6,308 24,159
Rt Accumulated amortisation - (6,182) (4,671) (10,853)
BREFE Net book amount 2,399 9,270 1,637 13,306
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BILEE(E)
HE2022F N2021F12A31H IEF
€ BT HRITEE R IIER S -

B R (B R
ReELBEUNATKESBN2EEA
BESAEEERE °

Rt R EEFESER 235
BIBEEREEREAF(2021F : £
F)IEB e I AT EIE R AT IR &
mETBERAMANETERE - BAHI
SNIREMETNE ARG R X
B -EERAEXrERBEEMAAIIE X
18% (20214 : 18%) * Wz=1E & F 1
R E10% (20214 : 10%) k& miG &
K 1%(20214F : 1%) o R 2022F 12 A
38 - ARREFLEREREEE
Radius Displays#) (S EE R IEE - Al
= B RESRERERRBES
AEELRE  EARESELSMMEF
AU [el & FE R Y H AR (A o
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Amortisation charge was expensed in administrative
expenses during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit is determined by reference to the value-in-use
calculation.

In assessing the value-in-use calculation, references
were made to the calculations using pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial plans approved by
management covering a forecast period of 5 years
(2021: 5 years). Cash flows beyond the forecast period
are extrapolated using the estimated long-term growth
rates. The key assumptions applied includes pre-tax
discount rate 18% (2021: 18%), compound annual
growth rate of revenue 10% (2021: 10%) and terminal
growth rate of 1% (2021: 1%). As at 31 December
2022, the directors of the Company consider that
no impairment of goodwill has been made as the
estimated recoverable amount of CGUs exceeded
their carrying values after considering the value-in-use
calculation for the business value of Radius Displays
and the nature, prospects, financial condition and
business risks.
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10 BRAFEIAEZREZAFEET 10 FVPL AND FVOCI
AHMERE WS
(a) BRAFEIIANEBEZRER (a) FVPL

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022 20214
2022 2021
ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(re&E75)
(EHEIE))
READ At beginning of the year 6,511 6,209
NE Additions 506 486
RERRERN D P ER R Fair value gains recognised
(B:t27) in profit or loss (Note 27) 768 -
BERBmE=E Currency translation difference 648 (184)
RER At end of the year 8,433 6,511
BRAFEINABREEMETEEEE The FVPL represented two key management life
MASEREYUBITEE - NEE A insurance policies which are denominated in HKD. The
ZERBENZ A - REBEBBHER Group is the beneficiary of the insurance policies. The
EHRBEVFRNBET  TEEEEBAS investments in key management life insurance policies
REREORERGIMIEATFEIAELR were mandatorily measured at fair value through profit
BRETE o or loss in accordance with HKFRS9.
R2022F K 2021612 H31H » R E As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying
KEMNERBERRRENRESRRE amounts of the insurance policy investments
B BHAEAFEMRSE(FHFF3.3) - represented the cash surrender value of the insurance

policies which approximates their fair values (Note 3.3).
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10 BAFEIAEBZERIRAFEETY 10 FVPL AND FVOCI (Continued)
AHMZEEWE (&)
(b) EAFEIAHMERSWE (b) FVOCI

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20225 20214

2022 AOVA

ARBTT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB‘000

(gg=E71)

(EHEIE))

READ At beginning of the year 6,094 6,509

NE Additions 400 -
R E A AR S Yo FERR Fair value losses recognised in other

NTEEE comprehensive income (1,165) (233)

e s Currency translation difference 523 (182)

REL  9RFERFRIELT At end of the year, all non-current and

unlisted

MR2022F 128318 » I AFEIAE
wmR MR A FEY AR MRS WESH A
BEILETE - RAFEIAE MRS K
ZAFEEEREEFECHEEFE
HE °

RE AR EN SR EERR AL

NFEIABERRIZAFEIIAEM
fFAWEMAREE -
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5,852 6,094

As at 31 December 2022, both FVPL and FVOCI are
denominated in HKD. The fair value of FVOCI are
approximately the net assets value of the unquoted

bond funds.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of the FVPL and FVOCI.
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11 ZREHEIsNEMIA 11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

BATE

g & RAFE S\ E Aty
A A RRHY LIPS malkzEz
TREE ZERMEE EHEITE
Equity
Financial instruments
Financial assets at fair value
assets  at fair value through other
at amortised through comprehensive
costs profit or loss income
ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
"2022612H831H At 31 December 2022
JEURBR N Efth fEUg kT8 Trade and other receivables
(T BEEEMTERNKIE) excluding other
prepayments 732,870 - -
BRATEY ABER FVPL - 8,433 -
BRAFEIAEMEZEE KRGS FVOC - - 5,852
SEHIRE Restricted cash 31,797 = =
RERBEEED Cash and cash equivalents 333,320 - -
1,097,987 8,433 5,852
720215128318 At 31 December 2021
C<E=27)) (restated)
FEUBR AR E M EUWFIE  Trade and other receivables
(B IEE M TR FRIE) excluding other
prepayments 865,084 — —
BAFEIABRE FVPL - 6,511 ~
BATEIAEMEEAEKE FVOCI - - 6,094
ZRRHI3E Restricted cash 26,884 = -
RBe RIBLEEY Cash and cash equivalents 315,625 = =
1,207,593 6,511 6,094
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11

BRERNEINEMIE (&) 11

7A2022%128318

&

R A5 BR AR N L A 8 A5 SR IR
HE&AE

M20215612A31H
(REY)

183

FE ST BR R R H A FE A 3R IR

FERT SRR E

HERE
BAGEEEEERAT 2022 FiR 172

(Continued)

At 31 December 2022
Borrowings

Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

At 31 December 2021
(restated)

Borrowings

Trade and other payables

Contingent consideration
payable

Lease liabilities

HEAE

Lease
liabilities

ARETTT

RMB’000

B8R AN
ATRWEE

Liabilities at
amortised
cost
ARETTT
RMB’000

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

RAYE

Hll A8z B8R
HemEE
Financial
liabilities

at fair value
through
profit or loss
ARETTT
RMB’'000

- 323,756 -
- 3111306 -
2,102,439 - -
2,102,439 635,062 -
- 258,024 -
- 235,881 -
- - 10,244
4,395,552 - -
4,395,552 493,905 10,244
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12 ERABSEEARNKRE

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20225 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T ARBTIT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
(g=E5)
(restated)
REY] At beginning of the year 58,664 42,609
STE(HaE) Capital injections (Note) - 26,654
FE(L 24 Share of results 17,961 (1,142)
f% 2 Dividends - (9,866)
BB EZ Currency translation differences (160) 409
TEFE R At end of the year 76,465 58,664
st - Note:

20215 AEBEKRBRTHRESEERA
Al ([ERB A ) BRENE60% TP E49% » A
B EERTHEN —SESERNEREE AR
SECRAREFEERETERENBEHETER
RBEEARVENKE - st - BE2021F12831
BLEECHERARTHTHENREARZAARYE
4,678,000 ° FF1E7E R MIFE35() °

202161818 B8 H 448K 2 3 &R
BERAR([REMEER]) D RIFE RZHEEE
EEERR AR ([REHES ) 60%HE K& 40% H A%
T RERH A LSRTHNHBARZ—  &E
RFHEERAGEHIREEE T LG4 - DAEH
EEERE - A - B2021F1 A1 8 - REHE
BERTHEERZEEET LBRAH - ENES
EEERASHAUBRBETEREER  AEEX
ETHEEE  XRERGAUTBAAEENHEA
Ao Bt - HZE2021F12A31H L FEEHER
IS AR ANAERS A ARK 21,976,000 © IEEL
BIFTE35(b) °

AT AKRERR2022F12 A31BNBE AT » T
A AR EASEERERSS - HEMAZBERN
REFZLEHE -

During the year of 2021, the Group’s equity interest in Zhuhai Asiaray
Newspaper Media Company Limited (“Zhuhai Asiaray”) decreased
from 60% to 49% while one of the board members from Shanghai
Asiaray was removed and consequently the Group only maintains two
out of five board member with significant influence over the board
decision. In this regard, the equity interest of shareholding of Zhuhai
Asiaray with RMB4,678,000 was recognized during the year ended 31
December 2021. For details, please refer to Note 35(a).

As at 1 January 2021, Shanghai Asiaray and Tianjin Metro Resources
Investment Company Limited (“Tianjin Metro Resources”) held
60% and 40% equity interest respectively of Tianjin Yatie Media
Communication Company Limited (“Tianjin Yatie”). Tianjin Yatie is
one of the subsidiaries of Shanghai Asiaray as Tianjin Metro Resource
granted its voting right to Shanghai Asiaray to control over the board
decision. However, Tianjin Metro Resources has no longer assigned
its voting right to Shanghai Asiaray since 1 January 2021. Given it is
required to have unanimous consent to pass board resolutions, the
Group lost control and Tianjin Yatie is ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Group since then. In this regard, the equity interest of shareholding
of Tianjin Yatie with RMB21,976,000 was recognized during the year
ended 31 December 2021. For details, please refer to Note 35(b).

Set out below were the associates of the Group as at 31 December
2022. The associates as listed below were held directly by the Group,
their countries of incorporation are also their principal places of
business.
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12 EAERZEARNREE)

RRE AR/ HIAH
Date of incorporation/

Name of entity establishment

ERAAREARAT 200654 A29E

Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 29 April 2006
Company Limited

AR ERRERAT 2013597298
(TRYIS R4 )

Shenzhen Airport Asiaray Media 29 September 2013
Company Limited
(“Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”)

hEERERARAA 201858 3228

Zhuhai Yueya Media Company Limited 22 August 2018

THESERNREERARAR 2020697308

Jiangsu Zhihui Space Advertising 30 September 2020
Media Company Limited

REREEEXBRARAA 2017412208

Zhuhai Asiaray Newspaper Media 20 December 2017

Company Limited

RERHAREERARAR(IRZREE]) 201743A278
Tianjin Yatie Media Communication 27 March 2017
Company Limited (“Tianjin Yatie")

ZEMENRRAZLERAEEMNE
BAERH - IRHERET BRI
BEFRMGHKS

BENRRAZEEERMH/IIFLTA
B BMYEASHE - REABEAEE
REERRIREERRMERNEANN
REABREXRAE  BBERRREE
EREREEXRFNEAEETEEKR

BRAIREEDENEXERTY
BARPXBEEEND

ARBEERR RIS HEC G AR
SEMEBERX -
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12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

mendy/ fiEg

AftIER  BEME RELH ZHME

Place of business/ Percentage

country of Nature of of ownership

incorporation relationship interest Nature of business

e BERm 2022:30% REREEPHESER

the PRC Associate (2021: 30%) Development and operations of out-

of-home advertising media

i NG 2022:49% RERBLPNESEE
(2021: 49%)

the PRC Associate Development and operations of out-
of-home advertising media

el NG| 2022:40% FERLCEFHEEER

the PRC Associate (2021: 40%) Development and operations of out-
of-home advertising media

el i 2022:49% FERCEFHEEER

the PRC Associate (2021: 49%) Development and operations of out-
of-home advertising media

el N 2022:49% FERLEFPHESER

the PRC Associate (2021: 49%) Development and operations of out-
of-home advertising media

el RERE 2022:60% FERLEFHEEER

the PRC Joint venture (2021: 60%) Development and operations of out-

of-home advertising media

These associates and joint venture are strategic partners of
the Group, providing access to new customers and markets
in different cities in PRC.

All of the associates and joint venture are unlisted
companies and there are no market values available for the
associates. There are no significant contingent liabilities
and capital commitments relating to the Group's interests in
the associates and joint venture and there are no significant
restrictions on the transfer of assets or earnings from the
associates and joint venture to the Group.

The English names of the above associates and joint
venture represented the best efforts by management of the
Company in translating their Chinese names.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray is material to the Group.
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12 FERARBZEIARNREE) 12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

TS RA AN BEERSE : (a) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray:

(a)

M12A31H
As at 31 December

2022%F 20214

2022 2021

ARET T ARET T

RMB’'000 RMB'000

(& &=7)

(restated)

EMBNEE Non-current assets 87,478 169,535

M EE Current assets

- RekReEEY — Cash and cash equivalents 13,099 73,407

—HMREEE — Other current assets 167,988 99,863

181,087 173,270

FERBARE Non-current liabilities (10,224) (79,276)

wBEE Current liabilities (143,918) (175,785)

HEEE Net assets 114,423 87,744

REBDEFEE Group's share of net assets 49% 49%
RN EEEGFEE Net assets attributable to the Group before

adjustments 56,067 42,994

E AR (H ) Other adjustments (Note) (6,615) (6,054)

BN B AR Interests in the associate 49,452 36,940

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2022 Annual Report 175



SO TR ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 EAERZEARNREE) 12
(a) RIBSHAENVBERBE : (&) (a)

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Summarised financial information for Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray: (Continued)

MW12H318
As at 31 December
2022 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ET T ARETIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(&=E7)
(restated)
Ug %5 Revenue 492,836 528,033
Y& K Depreciation and amortization (2,215) (2,215)
F B WA Interest income 512 839
R A A AR Profit before tax 32,730 44,792
i8R Income tax expense (6,051) (12,070)
FEFE Profit for the year 26,679 32,722
e W R Total comprehensive income 26,679 32,722
REED1G Group's share of:
—FEHHE — Profit for the year 13,073 16,034
— H b A (A ) — Other adjustments (Note) (401) 458
—iRE W B - Total comprehensive income 12,672 16,492
DEFE, (E1E) $HER Reconciliation of share of profit/(loss)
—EARBEE AT — Material associate 12,672 16,492
— @R NEREEE QT & - Aggregate of individually immaterial
BENE(HaEb) associates and joint venture (Note b) 5,289 (17,634)
17,961 (1,142)
Hat - Note:

HZE2022F F2021F12A31BIEFE » HibFAE
& M BRI 5 T 4 RORYIFE 8 8 A BR
AR (H55% M RV S T EETA )/
EWHRFHIA -
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Other adjustments mainly represented elimination of upstream
transaction between Shenzhen Airport Asiaray and Shenzhen Yashi
Metro Company Limited* (RIIFELIE AR A E]), whose 55% equity
interest was directly held by Shenzhen Airport Asiaray for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

For identification purpose only



SOt FEERERMEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12

(b)

ERESREARNRE (&)

BRFEABEATARSERSE

B EXFBERE Rz EmI  ANE
B R mEE T ERNBE QT RE
LEEEEED  EERARREAR -

12

(b)

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Individually immaterial associates and joint venture:
In addition to the interests in associates disclosed
above, the Group also has interests in individually
immaterial associates and joint venture that are
accounted for using the equity method.

MA12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021

ARBT R ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

(g&E7)
(restated)

A= E o5 1ERIFEE AR 2 2 7] Aggregate carrying amount of net assets

LEBEREE of individually immaterial associates and

BRHEEE joint venture shared by the Group 27,013 21,724
REBDIEFEFE,(E58) X% Aggregate amounts of the Group's share

SEWE (B e5E of profit/(loss) and comprehensive

(Kiita) income/(loss) for the year (Note a) 5,289 (17,634)

720224 % 2021F 124318 - BRA
SEELHEBRECBLHEREEAAES
D BUEREREFESERAF
MREREAEDBRLEE ©

B RA KBRS QRS A AR
REAREIE -

The carrying amount of the investment in Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising was reduced to nil as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 as the Group's share of
losses had exceeded its interest in Fujian Zhaoxiang
Advertising Company Limited.

There are no commitments and contingent liabilities
relating to the Group's interest in the associates.
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13 SUBSIDIARIES
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at

13 MBAF
T AR20225412 A31B 2 X B E

RAAEREEERAT

NCIID 31 December 2022.
BATER ARE  FERER
R AYENE BRIR%/ KENWEER HENEER FENEER
REERERY AMEARE (%) (%) (%)
Proportion of
Particulars  Proportion of Proportion of ordinary
of issued ordinary ordinary  shares held by
Place of incorporation/ share capital/ shares directly shares held by non-controlling
establishment and kind of Principal activities and registered held by parent  the Group interests
Company Name legal entity place of operation capital ) ) (%)
ALREERA
Directly held by the Company:
Rt &EREEARLR ZBRARE ARRMLA  REBK XER4ES B3 100% - -
Asiaray International Holdings Limited BV, limited liability company ~ Investment holding, BVI UsD1
RtEERERARLR ABRARE ARRMLA  REBK XERLES 50,0003 7 100% - -
Asiaray Media Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability company ~ Investment holding, BVI HKD50,000
EEERARAA BEE AREMLH RANE BEZ (3 100% - -
Billion China International Limited Samoa, limited liability Investment in properties, UsD1
company Samoa
ARABRER:
Indirectly held by the Company:
Right Viantage Holdings Limited ABRAHE AREANR  REASK EBRNES E3 - 100% -
BVI, limited liability company ~ Investment holding, BV UsD1
Asiaray Metro Media Limited hEEE  BRELAR FOBERERE - AT - 100% -
hERR
Hong Kong, limited liability QOut-of-home advertising HKD1
company media services,
Hong Kong
Rt #ESREARAR hEEE  BRELAT POREHERY 2,500,000 7C - 100% -
hERR
Asiaray Advertising Media Limited Hong Kong, limited liability QOut-of-home advertising HKD2,500,000
company media services,
Hong Kong
Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited TEEE  EREMLA PIVEL SRR 10,000%7 = 100% =
hERR
Hong Kong, limited liability QOut-of-home advertising HKD10,000
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company

media services,
Hong Kong
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13 KEBARE)

Company Name

Asiaray Megamedia Limited

Genesis Printing and Production Limited

Asiaray Bus Media Limited

ERREREARAT

Hong Kong Asiaray Advertising Limited

RtERRARAA

Asiaray Media Limited

UECEIN

TradeOOH Limited

AL/ b S
REERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

hEEE  ARALAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

hEEE  BRAELT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

hEEE  BRELAR
Hong Kong, limited liability

company

hEEE  BRELAR
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

hEEE  BRELAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

hEER  BRELAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

Principal activities and
place of operation

Fit o BR - EIR
BERY AR

Design, consultancy,
construction and
maintenance services,
Hong Kong

BE - EE - REA
RIS - REEE

Advertising, production,
installation and
dismantling services,
Hong Kong

POREHERS
hERR

QOut-of-home advertising
media services,
Hong Kong

REfK  mEEE
Investment holding,
Hong Kong

POREHERE
hERR

QOut-of-home advertising
media services,
Hong Kong

PHREHERE
hERR

QOut-of-home advertising
media services,
Hong Kong

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BARER ARE  FERER
BRIRA/ KEWEER HENEER FANEER
AMEAGE B (%) B (%) (%)
Proportion of
Particulars  Proportion of Proportion of ordinary
of issued ordinary ordinary  shares held by
share capital/ shares directly shares held by non-controlling
registered held by parent  the Group interests
capital (%) (%) (%)
10,0007 - 100% -
HKD10,000
10,0007 - 100% -
HKD10,000
10,0007 - 100% -
HKD10,000
99007 - 100% -
HKD9,900
1087 - 100% -
HKD10
10,0007 - 100% -
HKD10,000
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RAAEREEERAT

13 KMEBARE)

Company Name

Radius Displays Intemational Limited

Radius Displays Limited

RERSERAA

Asiaray Connect Limited

Rt RFERAT
Asiaray Macau Limited

OOM Advertising Company Limited

2022 F 1R

AL/ b S
REERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

hEEE  ARALLF

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

hEEE  BRELAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

hEEE  BRELAR
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

HERM AREALA
Macau, limited liability
company

hEEE  BRAELT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

Principal activities and
place of operation

RUREEE REAR
it

Provision of advertising
selections, signage
and street fumiture
design engineering and
consulting service,
Hong Kong

Rkt TER
ERRH ERR

Provision of advertising
selections, signage
and street fumiture
design engineering and
consulting service,
Hong Kong

RERK mEER
Investment holding,
Hong Kong

EX% TEER

Inactive, Hong Kong

POEEHERY
hERR

Qut-of-home advertising
media services,
Hong Kong

BARER ARE  FERER
BRIRA/ KEWEER HENEER FANEER
AMEAGE B (%) B (%) (%)
Proportion of
Particulars  Proportion of Proportion of ordinary
of issued ordinary ordinary  shares held by
share capital/ shares directly shares held by non-controlling
registered held by parent  the Group interests
capital ) (%) (%)
10,1007 - 51% 49%
HKD10,100
10,0007 - 51% 49%
HKD10,000
137 - 100% -
HKD1
25,0007 - 100% -
HKD25,000
17 - 100% -
HKD1

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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13 KEBARE)

Company Name

Buzz Production Limited

LERtARERRAR( LERLA])
Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited ("Shanghai Asiaray")

HERUERERRERAR
Shanghai Meidisi Advertising Media
Company Limited

Wt #ESERAT
Zhejiang Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

MIEEEERRAR
Shenzhen Yatie Advertising
Company Limited

LRt AR BRERAT
([ LEREER K1)
Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Media
Company Limited (*Shanghai
Advertising Media") (Note 1)

AL/ R
REERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

hEEE  ARALAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

HE EREEAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

hE - BRAELT

the PRC, limited liability
company

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BARER
BRORE/ BENEER
HMERHE HA(%)
Particulars  Proportion of
of issued ordinary
share capital/ shares directly
Principal activities and registered held by parent
place of operation capital )
RS HE - ZEA 13T -
HliR - EEE
Advertising, production, HKD1
installation and
dismantling services,
Hong Kong
POELEERE  #8  AR%100,000,000 =
Out-of-home advertising ~ RMB100,000,000
media services, the PRC
PHEERERE 8  AR%2365530 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB2,365,530
media services, the PRC
POESEERSE  #8  AR5,000,000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB5,000,000
media services, the PRC
POESEERSE #8  AR1,000000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
media services, the PRC
PONESEERS #8  AR%40,000,000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB40,000,000

media services, the PRC

Asiaray Media Group Limited

ARE  FERESR
HENERR WANEER
B (%) (%)
Proportion of

Proportion of ordinary
ordinary  shares held by
shares held by non-controlling
the Group interests
(%) (%)

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -
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13 KMEBARE)

Company Name

ENEEREARAR
Guangzhou Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

EHEREMAREERERLT
(EEZARL )

Yunnan Airport Asiaray Information
Media Company Limited (*Yunnan
Airport Asiaray")

R EEERRAT
Shenzhen Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

BERtAREARAT
Hainan Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

MIELHEESERAR
Shenzhen Yashi Metro
Company Limited

mERtERSRRAT
Sichuan Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

R AREARAT
Beijing Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

ARt AR EARAT

Xi'an Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

RAAEREEERAT

2022 F 1R 182

AL/ R
REERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

HE - BREAAT
the PRC, limited liability
company

hE - BRAELT

the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BATER
BRIR%/ KENEER
fEREE (%)

Particulars  Proportion of
of issued ordinary
share capital/ shares directly

Principal activities and registered held by parent

place of operation capital )
PHELEERE #8  AR1,030,000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB1,030,000

media services, the PRC
PHBLEERE + AR%50,000,000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB50,000,000

media services, the PRC
POESEERE #8  AR1,000000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000

media services, the PRC
PANESERRE ¢ ARH2,000,000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB2,000,000

media services, the PRC
POESEERE #8  AR1,000000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000

media services, the PRC
POESEERE #8  AR1,200000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB1,200,000

media services, the PRC
POESEERSE #8  AR%10500,000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB10,500,000

media services, the PRC
PAESEERE #8  AR1,000000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000

media services, the PRC

128
HEEER
B (%)

FERRE
HHNEER
(%)
Proportion of
Proportion of ordinary
ordinary  shares held by
shares held by non-controlling
the Group interests
(%) (%)

100% -

51% 49%

100% -

100% -

2% 28%

100% -

100% -

100% -
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13 KEBARE)

Company Name

MEEERABRERAT
ks i d)

Henan Airport Asiaray Media Company

Limited ("Henan Airport Asiaray")

LEREREREERAR

Shanghai Asiaray Media Communication

Company Limited

MIERtEEERAR
Shenzhen Baimoshi Advertising
Company Limited

BRI AN EERERAT
(70 3)

Wauxi Asiaray Metro Media Company
Limited (“Wuxi Asiaray")

IREEREERARAR
Beijing Yatie Media Communication
Company Limited

AL/ R
REERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

hE - BRAELT

the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

hE - BRAELT

the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

ERURRARREERAR(EEHR]) 8 ARELAT

Qingdao Chengtou Asiaray Advertising

Company Limited ("Qingdao Chengtou")

FREItBEREARAT
Beijing Chuangshibowei Advertising
Company Limited

the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BATER
BRIR%/ KENEER
AfERE (%)

Particulars  Proportion of
of issued ordinary
share capital/ shares directly

Principal activities and registered held by parent

place of operation capital )
PANESERRE ¢ ARH5,000,000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB5,000,000

media services, the PRC
POESEERS  #8  AR1,000000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000

media services, the PRC
BEMRE - ARH1,000,000 =
Advertising services, RMB1,000,000

the PRC
PINESERRE ¢ ARH3,600,000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB3,600,000

media services, the PRC
POESEERSE #8  AR1,000000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000

media services, the PRC
POHEERERE 8  AR%14,424400 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB14,424,400

media services, the PRC
AR ARH5,000,000 =
Advertising services, the RMB5,000,000

PRC

Asiaray Media Group Limited

128
HEEER
B (%)

FERRS
HRNEER
(%)
Proportion of
Proportion of ordinary
ordinary  shares held by
shares held by non-controlling
the Group interests
(%) (%)

51% 49%

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

69% 31%

100% =
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RAAEREEERAT

13 KMEBARE)

Company Name

HIkERSARAR
Zhejiang Yatie Advertising
Company Limited

MRS THRERARFR (R
REARREERAR))

Shenzhen Yachuangdi Digital Technology
Company Limited (formerly known
as "Shenzhen Skynet Creative Media
Advertising Company Limited")

KSR AEL 8 ERAT
Zhuhai Yachuangdi Design
Company Limited

Asiaray Connect (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

EATREERAT
Wenzhou Railway Media
Company Limited

MBI ERERAE
Henan Air Travel Culture Media
Company Limited

ARt ANEREERAT
Yunnan Asiaray Metro Advertising
Company Limited

2022 F 1R 184

AL/ b
REERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

HE - BREAAT
the PRC, limited liability
company

hE - BRAELT

the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

wing - ARAEAR
Singapore, limited liability
company

HE EREEAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

HE  ERELAF
the PRC, limited liability
company

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BARER

BRIR%/ KENEER

Bai-eEH B (%)

Particulars  Proportion of

of issued ordinary

share capital/ shares directly

Principal activities and registered held by parent

place of operation capital )

POESEERS wE  AKH10,000000 -
Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000

media services, the PRC

BEMRE - ARH5,000,000 =
Advertising services, RMB5,000,000

the PRC
BEMRE - ARH1,000,000 =
Advertising services, RMB1,000,000

the PRC
PONEEEERE - 5 10037 g T -
QOut-of-home advertising SGD100

media services,

Singapore
POESEERSE #8  AR2,000000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB2,000,000

media services, the PRC
BEMRE - ARH2,000,000 =
Advertising services, RMB2,000,000

the PRC
PHBLEERE #8  AR%10,000,000 =
Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000

media services, the PRC

ARE  FERER
HENERR WANEER
B (%) (%)
Proportion of

Proportion of ordinary
ordinary  shares held by
shares held by non-controlling
the Group interests
(%) (%)

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

51% 49%

100% -

70% 30%
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13 MIBAT(E) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BATER ARE FERER
AL/ R BRIRE/ FANEER RANEER HAENZER
REERERY AfERE (%) (%) E (%)

Proportion of

Particulars  Proportion of Proportion of ordinary

of issued ordinary ordinary  shares held by

Place of incorporation/ share capital/ shares directly shares held by non-controlling

establishment and kind of Principal activities and registered held by parent  the Group interests

Company Name legal entity place of operation capital ) (%) (%)

ENAEBREARAR hE - BRELAA RUREEE RERER  AR¥1,000,000 - 100% -
R TER
ERRH nERR

Guangzhou Radius Advertising the PRC, limited liability Provision of advertising RMB1,000,000

Company Limited company selections, signage

and street funiture
design engineering and
consulting service,

Hong Kong
BRORID R BEARARAR hE - BRELAA POMREHERY AERH50,000,000 - 100% -
hERR
Yahang (Shenzhen) Technology Media ~ the PRC, limited liability QOut-of-home advertising ~ RMB50,000,000
Holdings Company Limited company media services, the PRC
RE(RIDHRBHEARARAR hE - BRELAA POMEEHERY AERH50,000,000 - 100% -
hERR
Yatie (Shenzhen) Technology Media the PRC, limited liability QOut-of-home advertising ~ RMB50,000,000
Holdings Company Limited company media services, the PRC
IR R A B B B A B3 4 IF =X The English names of the above subsidiaries located in
XL HAEYZBIIHARNTESEE the PRC referred to above represents the best efforts
AR T ZBEEMmMK o by management of the Company in translating their
Chinese names, as they do not have official English
names.
Bist1 - BERBEEEIMAIGEBEDE - Note 1: Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC
laws.
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13 MEARE)

FEMBRRIIMAS G - REBRH
JB R A5 A A R SRR L ) R AT RO B
Reas L Bl —2

HANA P B RRMEI2FAWE - AR
BIE R R EIERE - WEER
F B RBD REE 8B ANKRD - AR
RRARERRNEBR RN REEET
H AR RS B Ko A AR IR A £ 2R Dt &1 %
BEEROMAERALHERER - AR
RESFRA/EA BIRD ZBETE & A
B o

2022512 A31 HA FEE AR #E 25 A
K % 134,477,000 (20215 : AR
126,160,000) 5 R E /=B M 4RI IE
PR AE RS o A20224F 12 A 31 B & JEE
P& &5 4t A R #521,324,000(20214F : &
#h A R #15,080,000) £2 57 7 22 34 M4
HRIEIEAR e A R o

PPN 55 BB AR ) L R B R Y B
BREERR BRFERCHE/LE
BZMBABARK -

AEBHEMIFEE B QB IFERE
SHAEEITEE -

BEEEEEEBERLT 2022 FIR 186

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

All subsidiaries are included in the consolidation. The
proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiaries held
by the Group does not differ from the proportion of
equity interests held.

As disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has set up a Share Award
Scheme Trust for the administration and holding the
Company'’s shares acquired for Share Award Scheme.
As the Company has the power to govern the relevant
activities of the Share Award Scheme Trust and can
derive benefits from the contribution of the eligible
persons who award the shares under the Share Award
Scheme, the directors of the Company consider it is
appropriate to consolidate the Share Award Scheme
Trust.

The non-controlling interest of RMB134,477,000
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB126,160,000)
represented to the non-controlling interest in Yunnan
Airport Asiaray. The non-controlling deficit of
RMB21,324,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: deficit
of RMB15,080,000) was relating to the non-controlling
interest in Henan Airport Asiaray.

As the Group had the power to control the financial
and operating policies of the above two entities, they
had been accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The non-controlling interests of the Group’s other
non-wholly owned subsidiaries are not material to the
Group.



SOt FEERERMEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 HWEARE) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EEERFEZEREZVKE D B ME 5 Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERE with material non-controlling interests

(a) ZEFEEBFMANEERBE - (a) Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport

Asiaray:
(i) BEAEBEXREE (i) Summarised balance sheet
MW12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(&==E7)
(restated)
TE Current
BiE Assets 520,264 500,198
BE Liabilities (286,606) (289,465)
REEEFRE Net Current Assets 233,658 210,733
FERE Non-current
BE Assets 396,785 641,194
BE Liabilities (366,762) (604,554)
30,023 36,640
EEFEE Net assets 263,681 247,373
AEBOREE Group's share of
net assets 51% 51%
NEBEEFEE Net assets attributable to
the Group 134,477 126,160
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13 HIBAT(E) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEEAERER M E A S0 % Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)
(a) ZEFEZEBEHRTHANTEEREE () (a) Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray: (Continued)
(i) HZEWRBIRPE (ii) Summarised statement of comprehensive
income

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214

2022 2021

AR¥ T ARBTIT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

(&&7))

(restated)

WA Revenue 285,914 373,295

FR FT1S 55 A0 A1) B Profit before income tax 18,195 64,335

S~ Income tax expense (1,886) (9,999)

FEFME Profit for the year 16,309 54,336

Hihira e Other comprehensive income - 778

mEWSAEE Total comprehensive income 16,309 55,114
B LIEERERT Total comprehensive income

FE W ERE allocated to non-controlling
interest 8,318 28,108
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13

(a)

o) INCIE-)

BERERFERESZNNBLRNUME

BERBEE)

THEBRMEHRODFEENRE - (B)

(iii) RERERBE

EEERHREHNRERE

REMSAE
EBREH

LEEBHIRERAFHE
RERPHR SR FE

BMERHHIR SR EIFE

ReRBESEENRDFHE
FUNNRERREEED

Re MRS FEMAEN Wk

FRNRERBEEEY

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries

with material non-controlling interests (Continued)
(a) Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport

Asiaray: (Continued)

(iii) Summarised statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating
activities

Cash generated from operations

Income tax paid

Net cash inflow from operating
activities

Net cash outflow from investing
activities

Net cash outflow from financing
activities

Net decrease in
cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year
Exchange gains on cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

BZ12A31BLLEE

20224
2022

ARBT R
RMB’000

Year ended 31 December

20214
2021
ARETTT
RMB’'000
(gg&E7)
(restated)

143,385 190,812
(10,683) (16,206)
132,702 174,606

(9,230) (18,769)

(141,187) (174,674)
(17,715) (18,837)
101,417 120,252

- 2
83,702 101,417
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13 MIBAT (&) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEERFEZEREZVKE D B 0I5 Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) JAFEEEE AR A (b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

Asiaray:
(i) EBEEAGRME (i) Summarised balance sheet
MW12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(&==E7)
(restated)
TE Current
RE Assets 141,684 135,454
BE Liabilities (185,025) (161,532)
RBEEFE Net current liabilities (43,341) (26,078)
IEFRED Non-current
BE Assets 300,423 401,253
A& Liabilities (298,893) (404,743)
1,530 (3,490)
BEFEHE Net liabilities (41,811) (29,568)
REBOEFEE Group's share of net assets 51% 51%
AEBEGEFEE Net liabilities attributable to
the Group (21,234) (15,080)
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13 KEBARE)

(b)

BERERFERESZNNBLRNUME

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries

ERBEE) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

S e B JE AR B B E - (&) (b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport
Asiaray: (Continued)

(i) HZEeWRFIRPE (ii) Summarised statement of comprehensive

WA
BRETSHATAE, (R
PSR (FX),HER

FEANE(BR)
HAib#R & Wk

FmeWws  (BR)EE

[RE: Bax-Ei2ed e oty
maas, (B8R

income

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR¥ T ARETTT

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

(&E7))

(restated)

Revenue 84,345 97,711
Profit/(loss) before income tax 16,211 (2,092)
Income tax (expense)/credit (3,968) 665
Profit/(loss) for the year 12,243 (1,427)
Other comprehensive income - 21
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 12,243 (1,4006)

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
allocated to non-controlling interest 6,243 (717)
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13 HIBAT(E) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEEAERER M E A S0 % Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)
(b) BB AN EEREE - (&) (b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

Asiaray: (Continued)

(iii) BEeHKERPE (iii) Summarised statement of cash flows

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224
2022

ARBT R
RMB’000

20214
2021
ARETTT
RMB’'000
(gg&E7)
(restated)

EETHMENRSRE Cash flows from operating

activities
REMSIRE Cash generated from operations 99,920 92,566
BT B Interest paid (18) (74)
O FTIEE Income tax paid (1,180) (4,048)
EEEBAIRSRAERE Net cash inflow from

operating activities 98,722 88,444
KEEBNIRE R F5E Net cash outflow from

investing activities (451) (710)
BB EBMIRE R F5E Net cash outflow from

financing activities (88,675) (92,770)
HERBESZEEY Net increase/(decrease)

B0 GRA ) B8 in cash and cash equivalents 9,596 (5,036)

FNBRE LR EEY Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of the year 10,441 15,478
HeMReEEYHIE REE Exchange losses on cash and

cash equivalents - (1)
FHRNESRBELEEY Cash and cash equivalents at

the end of the year 20,037 10,441
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14 EIEFTEH 14
IRIEFHIERR B R FE BN ¢

DEFERRED INCOME TAX
The net movement on the deferred income tax account
is as follows:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214

2022 2021

AR¥ T ARBTIT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

(&g&E71)

(restated)

F1) Beginning of the year 185,553 163,798

st ABZRER(M£29) Credited to profit or loss (Note 29) 5,584 34,732

BHETAHMEAS WS Credited directly to other

comprehensive income 192 38

HEW B AR (#£35) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) - (12,919)

BERBmE =5 Currency translation differences 381 (96)

FIR End of the year 191,710 185,553
RIEFTISHEE Deferred income tax assets:

M12H831H

2022%F
2022

ARBT R
RMB’000

As at 31 December

20214F
2021
AREFT
RMB’000
(&=E=75)
(restated)

AT & EELERE The balance comprises temporary

TR EREMNAR differences attributable to:
HIEEE Tax losses 98,677 86,325
EREEETRERE Temporary difference from right-of-use

assets 79,866 91,247

FEMCRIE R E B Provision for impairment of receivables 16,573 11,906
P AE AR A Y EHY Fair value change on financial assets

TREENATEEY through other comprehensive income 398 199
TELERH Depreciation allowance 228 228
EETIBEERAE Total deferred tax assets 195,742 189,905
R IR 55 R T 1 5 Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant

BT IBEE to set-off provisions (2,205) (2,446)
R IBEEZE Net deferred tax assets 193,537 187,459
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14 EEFIER(E)
BEMSHEENBENEE (KRG
ER—HE R AEREENESR) T

14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
Movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
without taking into consideration the offsetting of
balances within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows:

Deferred income tax assets:

ELEFEREE

Tax
losses
ARETT
RMB'000

LI
HERRE

Temporary ~ Provision
difference from for
right-ofuse  impairment
assets  of receivables
ARETT  AR¥TR
RMB'000 RMB'000

RAYE
IR SR
hENed
BEN
AVERS
Fair value
change on

financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
ARETT
RMB'000

Depreciation
allowance

/ \

Total
AE%?E
RMB'000

B220251283 A LEE Year ended 31 December 2022

RE) At beginning of the year 86,325 91,247 11,906 199 28 189,905
MBS A/ (%) Credited!(charged) to profit or oss 11,946 (11,289) 4,686 = = 5,343
WA RERA Credit to other comprehensive income - - - 192 - 192
EBuEEE Currency translation differences 406 (92) (19) 7 - 302
RER Atend of the year 98,677 79,866 16,573 398 228 195,742
B201F12BBLER Year ended 31 December 2021

(&E3)) (restated)
RE) At beginning of the year 74,543 82,532 10,459 166 30 168,030
PMEFmE /(1) Credited/[charged) to profit or loss 24,687 8,865 1449 - %3) 34,908
M ERRETA Credit to other comprehensive income - - - 38 - 3
HENBAT Disposal of subsidiaries (12919) = = = = (12919)
ERREEE Currency translation differences 14 (150) ?) (5 ) (152
IR Atend of the year 86,325 91,247 11,906 199 28 189,905
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14 EZEREHRE) 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
RS AE : Deferred income tax liabilities:
MW12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T AREBTIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(&==E7)
(restated)
LT &EEGLERE The balance comprises temporary
R ERNAEER differences attributable to:
XS Depreciation allowance 34 38
WmBEBKE DT ERR Fair value gains through business
combinations 1,793 1,868
REMERNTER Fair value gains on
investment properties 2,205 2,446
EER I B E4R Total deferred tax liabilities 4,032 4,352
IR IR S 37 TE HK 8H Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to
EETIBEE set-off provisions (2,205) (2,446)
RIETHIBE A E 55 Net deferred tax liabilities 1,827 1,906
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14 EEFIER(E) 14

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

EBEH REM*

wEEE AFEkRE ALEKS
Fair value Fair value

gains through gains on

Depreciation business  investment
allowance combination  properties Total

ARBTT ARETE AREBTRT ARETRH

220225128318 L FE Year ended 31 December 2022

RE] At beginning of the year
bkl Charged to profit or loss
ERhEEE Currency translation differences
RER At end of the year

#Z2021F12H8318 L FE Year ended 31 December 2021

(RE) (restated)
REA] At beginning of the year
ikl Charged to profit or loss
BEMmEES Currency translation differences
R At end of the year

R2022%F %2021 128318 - &%
[ 3 4 5 Bl gk AT 45 88 A K 30 R R R AR
UL A B A R % 247,741,000 &2 A R
¥ 242,195,000 % TH B B E R ELF
TH & E AR ¥ 43,852,000 F A R
57,897,000 °
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RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

38 1,868 2,446 4,352

- - (241) (241)
(4) (75) - (79)
34 1,793 2,205 4,032
39 1,923 2,270 4,232

- - 176 176
(M (55) - (56)
38 1,868 2,446 4,352

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of RMB43,852,000 and RMB57,897,000 in
respect of tax losses amounting to RMB247,741,000
and RMB242,195,000 that can be carried forward
against future taxable profit as at 31 December 2022
and 2021, respectively.
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14 EZEFTSBL(4E) 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
RERBELEMEREENTREBIEE R The expiry date of the tax losses for which deferred
BEATR - income tax assets were not recognised is as follows:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T AREBTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(&&:7))
(restated)
1FEARE M Expire within 1 year 11,968 24,404
P E2FNEm Expire in 1 to 2 years 17,412 2,717
MR2E3IFANEim Expire in 2 to 3 years 2,717 12,510
MRIZAFANEm Expire in 3 to 4 years 12,510 9,165
RAESF N Eim Expire in 4 to 5 years 4,955 79,287
g N AR P I £ fE im B BB Remaining balances without expiry dates 198,179 114,112
247,741 242,195

R2022%F 2021 F 128318 » &%
B 5 5l i W £ B 0] 45 8 LK 0 oK R E
R AR AR 1,978,000 % A R
1,696,000 H b ] 150 & i = KR T R IR
IEFRBEEE ARMET7,910,000 % A R
6,815,000 ©

R2022%F 128318 AEEHNFIE
BB 4 A AR ¥ 130,155,000 ( 2021
£ AR #571,509,000) - Hb A
R ¥ 98,271,000 ( 2021 & : AR ¥
86,325,000 EEFIBEECD FHREME ©

2022912 A318 » AEE T E B
NEHRE&EF ARK106,135,000
(20214 : AR#224,915,000) i K &
FARBREINEMA S 2 AT - B
RELIELEFREHE ERE o

B S RFG BB ARG
BRAZA MEAEEEWENES
EREE - ZERFIRA LG RIT
& & F £ 5 P BB S0 37 2 42 AR 2
A\l e

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of RMB1,978,000 and RMB 1,696,000 in respect
of other deductible temporary differences amounting
to RMB7,910,000 and RMB6,815,000 that can be
carried forward against future taxable profit as at 31
December 2022 and 2021, respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately
RMB130,155,000 (2021: RMB571,509,000) tax losses,
of which RMB98,271,000 (2021: RMB86,325,000)
deferred tax assets had been provided.

As at 31 December 2022, the retained earnings of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries not yet remitted to the
holding companies incorporated outside PRC, for
which no deferred tax liability had been provided,
were approximately RMB106,135,000 (2021:
RMB224,915,000).

Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC
subsidiaries for reinvestment purposes and would not
be remitted to their holding companies incorporated
outside PRC in the foreseeable future based on
management’'s estimation of overseas funding
requirements.
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15 FEWRRFR R H B WK

REBEE
JEURBR 7K (a)
B FEURBR BORLE 5 (b)

FEUERTR - F 8
H fth & Y R (<)

B EAEUGRIRRE
(o)

Hip U IR - JHE
e A B

AU EIR(E R ([HEET )
B FRIA()

FRBEE
& (c)

e
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15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current assets

Trade receivables (a)

Less: loss allowance of
trade receivables (b)

Trade receivables, net
Other receivables (c)

Less: loss allowance of
other receivables (c)

Other receivables, net
Interest receivables

Value-added-tax (“VAT") recoverable
Prepayments (d)

Non-current assets
Deposits (c)

Total

M12H31H

20225
2022

ARBT R
RMB’000

As at 31 December

20214
2021
ARETTT
RMB’'000
(g&E7)
(restated)

625,718 611,284
(89,911) (63,608)
535,807 547,676
140,426 255,130
(7,985) (4,229)
132,441 250,901
147 81
55,020 59,159
63,364 76,712
786,779 934,529
9,455 7,267
796,234 941,796
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15 BWRZRRHEMERREE)

(a)

(b)

AEERTEPTRNEED - BUE
RILBZAHNREDTAT

15
(a)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The Group has various credit terms for its customers.
Ageing analysis of the trade receivables by invoice
date is as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T AREBTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(&&:7))
(restated)
%618 A Up to 6 months 393,826 442,047
6MEA=12{8A 6 months to 12 months 78,271 64,927
1FEZ2F 1 year to 2 years 63,986 41,998
26 E3F 2 years to 3 years 29,650 17,287
3FME Over 3 years 59,985 45,025
625,718 611,284
EUWERRERRE (b) Loss allowance of trade receivables

AEBERBEEMBERELEREINRE
LA ERAMEEREE - RRMBRK
RREREHEHEEBRE - AKRETT
BRMEBERXZHTFNEEER A
BEBEMBEAN  BELRIEEBE
EREREEERR -

RAFE  BEEESENAR
# 26,303,000 ( 2021 £ : A R ¥
9,877,000) ° ZFEBEBEENFTEFIE
BHiFE3.1(b) ©

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
The Group also continuously monitors the credit
risks by assessing the credit quality of respective
counterparties, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors.

The loss allowance increased by RMB26,303,000
during the year (2021: RMB9,877,000). Note 3.1(b)
provides for details about the calculation of these loss
allowance.
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15 BWRZRREMERREE)

(c) E%JEH&TAIEI%?EI“?Tﬂﬁaaé}ﬁ?%
BAXNOBFEERBERERET
FAE T 3R - M2022$&2021¢12ﬂ
318 - A EUGIAR REEREE QA
BHRE

BINPEBREERREDREE
o EEWGRIE RIEEER12(E A
ﬁ%ﬁ%%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁ

o fiil B ¥ P HER IR B W TR E B R
M%%?m Az HRBEEEER
ERME - R EEFEREESERE
AR ®7,985000(20214 : AR
4,229,000) °

(d) FEMFBESFTWT :

BB B

Efh Others
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15
(c)

(d)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Other receivables mainly represent Concession fee
deposits paid to various media resources owners and
amounts due from certain related parties. The carrying
amounts of other receivables approximated their fair
value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Other receivables and deposits are measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of
a receivable has occurred since initial recognition,
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses. The allowance on impairment loss of other
receivables amounts to RMB7,985,000 (2021:
RMB4,229,000).

Analysis of prepayments is as follows:

MW12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARETTT
RMB’000
(&=7))
(restated)

ARBT R
RMB’000

Prepayments for concession fee for
TRt EIA advertising spaces

42,753 61,394
20,611 15,318
63,364 76,712
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15 BWERIREMEWRFIEZ) 15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(e) ANEBEWRFKREAMERZIE(TE (e) The carrying amount of the Group's trade and other
FIAMIE) W EREENA T E%EE : receivables excluding prepayment are denominated in

the following currencies:

MW12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T AREBTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(&=7))
(restated)
AR RMB 575,020 658,388
BIT HKD 151,794 204,600
o Singapore dollars 6,056 2,096
732,870 865,084
16 ©EE 16 INVENTORIES
M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
(&=E=75)
(restated)
HE R Consumable products 22,902 8,504
REE2022F12A31B8ILEE @ #R Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended
BREYHNEFE ARE16,054,0007T5F A 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB16,054,000 which were
THEXZH - included in administrative expenses.
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17 SRFIBERFAESRESEEY 17 RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

MW12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(&==E7)
(restated)
RITRFHEES Cash at bank and on hand 365,117 342,509
k0 PR HIER % (b) Less: restricted cash (b) (31,797) (26,884)
B NMIREEHEY() Cash and cash equivalents (a) 333,320 315,625
(@) FAREKRESEEMUATIEES (a) Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the
1B : following currencies:
M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ET T ARETIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(&=&E75)
(restated)
AR RMB 198,005 211,215
BT HKD 91,151 84,287
Hith Others 44,164 20,123
333,320 315,625
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17 ZRFBRERAESRREEENE)

(b) B AERME1,725000(20214F @ AR
2,058,000) LAB TTEHE SN - PR 5138
TUAREE - XRHR SOOI W0
T

BT IRITATE IR KA

17

RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

Restricted cash was denominated in RMB except for
RMB1,725,000 (2021: RMB2,058,000), which was
denominated in HKD. An analysis of restricted cash is
as follows:

MW12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARETTT
RMB’000
(&=7)
(restated)

ARBT R
RMB’000

Guaranteed deposits for

BREEZES letter of guarantee issued by certain
banks 30,072 24,826
EAREEROIFED Deposits held by the Trust
T for treasury shares 1,725 2,058
31,797 26,884

FRERRRTT - BRABRFFE LR
A E N REARRITER -

FE 2022 £ A1 2021 12 A 318 » &
Bl A A R ¥ 195,596,000 & A B ¥
209,416,000 M ®3R & KIR& FE WL
FERMEE - WEESTE HINEE
& o & HhINE E il 5 B3R TE ¥R A
EHEARNRES - BRBEFEREESD
DTELEBR o

Deposits are placed with banks for issuing bank
guarantees for the lease payments of concession rights
agreement.

Cash and cash equivalents of RMB195,596,000 and
RMB209,416,000 were held in Mainland China as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively, and
are subject to local exchange control regulations.
These local exchange control regulations provide for
restrictions on exporting capital from the country, other
than through normal dividends.
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18 JIR#A 18 SHARE CAPITAL
EERYE R
Number of

ordinary Share
shares Capital
(FR) AR®TR
(thousand) RMB’'000
(RE)
(restated)

BEITRERE Issued and fully paid:

2021512 4318 & At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
2022F1 A1 H 475,676 38,139
EERYE &N
Number of

ordinary Share
shares Capital
(FR) ARBTR
(thousand) RMB’000

BEEITRAR Issued and fully paid:
M20225612H31H At 31 December 2022 475,676 38,139
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19 f&#fE

202251 A1R &8
(EE5)

ek
ERER
LU

ReBREE

¥R ERES
(MBEARA) Hitz0)
AARBTERESHR
SR EREEARD
(Hi3am)
PERMERTER
REBORG(HE)

[ERRHER
£t

ERNERRARARAN
2548

20225128318 £8

Balance at 1 January 2022
(restated)

Comprehensive loss
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss

Issue of PSCS, net of issuance costs
(Note 20)

Distributions to PSCS

Purchase of shares for Share Award
Scheme (Note 32 (b))

Shares granted and vested
under Share Award Scheme
(Note 32(b))

Value of employee services

Others

Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity

Balance at 31 December 2022

Rt

Share
premium
ARETR
RMB'000

19

#0178
AAkkss
e

Fvodl
reserve

ARRTR
RMB000

RESERVES

WR

RE#Y

EERR  BHEE
Share-based
compensation
reserve
ARRTT
RMB'000

Treasury
stocks
ARRTT
RMB'000

KRR
TERES
Perpetual

subordinated
convertible
securities
ARETR
RMB'000

(Note 20)

KREE
2§

Currency
translation
reserve
ARETR
RMB'000

AR

ZiER

Other Accumulated

reserves

AREBTT
RMB'000

losses

ARETT
RMB'000

Total
AEETR
RMB'000

292,745 (1,271) (15,934) - 223,826 40,449 (19,270) (293,671 226,874
- - - o - - - (112,663)  (112,663)
- (973) o - - (15,901) - - (16,874)
- (973) - - - (15,901) - (112,663 (129,537
- - = - 17,182 - - - 17,182
- - - - o = - (10,479) (10,479)
= - (507) - - - - = (507)
- - 819 (819) - = o - -
- - - 819 - - - - 819
- - = > - - - (3,238) (3,238)
- - 312 - 17,182 - - (13,717) 3m
292,745 (2,244) (15,622) - 241,008 24,548 (19,270)  (420,051) 101,114
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19 #HEE) 19 RESERVES (Continued)

Aifh  2ER

Perpetual
Share-based  subordinated Currency
Share Treasury compensation  convertible  translation Other  Accumulated
premium stocks resene  securties reserve reserves losses Total
o ARBTR  ARBTR A . ARETT  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000  RWMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
01
(Note 20)
R2021F151 B8 Balance at 1 January 2021 292,745 (1,076) (15,123) - 60,343 32876 (19,210) (143,661) 206,834
BAFE Comprehensive loss
EEEE Loss for the year = = = = = = = (143671)  (143,671)
HpsABR) /i Other comprehensive (loss)/income = (195) = = = 7573 o o 7378
BA(BB)/hatE Total comprehensive (loss)/income - (195) - - - 151 S (143471 (136,293)

KkA B akEs Issue of PSCS, net of issuance costs

(HBERE) (220) (Note 20) = = - - 163,483 _ _ _ 163,483
KARRTRRES AR Distributions to PSCS - - - - - - - (6339) (6,3%9)
SRR R EE AR Purchase of shares for Share Award

(¥320) Scheme (Note 3216 - e - - - . -
RERHEB KRR Shares granted and vested under Share

BRORR(WE20) Award Scheme (Note 32(b) - - 23 (232) - - - . .
ESRHER Value of employee services - - - 3 = = 5 - 3

EENERBISEAAN  Total transactions with owners,
548 recognised directly in equity - - (811) - 163,483 - - (6,339) 156,333

R0 E12R31RER Balance at 31 December 2021 292,145 (1.271) (15,934) - 223,826 40,449 (192700 (293,671) 226,874
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20

KRR TR IR 25

R2017F9A78 » AR 7 HSpace
Management Limited ([ R 75 1) (&
REIREZ — )T LRBEHE - Bt
RRRBIGEGRERRITmRE S B G
A & 7R A £ % 550,000,000 7T (8
BN ARA2,959,000) 7 5K A KA AT
B BFH([KARBABRBES])
AR SRR ESRIBRARG3.548T
(HERAR®3.00) DMt EKR AR
AEIEBRRG([BERRKRMD]) @E
% 5l /30,000,000% 7T (FHE R AR
25,394,000) }220,000,000/% 7t (B & R
AR#17,565,000) - IRIERE = -
BITAGFUTRGBERFAIEE 1)
B VS B X AT AL B 1T K AR AR AT R AR RE
% (& % 450,000,000/ 7T ) (A E R
AR#42,959,0007T) : K2)A A A B
RFERREAS I ERBRZE - R
REMREBRTRAFAR  AQRBBE
EE2EE  ARMNBITEEERNEX
R R AN £ % 520,000,000 7% T
(HERARK17,565,000) 85 —#t &
%’ °

R2017F 11 A108 » KA R ERES
RN AR BEIAMEET ERRBE I RES
ZHOKARRAIMRES —F - Bt
REBE R AR B R FBHFBEAR
NE)EN PR AR T AT o

20

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES

On 7 September 2017, the Company entered into
a Subscription Agreement with Space Management
Limited (the “Subscriber”), one of the shareholders of
the Company, pursuant to which, the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Perpetual
Subordinated Convertible Securities (the “PSCS”) in
the principal amount of HKD50,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB42,959,000) that is convertible into the ordinary
shares of the Company (“Conversion Shares”) at
the initial Conversion Price of HKD3.54 (equivalent
to RMB3.00) per Conversion Share in two tranches
at the face value of HKD30,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB25,394,000) and HKD20,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB17,565,000) respectively. Pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement, the issuance is conditional on
the fulfilment of the following conditions: 1) approval
of the issue of the PSCS (with principal amount of
HKD50,000,000) (equivalent to RMB42,959,000) by
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange; and 2) approval
of the Subscription Agreement by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the general meeting.
Within 5 years from the completion of the first
tranche subscription, the Company shall have the
right, at its sole discretion and through its board
of director meetings, to call for the Subscriber to
subscribe for the second tranche of the Securities in
the principal amount of HKD20,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB17,565,000).

On 10 November 2017, the Company and the
Subscriber entered into a Supplemental Agreement
to amend the call for the Subscriber to subscribe for
the second tranche of the PSCS, pursuant to which the
subscription of the second tranche of PSCS shall be
subject to independent shareholders’ approval by the
Company.
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20

TK KR AR PR R 8 55 (48)

R2017F12 A15B BT 2 BRERKFIAK
et % - FE—ALTEA30,000,000/%8
T(HHENAR25,394,000) 2 K AKX
MA AR E S B R2017F12 A28 B %
17 - 201946 A25H 817 2 R 7
ANEH#ER - 5 —#tHE(E A&20,000,000
Bt (HERARE17,565,000) 2 KA
R AIAR B S E R 201946 A28 B 2
T RRBIRKABRENENK - B
BARESRFE  AEARABWIBIEL - F
EDIREBKARBAIIRREFA S
FBHY5.75% ©

202056 A48 - KRR ZRER
FoBE ARABAKREREZEITA
% # 20,000,000 8 L (HHE R AR
17,613,000 ) #) 7k AR A Al # i% 78 &
([2020F K AR el e f B 5 ) » 7]
B RRE TR H 5.1 T (48
ERAREA5) (A FHRE) IR AR
B&fH o AN FIFE20204E9 A28 B £ 1780
BREFIAE E@BRERZERME L
RRESKEFNEEARERETEBNE
H0.10/8 L (FHE MW A RE0.09) #2020
FXAREABRBEES - FEHIRE
B2020F K AR B AT IR B HF A &
AH)4% o B3 20204 5k AR R AT AR
FBEABRARAN2022F10F6BEM -
BX 7K 20,000,000 7T (& N A R
18,089,000)

R2021%1 8228 » AEBEAKREE
MEEBBEER AR ([EZE])REM
EEFTZWERZ - REBERERE
AEEWEGNHEERD - HENEE
TR ITIRANEI 100% 2 (if) 52 Ak B 72 Ak
o B AR R B A £ 4938,200,000
B (HEER AR®31,232,000) ° &
EZLHIERAME(BRZMENRAES
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B #7122,700,0008 T (FHE R AR
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REFRIRE LESHE - FEDIRRA
AR AR AT AR 35 5 ) R & BEAD4.5% ©
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20 PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE

SECURITIES (Continued)

The first tranche at face value of PSCS HKD30,000,000
(equivalent to RMB25,394,000) has been issued on 28
December 2017 after the approval of the extraordinary
general meeting held on 15 December 2017. The
second tranche at face value of PSCS HKD20,000,000
(equivalent to RMB17,565,000) has been issued on
28 June 2019 after approval of extraordinary general
meeting held on 25 June 2019. It is the intention of the
Company that all the cash flow payments, including
principal and interests, will be made at the Company’s
discretion. The rate of annual distribution is 5.75% of
principal amount of the PSCS.

On 4 June 2020, the Company entered into a
Subscription Agreement pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue perpetual
subordinated convertible securities (the “2020 PSCS")
in the principal amount of HKD20,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB17,613,000)convertible into conversion shares
at the initial conversion price of HKD5.1 (equivalent to
RMB4.5) per conversion share (subject to adjustments).
A specific mandate for the allotment and issue of the
2020 PSCS of HKDO0.10 (equivalent to RMB0.09) each
was sought by the Company from the Independent
Shareholders by way of Shareholders’ resolution(s) at
the extraordinary general meeting on 28 September
2020. The rate of annual distribution is 4% of principal
amount of the 2020 PSCS. The entire batch of 2020
PSCS was redeemed by the Company on 6 October
2022 at a costs of HKD20,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB18,089,000).

On 22 January 2021, the Group entered into a
purchase agreement with Mr. Lam, the shareholder
of the Group and Billion China International Limited
("Billion China”). Pursuant to the Acquisition
Agreement, the Group would acquire (i) the Sale
Share, representing 100% of the issued share capital
of Billion China; and (ii) the shareholder’s loan in the
sum of approximately HKD38,200,000 (equivalent to
RMB31,232,000) from Mr. Lam at Completion. Billion
China is the holder of the Properties in Beijing which
includes the office premise on the properties. The
Consideration of approximately HKD122,700,000
(equivalent to RMB101,927,000), net of issuance
costs, shall be paid, satisfied upon Completion by the
issuance of the PSCS by the Company to Mr. Lam or
his nominee(s) and were approved in extraordinary
general meeting on 23 April 2021. The rate of annual
distribution is 4.5% of principal amount of the PSCS.
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20

KA R AR TR 8 55 ()

R2021%7 8168 » KRBT RE
A A NN = S A=t
177K 4 %875,000,0008 T (HHERAR
#61,640,000) HY 7K AR 4% AT #2038 55 5
(M2021 8k AR BT 7B 25 |) » Ali%
25 ¥ BR (B = IR IR AR A% 15 2.43 78 7T (48
ERNARK2.007) (Al TR )ERE
HRAERED o A&£2021F 108 19H£TH
BRI RS HER + 2021 F K AR
AR B 52 N2021F11 A1H 3T -
FEDIKE 52021 F K AR B Al 2R
EHARSEA4% o

R2021F 128138 » KR BIFILRE
W Bt - AR A KGR EEITK
AR AR B 5 ([ 2022 F K AR
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20 PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE

SECURITIES (Continued)

On 16 July 2021, the Company entered into a
Subscription Agreement pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue perpetual
subordinated convertible securities (the “2021 PSCS")
in the principal amount of HKD75,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB61,640,000) convertible into conversion
shares at the initial conversion price of HKD2.43
(equivalent to RMB2.00)per conversion share (subject
to adjustments). The 2021 PSCS has been issued on 1
November 2021 after approval of extraordinary general
meeting held on 19 October 2021. The rate of annual
distribution is 4% of principal amount of the 2021
PSCS.

On 13 December 2021, the Company entered into
the subscription agreement which the Company
has conditionally agreed to issue the perpetual
subordinated convertible securities (the “2022 PSCS")
in the principal amount of HKD37,500,000 (equivalent
to RMB34,286,000) convertible into conversion shares
at the initial conversion price of HKD1.4 (equivalent
to RMB1.28) per conversion share under specific
mandate. The 2022 PSCS has been issued after
approval of extraordinary general meeting held on
27 September 2022. The rate of annual distribution is
3.5% of principal amount of the 2022 PSCS.
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21 EX 21 BORROWINGS
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARBT T AREBT T
RMB'000 RMB’000
(g&E7)
(restated)
FEREBE D Non-current portion
IR IR ITE Bank borrowings, unsecured 177,408 131,020
177,408 131,020
BT D Current portion
BEBIRITER Bank borrowings, secured - 750
IR TR Bank borrowings, unsecured 146,348 126,254
146,348 127,004
BITERAEE Total bank borrowings 323,756 258,024
FFAR2021F 12 A31 BB E AR IRTT Included in the secured bank borrowings at 31
B3k - fERARET750,000 A\ AR December 2021, borrowings of RMB750,000 were
#18,461,00089 5 T3 R Lok secured by the pledge of certain properties and
(GtAEREEE)ERR - land use rights (included in right-of-use assets) of

RMB18,461,000.
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21

B (E)
REEEABRE BOINEFIHE XA
KT :

21

BORROWINGS (Continued)
The weighted average effective interest rates at each
balance sheet date are as follows:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥TR ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(Fe&E751)
(restated)
FEMENE R Non-current borrowings 6.9% 2.0%
MENE R Current borrowings 5.7% 3.0%

AEENFETARBRUEBRITRA
ERE([BBRITREFE ) AOER -
AEBEEFEBRITAXFREBEET
o MEEERNSWEHAKEUETE
RITAXFEMNERELETZE -

FA20224 % 2021412 A318 - AEE
JEEEERAT :

The floating rate instruments of the Group comprise
only borrowings based on the Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR"). The Group expects that
HIBOR will continue to exist and the interest rate
benchmark reform has not had an impact on the
Group's HIBOR-based borrowings.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's
borrowings are repayable as follows:

M12H318

As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T AREBTIT
RMB'000 RMB’'000
(&&:7)
(restated)
1F AR Within 1 year 146,348 127,004
1FE24F Between 1 and 2 years 57,908 49,260
2FF54F Between 2 and 5 years 119,500 81,760
323,756 258,024
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21 EFE) 21 BORROWINGS (Continued)
BRI sNEmMEREEL NFEME The carrying amount of current portion of borrowings
= AAMIBZENTEK @ EFER approximated their fair values as the impact of
HE o MERmENRAFEDT discounting was not significant. The carrying amounts

and fair values of the non-current portion of borrowings
are as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T AREBTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(&==E7)
(restated)
FREE Carrying amounts 177,408 131,020
NFE Fair values 153,680 126,515
AEBNERREENL NSEEE : The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

MA12831H

As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(#&£=71))
(restated)
AR RMB 61,084 48,635
BT HKD 262,672 209,389
323,756 258,024
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22 ENERRRHEMEMNKRE

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

R12A31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARETIT ARBTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(&&:7)
(restated)
JE TR (a) Trade payables (a) 123,166 100,920
EEtREES EMRTREE Accrued concession fee charges for
> advertising spaces 106,174 89,738
Hfh fE R IE Other taxes payables 16,539 13,767
FEAH R B Interests payables 746 280
e METER Salary and staff welfare payables 21,113 28,284
EARE(K£3.3) Consideration payable (Note 3.3) 17,971 =
H b e 3108 Other payables 63,249 44,943
348,958 277,932

6% 8 A B R R EL AL P S SRR B RR Y
FREEA T E%EHE

AR RMB
BT HKD
AN T Singapore dollars

The carrying amounts of the Group's total trade and
other payables are denominated in the following
currencies:

MW12H318

As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
(&=E:75)
(restated)
183,781 173,190
151,164 103,637
14,013 1,105
348,958 277,932
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22 BENERRRAEMENREE) 22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
(@) 2022 &2021F12H31H © ERE (@) Asat 31 December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis
RENEZEHNRESTAT of the trade payables based on invoice date is as
follows:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARMT T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
(g&E75)
(restated)
%618 A Up to 6 months 81,470 95,729
6B =128 R 6 months to 12 months 7,746 2,853
1FEZ2F 1 year to 2 years 32,563 865
26 E3F 2 years to 3 years 206 359
3FME Over 3 years 1,181 1,114
123,166 100,920

23 AHEE 23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

MW12H31A
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021

AR¥ T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(&=&E7)

(restated)

SHBE Contract liabilities 98,203 126,850
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23 SHEEE)
AEBERBBVHHRELEF 155
[BEFAMKE RRBREFANERMN
BE- - ANEEEAREEERERIR
BTEFPRAKMEFNRER - GHAE
RAKERIE A QEQRERBEA -

PUERHNBRARERFINNENARE
KRR

SR FERR B U A SR AR B 1 Y
BHREGR

DEEHEHRKEITHED RETH
RBEBORGIRZERLERE - B
RABERNEBERARBRA —FX
ATEKH—ED °

23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group has recognised liabilities related to
contracts with customers in accordance with HKFRS15
"Revenue from contracts with customers”. The contract
liabilities represented advance from customers before
the Group transfers goods or services to customers.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under contract.

The revenue recognised that was included in the
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the year:

BZ12A31HLLEE
Year ended 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARETTT

ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB’000

(gg&E7)
(restated)

Revenue recognised that was
included in the contract liabilities
balance at the beginning of the

126,850 107,210

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied as at the end of the reporting period are
not disclosed because the remaining performance
obligations are part of contracts that have original
expected durations of one year of less.
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24 BMEISFWEX 24 EXPENSES BY NATURE
WA ~ HE RTISHER X RITK Cost of revenue, selling and marketing expenses and
FSX DT administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
(&g&E71)
(restated)
EErEEFIEggEsT Variable concession fee charges for
(HtaE7) advertising spaces (Note 7) 114,500 131,246
MBS E B (MiF7) Concession fee reduction (Note 7) (146,438) (87,129)
HEGHASRTEEBEHMNMAY  Expenses related to short-term
(K1a%7) concession fee (Note 7) 198,500 319,421
18 B &5 RIFEIK A Project installation and dismantling
costs 120,824 201,056
I8 L M & Tax and surcharges 12,739 954
BEXH Utilities 14,063 14,649
BERAEZ (K£25) Employee benefit expenses (Note 25) 230,022 232,664
ERRESBEFRAX Travelling and entertainment expenses 15,062 14,436
HERKE Professional service fees 10,060 9,583
M - BB RREITE (M Ts) Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 6) 42,458 28,093
EREEERE(MZ7) Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 7) 985,256 919,716
L EREER(Fit7) Impairment losses on right-of-use
assets (Note 7) 16,750 21,412
Z RN < Auditors’ remuneration 3,800 3,947
BCEEBHEMT) Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 9) 2,054 2,014
Ht Others 89,556 57,864

1,709,206 1,869,926
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25 EEEMNHAX(BEESHE)

(a)

BEERNMAX

25 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)
Employee benefit expenses

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214

2022 2021

AR¥ T ARBTIT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

(&E7))

(restated)

T& - e kitsd Wages, salaries and bonuses 191,765 197,187
BIRE AN — ERBHKETE Pension costs — defined contribution

plans 32,402 31,309

Bh - BEREM Welfare, medical and others 5,036 3,936

I 17 228D Share awards 819 232

230,022 232,664

AEBTBEBRARNESALEMR
FTMBAEEMESHNEBEIERRS
E e AEBIRBM AT RFREN
BELF(NTEEHFESMIZ%NE21%
(20214 1 13%221%) * RAELTR)
i h ST EERHE - AEEMERIK
BRRHEES -

AEBR BB MK ZNE R FGH
mIEEETEIHE - Bl ARERES
BEXBEARGEELERESERK
A5% (20214 : 5%) V3R -

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal governments. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage ranging
from 13% to 21% (2021: 13% to 21%) of the employees’
salary (subject to a floor and cap) as set by local
municipal governments to each scheme locally to fund
the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
contribute to an MPF scheme, under which the Group
and each employee each make monthly contribution to
the scheme at 5% (2021: 5%) of the qualifying earnings
of the employee.
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25 EERANPFAX(EREEMNE) (&) 25 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) HEESFMAL (b) Five highest paid individuals
HE2022F12A3MBIEFE + AEH The 5 individuals whose emoluments were the highest
TEE=FHMALTBE B (20214 : in the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
MEZ)RITEE - FENHSEENTE included 1 (2021: 2) executive directors whose
37D D RIRIR - B E20225F12 emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
A31BIEEE - EIME (20214 © = Note 37. The aggregate amounts of emoluments for
ZIANTHE S B5EEF AT : the remaining 4 (2021: 3) individuals for the year ended

31 December 2022 are set out below:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214

2022 2021

AR¥ T ARETTT

RMB'000 RMB’000

(&E7))

(restated)

TERES Wages and salaries 6,089 4,470
TE4T Bonuses = 211
6,089 4,681
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25 EEEARAX(BEESHE) @) 25 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) EEEEFMAL(E) (b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
BE2022F K2021F12HA31BEEE The emoluments payable to these individuals for the
ERZEATINOMSBR T E years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 fell within
3 the following bands:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20225 20214
2022 AOVA
B < 3 & Emoluments band
1,000,00187LE HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000

1,500,0007%8 7T (# & R (equivalent to RMB853,000 to

AR#853,000% RMB1,294,000)

AR%1,294,000) - _
1,500,001 L& HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000

2,000,000 T (FHE R (equivalent to RMB1,294,000 to

AE#1,294,000% RMB1,726,000)

AR#1,726,000) 3 2
2,000,001 TE HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000

2,500,000 T (FHE R (equivalent to RMB1,726,000 to

AR#1,726,000% RMB2,157,000)

AR¥2,157,000) 1 1
REE2022F %2021F 128318 EF During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
ER - AEEMERAENEEFRKAER no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
SFEMALMENME - ERMBER directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
EENINBENEERIEASBER/ME - inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
MEEECDNEXRERETATHM - compensation for loss of office, no directors waived or

have agreed to waive any emoluments.
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26 HWA 26 OTHER INCOME

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20225 20214
2022 2021
ARBTT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(&&E75)
(restated)
& & TR WA Advertising consulting service income 3,944 3,495
ISR LTI ON Government subsidy income 10,486 11,876
WMHLTE N EEER Reimbursement of installation and
maintenance costs - 1,127
&5 2R ET ARG A Advertising design service income 6,630 6,697
RIE RIS WA Agency service income 798 =
% 8 U A Dividend income 368 379
el A Rental income 3,618 544
HAth Others 9,807 11,095
35,651 35,213
U #0 B WA = B AR BT B R Government subsidy income mainly represented
B Z AR AR REAERRT various tax refunds granted by the relevant
government authorities with no future obligations.
27 Hfblhz o FE 27 OTHER GAINS, NET

BZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T AREBTFIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(&Z=7)
(restated)
& H i R 5 Net exchange losses (3,256) (4,780)
WEYENTFE(ER), WS Fair value (losses)/gains on investment
(Hats8) properties (Note 8) (2,804) 14,311
BT ARENATLERIE Fair value losses on remeasurement on
(#17£3.3) contingent consideration (Note 3.3) (6,598) (3,922)
BRAFEIABZRNCHEE Fair value gains on financial assets at
A FERE(FE10) fair value through profit or loss
(Note 10) 768 -
REXRIEHER I FRE Net gains from early termination of
leases 165,483 -
HEME  BMEREBREFEE Gains/(losses) on disposal of property,
mlkas(E18) plant and equipment and intangible
assets 100 (57)
S P B A R AU S F EE Gain on disposal of subsidiaries,
(K15£35) net (Note 35) _ 49 634
EAib Others 1,065
154,758 55,186
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28 RBEMA  FHEE 28 FINANCE COSTS, NET

29

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T ARBTIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
(& =5)
(restated)
AE WA Finance income
RITF A EMA Interest income on bank deposits (2,203) (2,276)
il R 2N Finance costs
RITEZF B Interest expense on bank borrowings 9,343 8,594
MEaENSR (M) Interest expense on lease liabilities
(Note) 199,089 238,115
208,432 246,709
BERAEK - BEE Finance costs, net 206,229 244,433
Mt MEABANERAINELAERRERREE Note: Interest expenses on lease liabilities is arising from recognition
B HEZEEMNRAFRETSE - of right-of-use assets, which is measured at net present value of
the fixed payment.
FrEfipEx (EH) 29 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)
KEBHZE2022F K2021F12H831H The income tax expense/(credit) of the Group for the
EFEMABHRAS (ER) D years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is analysed
s & as follows:

BZE12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20225 20214
2022 2021
AR®BTT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(18 &%)
(restated)

BEAPR1S B Current income tax
—PEERMASHR — PRC corporate income tax 6,819 14,903
— BB ER - Hong Kong profits tax 4,839 97
11,658 15,000
EIEFRIS (et 14) Deferred income tax (Note 14) (5,584) (34,732)
6,074 (19,732)
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29

(a)

(b)

(c)

B8R (Bxk)/ e (&)

iR IE BT 15 B B 1 5K IE A R %6 104,000
(20214 : AFR%104,000) @ 588 5%
ATERAEEF B E = -

EBRNEH
AREBERBEEZE2022F K% 2021F12
A3MBEFESFO M ERT A EZ
16.5%M K « LB BFSH R RE
1 o

RE R ERER

AEBEERIBERITAN « REREREIE
Bl gk F A B At 3E 7S 7 S A R B0 fl 5T P
SRR IR 25% (20214 : 25% ) BT R
FHRFTIS TG  BRIEBEERAMNESRM

R AERIH -

ANEE B A R E S R
EEAKY  FAEBEARTRA I
FEmERNEERKBERER  BWEH
15% (20214 : 15% ) BB TS

;2:(0

FEIFE B

RBERTBEBRBIER - R EAMAK
MY REE2008F 1 A1 B 2 B EE KT
BRINEREEDIRORE - —RAR
10% R FAHEH o W F B MK
VEINEIREET AP BN EFBET
VR R EERB L R RE RRTE
BRABRIHH AR 10%MEEES%
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29

(a)

(b)

(c)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued)
Included in deferred income tax, amount of
RMB104,000 (2021: RMB104,000) represented write-
down of previously recognised deferred tax assets.

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits for each of
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

PRC corporate income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in Mainland China has been calculated
at the tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%) on the estimated
assessable profits for each of the years ended,
based on the existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof, unless preferential tax
rates were applicable.

Yunnan Airport Asiaray, a subsidiary of the Group,
was established in Yunnan Province, PRC. It was
eligible for preferential tax policies applicable for the
development of western regions in Mainland China,
and was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of
15% (2021: 15%).

PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations,
dividends distributed by a company established in
Mainland China to a foreign investor with respect to
profits derived after 1 January 2008 are generally
subject to a 10% withholding income tax. If a foreign
investor incorporated in Hong Kong meets the
conditions and requirements under the double taxation
treaty arrangement entered into between Mainland
China and Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax
rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.
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29 FRE®(BxX)/ BR(E) 29 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued)
(c) HEFEHNB(E) (c) PRC withholding tax (Continued)
N6 [ PR B A S 4R B A TE B R AR K % B The tax on the Group's loss before tax differs from the
AHEBNFE, (BB ERNER theoretical amount that would arise using the primary
H25%(20214F : 25%) T B H A tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%) applicable to profit/(loss) of
DEEMEFEOT the majority of the consolidated entities as follows:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214

2022 2021

AR¥ T ARBTIT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

(&=75)

(restated)

BRFT SR ATE 1B Loss before income tax (83,675) (140,866)
W FREEABRENDERRE  Less: share of net loss/(profit) of

R FEE(FHE) investments accounted for
using the equity method (17,961) 1,142
(101,636) (139,724)

1225%(20214F : 25%)Fi Rt EH) Tax calculated at a taxation rate

iE of 25% (2021: 25%) (25,409) (34,931)
Hip Rl AR, BB EETH Different taxation rates in other
ENERES jurisdictions/under preferential
tax treatment 3,280 (4,480)
BERB WA Income not subject to tax (15,464) (16,065)
RN R 2 Expenses not deductible for tax
purposes 11,597 10,829
EIEFTS R E ERARMERFIERIE Tax losses not recognised as deferred
income tax assets 31,725 28,694
BUBRER TR FERIEL R BEE Derecognition of previously recognised
deferred tax assets 104 104
RERBLEEHEERN Temporary differences not recognised
R =58 for deferred income tax assets 6,359 1,691
AL AREROBIEBER Utilisation of tax losses and temporary
Eis =R difference previously not recognised (6,118) (5,574)
FIaRiEY,/ (FH) Income tax expense/(credit) 6,074 (19,732)
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30
(a)

(b)

BRER

== %N
BRERBRIBBEARBER ARKS
BER A K AR MR AT A E 25 DR - BR
RERDBTEBRMEFSHFTE
(TEBEFRR)

30
(a)

LOSS PER SHARE

Basics

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the
loss attributable to owners of the Company less the
distribution of PSCS by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding
treasury shares.

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224

20214
2022 2021

(&=75)
(restated)

RAREE AEILHEER Loss attributable to owners of
(AR®ETTT) the Company (RMB’000) (112,663) (143,671)
W KRR AINRF 5 5 Ik Less: Distribution to PSCS (RMB’000)
(ARBTFT) (10,479) (6,340)
(123,142) (150,011)
BEITEZERAINEFEE(FA) Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue (thousand shares) 468,518 468,737
EREBE(ERARES) Loss per share (RMB cents per share) (26.3) (32.0)

B

BRESERDBRREELARQF M
RERE XKARRAIBERESRE
% W B8 Radius Displays International
Limited B B 1TARAN51 % A 45 55 ([ X
BEEREDMEENMAEEEESE
BR(ERFTESREEBEND &)
HEITEING BACINE T BUETR B

H o
ZAr

B E2022F K 2021F12 A31 8 IEF
[§ @ REBKA RG] HNREF K I
HHABBERARAEEEETEREARS
B EEREFRNEE RESHEWE W
G EEREEEERT RFTEER -
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(b)

Diluted

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding by the assumption of the conversion of
all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from share
options granted by the Company, PSCS and equity-
settlement in relation to the acquisition of 51% issued
share capital of Radius Displays International Limited
("equity-settled liabilities”) (forming the denominator
for computing diluted loss per share).

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Group’s PSCS and equity-settled liabilities, could
potentially dilute basic loss per share in the future, but
were not included in the calculation of diluted loss per
share because they are anti-dilutive for the year.
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31
(a)

RenEiEs
EEMSRE

B ATIS BRI B 1R

R

IR W B R I At R W SRR S 1R R A
RITHE N B R (Ha£28)
RITEZH S WA (K a£28)
MER AN SR (HiE28)

ME - BB RREITE(Hits)
EREEERE (A7)

MERRER(Hiz7)
B EESE(HZ9)

HEME - BEREE &
®|IVEEN(RaE),BE

(Ktet27)
B B ARAEN LN FEER
(Btat27)

BOFEIABGSRN BEED
NHEW R (ATaE27)

125 A R 2t B A (227
AT ERE, (k)
e A B A B R
EHE)) BEARE12)

45 P 2 RS B R (T 4227)

EREEENRERE(E7)

EEASED

FE
— FEBR 5R K ELAth B U 5k IE
— B BR RN A B R
—XRHRE

LEMBRE

31 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Cash generated from operations

Loss before income tax

Adjustments for:

Loss allowance for trade and other
receivables

Interest expense on bank borrowings
(Note 28)

Interest income on bank deposits
(Note 28)

Interest expense on lease liabilities
(Note 28)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 6)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 7)

Rent concession fee (Note 7)

Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 9)

(Gains)/losses on disposal of property,
plant and equipment and intangible
assets (Note 27)

Fair value losses on remeasurement on
contingent consideration (Note 27)

Fair value gains on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
(Note 27)

Net gains from early termination of
|leases (Note 27)

Fair value losses/(gains) on investment
properties (Note 8)

Share of net (profit)/loss of investments
accounted for using the equity
method (Note 12)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net
(Note 27)

Impairment losses on right-of-use
assets (Note 7)

Changes in working capital:

— Inventories

— Trade and other receivables
— Trade and other payables

— Restricted cash

Cash generated from operations

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20225 20214
2022 2021
ARET T AR®ET T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
(#&E7))

(restated)
(83,675) (140,866)
29,836 10,784
9,343 8,594
(2,203) (2,276)
199,089 238,115
42,458 28,093
985,256 919,716
(146,438) (87,129)
2,054 2,014
(100) 57
6,598 3,922
(768) -
(165,483) =
2,804 (14,311)
(17,961) 1,142
- (49,634)

16,750 21,412
877,560 939,633
(14,398) (5,412)
140,558 (141,590)
(176,057) 94,030
(4,913) 860
822,750 887,521
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31 BEREER(E) 31 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
(a) ZEMBHEE(E) (a) Cash generated from operations (Continued)
EAHBEERERTY  HEVE  KE In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
R REREEMSHERSE : from disposals of property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets comprise:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR¥ T ARBTIT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

(&=75)

(restated)

BREFE (M 7F6) Net book amount (Note 6) 152 139
ek (E8) (KiE27) Gains/(losses) on disposals (Note 27) 100 (57)
HEFEIA Proceeds from disposals 252 82
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31
(b)

RERnBERE) 31
MEFDELEZEFHR (b)
AEF A A 25 B HFR e (E
BEFRS (BB BB -

R2020F12A31A 2
FRE /(&) (BES)

R2021F18182
BRE/(EH) (BEF)

SNEHE

HEMBAR (M35

MB R

HERE

A FREEE

202151283182
BRE/(E%)(EEF)

R2022F18182
BRE/(EH) (BEF)

SNEHE

MBFX

HERE

A ReEE

202251283182
BRe/(EH)

Net cash/(debt) as at 31
December 2020 (restated)

Net cash/(debt) as at

1 January 2021 (restated)
Financing cash flows
Foreign exchange adjustments
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35)
Interest expenses
Additions of lease
Other non-cash movements

Net cash/(debt) as at
31 December 2021 (restated)

Net cash/(debt) as at

1 January 2022 (restated)
Financing cash flows
Foreign exchange adjustments
Interest expenses
Additions of lease
Other non-cash movements

Net cash/(debt) as at
31 December 2022

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

This section sets out an analysis of net cash/(debt)
and the movements in net cash/(debt) for each of the
periods presented.

METBDFBEE

Liabilities from financing activities
1ERESz 1 FREBZ
EEA AR
Borrowing
due after
1 year
AREFT
RMB'000

HEAE

Borrowing
due within

Lease
liabilities
ARBTFT
RMB’000

Total

ARETT
RMB'000

1 year
ARBTIT
RMB'000

(3,498,401) (186,993) (67,867) (3,753,261)
(3,498,401) (186,993) (67,867) (3,753,261)
864,947 77,639 (80,856) 861,730
40,429 5,803 2,844 49,076
145,529 - - 145,529
(238,115) (8,594) - (246,709)
(1,797,070) - - (1,797,070)
87,129 (14,859) 14,859 87,129
(4,395,552) (127,004) (131,020) (4,653,576)
(4,395,552) (127,004) (131,020)  (4,653,576)
765,351 (21,530) (30,551) 713,270
(49,960) 11,529 (15,837) (54,268)
(199,089) (9,343) - (208,432)
(93,824) - - (93,824)
1,870,635 - - 1,870,635
(2,102,439) (146,348) (177,408)  (2,426,195)
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32
(a)

DR AERNARK

]

AR E KBRS TR IR 2014412
H6BBBHAZRREM(ZETE]) -
FTEBMAREERALTHAEEFE
B AT BE 1B A B B R 1 S fR (i 42 B =k
EE

R2015F5 8210 - EFS#EREZ
EHEI% H11,534,875 M BB E T H B
BRBALNBEFRERENTE NE
B(IHREE]DANINNES([RERE
BAEBARERE ) RBREZATER D
4,400,00017 B IR #E T MR £ ([FTEA
BEERETE]) - WH2015F6F10H
BITHREFRI A S BB LR EIE R

FiliERENGBERERSEETHR
0.6F&AI{TFE30% MBI T HiE1.65F
%A1T{E70% ° AR ARR2016%F1 18
F2020F6 A9H (RIEEBHEMA ) BB A
TELEABREERENE30% : &R
AR2017F1 B1HE2020%F6 A9H (&
FEEMB) BB TED BT B R E
K EFR70% °

AEBEYEERIEEEME - AR 2D
PR A E -

MR2022F K& 2021F12 8318 © FrARE
RS HE B R 30 R B4 5 BB A o
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32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a)

Share Option Plan

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 6 December 2014
(the "Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

On 21 May 2015, the Board approved to grant
11,534,875 share options under the Scheme to its
employees and directors that excluding Lam Tak
Hing, Vincent (“Mr. Lam”) the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company (“Employee and
Contributor Share Option Plan”) and 4,400,000 share
options under the Scheme to Mr. Lam (“Executive
Share Option Plan”) that was approved and confirmed
by the independent shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 10 June 2015.

The vesting schedule of above share options is 30%
after 0.6 years from the grant date and 70% after 1.6
years from the grant date. The first 30% of the above
share options granted shall be exercisable by the
grantees during the period from 1 January 2016 to 9
June 2020 (both days inclusive); and the remaining 70%
of the share options granted shall be exercisable by the
grantees during the period from 1 January 2017 to 9
June 2020 (both days inclusive).

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021 all share options
were lapsed and no share options were granted.
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32
(b)

33

U BERNSRE)

BR 17 28 B 5t &l
ARATF201845 A 17 B EA A 15 22 B
srEI(TRGm RS ])  EZ2BMAER
EREpIAEERERERESTGHANE
EERATHAREBEBHER RE
FEER - B0 SEE)ET B R R 40 % 15 12 B
FrEIE HRBAT10F AR AR - A
HEFCAEREBRATNATRERIL -
ARABBEKZ—IBEFL WEEZTA
EIERFEE AN BT IR ARG
(TRRD BT BT ) - 558 B R IR
HEESET -

REZE2022F12A31BLEFE AR
AR IR AR 19 2B 5 815 7T BB A 493,500
B - ERFEHERARE113IBT
(FHHERARE0.97) °

REZE2022512A31 B IEFE -
191,666 J% 15 7 B 1B 15 i% 10 B2 B 51 81 3%
ARE5008BTT(HHERARKL.27)%
FIEE  THERBEYE - EERFF
S AR#819,0008 RE £ 2022512 A
MBLEFENE YRR ER (2021
£ AR¥232,000) °

EXBEIRS

7N £ B % Media Cornerstone Limited
(REBRLZHES M) =S - E
%A A QA KD H53.59% ° Space
Management Limited(REBRE XS
A )FE AR LD F KD HS.03% o E
8 T38.38% MO AIFHE - EFR
Media Cornerstone Limited %) Bl &2 i&
DA R REIER AT o REENRLIE
f& 75 BRI E -

B EXEA AT RS 0 AEE R
HEFEHRNE E20224F %2021 12 A
MBI EEETTUTEARRS - ARQ
REERA  ZEBEAIRINETE
AP IR A B EEBEES DTN
FRAETT ©

32
(b)

33

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

Share Award Scheme

On 17 May 2018, the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) for the primary
purpose to recognise and reward the contribution of
the Group’s employees and other eligible persons
as approved by the Board of Directors for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group’s
business. The Share Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing
from the date of the adoption of the Share Award
Scheme, subject to any early termination as may be
determined appropriate by the Board of Directors. The
Company has set up a trust and appointed a trustee
for the administration and holding of the Company’s
shares acquired for the Share Award Scheme (the
“Share Award Scheme Trust”). The vesting period and
conditions are determined by the Board of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company purchased 493,500 shares under Share
Award Scheme Trust. The average price is HKD1.13
(equivalent to RMBO0.97) per share.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 191,666
shares have been granted at HKD5.00 (equivalent
to RMB4.27) to employees under the Share Award
Scheme without vesting condition. Employee benefit
expenses of RMB819,000 were recognised in the
consolidated financial statements during the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB232,000).

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group is controlled by Media Cornerstone Limited
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which owns
53.59% of the Company's shares. Space Management
Limited incorporated in the British Virgin Islands holds
8.03% of the Company’s shares. The other remaining
38.38% of the shares are widely held. The directors
regard Media Cornerstone Limited as the holding
company and ultimate holding company respectively.
The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Lam.

Same as disclosed in other notes above, the following
significant transactions were carried out between
the Group and its related parties during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the related party
transactions were carried out in the normal course of
business and at terms agreed between the Group and
the respective related parties.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2022 Annual Report 229



SO TR ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 EXBERIRS(#) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BERZXRZ (a) Transactions with related parties
AT 22 5 B8 5 31T The following transactions occurred with related
parties:

BZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20225 20214
2022 2021
ARBT T ARBT T
RMB'000 RMB’000
(&)
(restated)
=N L N Advertising display service incomes
NG| Associates 15,680 12,610
iNKYESVNGIEGEIE 8 £ Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 302 655
15,982 13,265
BE MR R E B Concession fee charges for
advertising spaces
AN Associates 149,900 173,170
i SY NGO E 2 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 52,350 32,570
EEPE Joint venture 1,900 3,478
204,150 209,218
BN —HBE R REEME Sales commissions paid/payable to
an associate 469 455
Hekx Rental expenses
NEEIESNGIEOE 2 ¢ i Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries 1,644 1,327
F ARG A 15 8 — B E A R A related company controlled
by Mr. Lam 1,828 478
3,472 1,805
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33 ERBELIXRZ(£&) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BEAXRZ(E) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

BZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021

AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
(&g&E71)

(restated)

BT E AR AIEIERR#E  Utilities cost paid/payable to non-

A E B S R controlling interests in subsidiaries 4,143 4,851
FEEEASFH Key management compensation
HEERBENXENIEZEREAR The compensations paid or payable to key
(BREESE  BRATEREMASHRT management personnel (including directors, chief
HAE)REMIT : executive officer and other senior executives) for

employee services are shown below:

HBZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 2021

ARET T ARET T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

(&&=75)

(restated)

TITENEFS Wages and salaries 8,054 7,325
RRET SR Retirement scheme contributions 41 30
5T Total 8,095 7,355

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2022 Annual Report 231



SO TR ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 EXRBEEAXE (&) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EEEEHMNE (b) Balances with related parties
(i)  BREWRIER : (i) Included in trade receivables:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T AREBTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(&&:7))
(restated)
/N Associates 12,189 9,322
NS PNGIESE S o o Non-controlling interest
in subsidiaries 1,248 2,833
R Joint venture 728 782
14,165 12,937
(i)  EREERH (i) Included in trade payables:
MW12H31A
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(&=E=75)
(restated)
NS Associates 345 121
TP A Rl FEFE AR 21 Non-controlling interests
in subsidiaries 142 3,244
BEDE Joint venture 848 616
1,335 3,981
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33 ERFEELFRZ(£) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) Eﬁiﬁﬁﬁfiﬂ’] ER(4E) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(i)  EFRE MR 74IE - (iii)  Included in prepayments:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARMT T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
(&=7))
(restated)
i ElN| Associates 229 _
NI PNGIECE S o o Non-controlling interests
in subsidiaries 22,253 21,082
22,482 21,082
(iv) BBRVEGTEZZERIFFAALEEST M - (iv) Included in accrued concession fee charges for

advertising spaces:

MW12H31A

As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(&E5)
(restated)
95%’& ) Associates 78,707 45,561

PO B 2 A ) BRI AR A A Non-controlling interests

in subsidiaries 527 12,539
BERE Joint venture - 862
79,234 58,962
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33 ERFEELFIRZ(£) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EEEEEEEE’J ER(4E) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(v) EBRAMEWFIE (v) Included in other receivables:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARMT T ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(g&E75)
(restated)
/N Associates = 5,625
NS PNGIESE S o o Non-controlling interest
in subsidiaries 14 39,963
HEDE Joint venture 42,788 -
42,802 45,588
(vi) EZRE M BN E (vi) Included in other payables:
MW12H31A
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(&=E=75)
(restated)
NS Associates 139 139
TP A Rl FEFE AR 21 Non-controlling interest
in subsidiaries 565 2,430
MRS AR ER R Related companies controlled
by Mr. Lam 3,597 -
4,301 2,569
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33 ERBELIXRZ(£&) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EERREFMER(E) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(ii) BRHEEER - (vii) Included in lease liabilities:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T AREBTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(&=7))
(restated)
EEpE/NG| Related companies 849,143 1,626,450
FREBETNERRERR  RER The above balances with related parties were
AIMBREEARAARKEFHE - unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand and

denominated in RMB.
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34 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

Acquisition of a subsidiary under asset deal
transaction

As disclosed in Note 20, as at 22 January 2021, the
Group acquired (i) the Sale Share, representing 100%
of the issued share capital of Billion China; and (ii)
the shareholder’s loan in the sum of approximately
HKD38,200,000 (equivalent to RMB31,232,000)
from Mr. Lam at Completion. The Consideration
of approximately HKD122,700,000 (equivalent to
RMB101,927,000), net of issuance costs, shall be paid,
and satisfied upon Completion by the issuance of the
PSCS by the Company to Mr. Lam or his nominee(s).
The acquisition and the issuance of the PSCS were
approved in extraordinary general meeting on 23 April
2021. The completion date is 14 May 2021.

The principal asset of the related company is the entire
interest in properties located in Beijing. Given no
integrated set under the acquisition is capable of being
conducted and managed as a business, it is concluded
that the acquisition was accounted for as an asset
acquisition.

The fair values of the net assets acquired in the
transaction are as follows:

ARBT T
RMB’000

(&=E=75)
(restated)

Assets and liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 56,333

Investment properties (Note 8) 32,261

Cash and cash equivalents 23

Amount due from related companies 14,680

Dividend payables to shareholder (1,542)

Currency translation difference 172
Total identifiable net assets acquired 101,927
Total fair value of consideration:

By issuance of the PSCS (Note 20) 101,927
Cash inflow arising from the acquisition:

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 23
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35 HEMEAF

(a)
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KERTHEREEBH 2 EEFEFS
FIEWR

35 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the shareholders
passed on 29 April 2021, Zhuhai Asiaray issued and
allotted 2,000,000 new ordinary shares at RMB1 each
to an existing shareholder and Shanghai Asiaray
Advertising Company Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company at amount of RMB1,900,000
and RMB100,000 respectively. As a result, the
registered share capital of Zhuhai Asiaray increased by
RMB2,000,000. Upon completion as at 26 May 2021,
the Group's equity interest in Zhuhai Asiaray decreased
from 60% to 49% while one of the board members
from Shanghai Asiaray was removed and consequently
the Group only maintains significant influence over
the board decision since then. Thus, Zhuhai Asiaray
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group and became an
associate of the Group under HKAS 28.

Details of net assets of Zhuhai Asiaray at date of
disposal were as follows:

ARET T
RMB’'000
(C=20D)
(restated)
FriRB RN A TE Fair value of interest retained 4,678
B CHEBEFHE Less: net assets disposed of
M - BB KR (Hits) Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) (2,637)
FREEEME7) Right-of-use assets (Note 7) (34,576)
FIEFTESREE Deferred income tax assets (2,818)
J7E Ui B 3k % L fih fiE U 08 Trade and other receivables (10,984)
EE Inventories (110)
RENRBESZEEYD Cash and cash equivalents (7,311)
FESBR N EAth FE A 5108 Trade and other payables 8,197
ENEAFTIS TR & & Current income tax liabilities 670
HEEE Lease liabilities 44,892
FEFE R 2R Non-controlling interests 1,957
b H RO Release of foreign exchange reserves (172)
HEWE (faE27) Gain on disposal (Note 27) 1,786
BIELEELNRERE Cash outflow arising from the deemed disposal:
BekReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 7,311
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35 HEMBARE) 35 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) M F12FTIRE » R EMEFEER S (b) As disclosed in Note 12, Tianjin Metro Resources no
2021F 1 A1BRRTEELRE#RT LS longer assigned its voting right to Shanghai Asiaray
ML BARNEFEFTE - BRAET L since 1 January 2021. Given the board is required to
BRA—EEEERZE  AEELKEY have unanimous consent to pass an board resolution,
FBFEE M IEHE  ETBAREBKN the Group lost control in Tianjin Yatie which is ceased
BAR - REFBGTERFE285 » & to be a subsidiary of the Group since then. The
BBARATEENEGEDE - investment would be accounted for as a joint venture of

the Group under HKAS 28.

REBRBNEERAPHNFEEFBN Details of net assets of Tianjin Yatie at date of disposal
™ were as follows:
ARET T
RMB’'000
(&=E=75)
(restated)
iR Bz AFE Fair value of interest retained 21,976
B B EBEFHE Less: net assets disposed of
M - BB KR (A iEs) Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) (1,245)
FREEEME7) Right-of-use assets (Note 7) (52,244)
FIEFTSREE Deferred income tax assets (10,077)
JrE U BR SR N L Ath fE U 5R08 Trade and other receivables (28,494)
EE Inventories (7)
B RIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents (3,981)
JEASTBR FU N EAth FE A 5108 Trade and other payables 40,502
HEaE Lease liabilities 100,637
IR = Non-controlling interests (17,911)
FE X B Release of foreign exchange reserves (819)
&S s (fat27) Gain on disposal (Note 27) 48,337
RIELEEENRERE ¢ Cash outflow arising from the deemed disposal:
BeMREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 3,981
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35 HEMBARE) 35 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(c) M2021F11A8H  RAEBGEMAIH (c) As at 8 November 2021, Qingdao Asiaray Advertising
2EMNBRARESHTHEEEFRAR Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
EBUH R e incorporated in the PRC was deregistered.

RBUHEM B B S E R FEEF Details of net assets of Qingdao Asiaray at date of
BT : deregistration were as follows:
AR¥T R
RMB’000
(18 &%)
(restated)
BEHEFEE Net assets disposed of
BLEFSTHEE Deferred income tax assets (24)
JFEE U5 AR R B L At FE LUK TR Trade and other receivables (163)
BE 34, e 7 ol Release of foreign exchange reserves (302)
BUH BB 2 R M B (A aE27) Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary (Note 27) (489)
RIELEEEMNBRSRE ¢ Cash outflow arising from the deemed disposal:
ReRBEEEFEY Cash and cash equivalents =
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36 KRAEEEBRRERESH 36 BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 AOVA
AR¥ET T ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(&=E7)
(restated)
BE ASSETS
EREEE Non-current asset
RHTE A R RIKE Investment in subsidiaries 308,462 308,150
)= NGIE QL] Amounts due from subsidiaries 544,767 573,215
853,229 881,365
REBEE Current assets
o i W sk IE M TR R Other receivables and
prepayments 3,018 2,744
RERBESZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 43,816 37,292
46,834 40,036
BMEE Total assets 900,063 921,401
ERRkEE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
ANRHEE AL ER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
H§$ Share capital (a) 38,139 38,139
1 Reserves (a) 614,715 644,244
ERERS Total equity 652,854 682,383
=L Liabilities
FRBEE Non-current liability
RN Borrowings 139,188 131,020
REBERE Current liabilities
FETHT B A Rl IE Amounts due to subsidiaries 21,822 19,095
Hofh A 5RIE Other payables 19,704 17,772
&R Borrowings 66,495 71,131
108,021 107,998
BmeE Total liabilities 247,209 239,018
HmEZRAE Total equity and liabilities 900,063 921,401
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36 KPAEEEBRRESREH(£Z) 36 BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) AQFERBE (a) Equity movement of the Company

KARE
e Rt  TERES EWERER Hitte ZitFR
Perpetual
subordinated Currency

Share Share  convertible translation Other  Accumulated
capital premium  securities differences reserves losses Total
ARETr  ARBTR ARETR ARMTr ARETR  ARETR  ARMTx
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

R2021E151R(KE7)) At 1 January 2021 (restated) 38,139 292,745 60,343 25,176 198,613 (264) 614,752
EEEE Loss for the year = - - - - (76.716) (76716)
KARRAABRERAE  Distributions to PSCS = - - - - (6,339) (6,339)
BITAARRTARES  lssue of PSCS, net of expenses

(B - - 163,483 - - - 163,483
AROBEFZEARSD  Purchase of shares for Share

(Hi#32m) Award Scheme (Note 32 (b)) = - - - (1,267) - (1.267)
BERNZEHEISER  Vesting of shares under Share

(Kiztsam) Award Scheme (Note 32 (b)) = - - - 23 - V&Y
At Bl Other comprehensive loss - - - (49.901) - (49,901)

R2021512 831 (K E5) At 31 December 2021 (restated) 38,139 292,745 223,826 (24,729) 197,578 (83,319) 644,244

R2022F1 A1R(BE5) At 1 January 2022 (restated) 38,139 292,745 223,826 (24,725) 197,578 (83,319) 644,244
FRER Loss for the year - - - - - (36,768)  (36,768)
KARBIBREFDE  Distributions to PSCS - - - - (10,479) (10,479)
BITAANRIARESR  lssue of PSCS, net of expenses

(HRR) - - 17,182 - = - 17,182
SO EEEEARR  Purchase of shares for Share

(H#320) Award Scheme (Note 32 (b)) = = = = (507) = (507)
BERDEZE:TZEBRA  Vesting of shares under Share

(Hi#320) Award Scheme (Note 32 (b)) o - - . 819 - 819
Atz le Other comprehensive income - - - 24 - 24
120225128318 At 31 December 2022 38,139 292,745 241,008 (24,501) 197,890 (130,566) 614,715
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37 EEM= 37 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
BAREFNBE2022F12HA31AIEF The remuneration of each director for the year ended
ER eS| AT 31 December 2022 is set out as below:

HES

EBANT

FENE

LES

EHENEM

BER  BINEKE  REEAY

#2 BBRL EURN  HENHR  EUHeH:

Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect of

director's

other services

in connection

with the

management

Employer's of the

contribution affairs of

toa the company

Allowances  retirement or its

Discretionary and benefits benefit  subsidiary
Name of directors Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking Total
ARBTL  ARMTT ARETR  ARETr  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

£ Chairman
iy Mr. Lam - 1,390 - - 16 - 1,406
HiTEs Executive director
B2 Kwan Tat Cheong - 1,047 - . 13 . 1,060
FUTES Non-executive directors
WFE(Hit) Lam Ka Po (Note) 65 2,088 = = 12 = 2,165
z38 Wong Chiin 22 - - - - 2,416 2678
1l Yang Peng - - = = - - -
BUFHfES Independent non-executive
directors
S Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 262 = - = - - 262
SRIE 68s.p Ma Ho Fai 68 Jp 262 - - - - - 262
EEk Mak Ka Ling 262 - - = o - 262
Hiet - MRBER2022F10 A1 BEMITERR/ER Note: Lam Ka Po was re-designated from an executive director to a
JFEMITESE non-executive director on 1 October 2022.
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37 EEM& (&) 37 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
BAREFRBE2021F12A31AIEF The remuneration of each director for the year ended
F(EEFHBEHEZ 0T : 31 December 2021 (restated) is set out as below:

HES

ERALE

FENE

LES

EHNEM

BER EIHEKE  RECAY

#2 RBRL EURN  HENHR  ELHeH:

Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect of

director's

other services

in connection

with the

management

Employer's of the

contribution affairs of

toa the company

Allowances  retirement or its

Discretionary  and benefits benefit  subsidiary
Name of directors Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking Total
ARBTL  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETr  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

(mE5) (25 (mE5) (mE5) (& E5) (mE5)) (mE5)
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
£ Chairman
Wik Mr. Lam = 1338 = = 15 - 1,353
YTES Executive director
W58 Lam Ka Po - 2,189 - - 15 - 2,204
FnEs Non-executive directors
TR Waong Chi Kin 252 = = - = 2,790 3,042
1l Yang Peng = - . - - - ;
BUFHfES Independent non-executive
directors
BRE Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 252 - - - - - 252
552 68s Jp Ma Ho Fai G8s 252 = = - - - 25
EER Mak Ka Ling 252 e - . - . %2
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37
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

BEEMe(E)

EEME

B E2022F K2021F 12 A31 8 IEF
B BEEEgASENRNEAMEE
AN A AEE R R sk Rk AR
HEE: BEEERaREEABWE
K EBNETAME (202145 : &) ©

EEERNREF

HE2022F K2021F 12 A31 8 IFF
E - BEREARQARRENBARE
ERENEERBEIAMEFEELRD
AIRENBARERER 2 KR
MARREE X FERERKEFR (2021
F |

EEEBER

HE2022F %2021F 12 A318 IFF
B BERAQRESRAKIEZEM
ME S EMFEE(2021F : ) °

AE=AXNRUESRB2AE

HZE2022F N2021F12A31H IEF
B ARAYRAEAE=ZFENES
RIS 2 REB(20214F : &) -

FHUES EEcIEFZERBE
BRASHEAZER  EERRHMX
Z2EH

B E2022F K 2021F 12 A31 8 IFF
B BEUARQRES EF 2 XEH
FERAEEBAYRAZENR  EH
R HABR 5 (20214 : &) o

EERRG  ZHIEHNZEAER

BRRZEA SRR ING ER H b it
FEBOXZHN  RERKFERT
M AARZEEMENANRF D] E
RNEBEKERZEMEER S - THF
REHTPHETMNEAAESHEEZ
(20214F : #&) o
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37
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ remuneration

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, no director received any emolument from the
Group as an inducement to join or leave the Group
or compensation for loss of office; no directors and
senior management waived or has agreed to waive any
emoluments (2021: nil).

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
no retirement benefits paid to the directors of the
Company in respect of the director’s services as a
director of the Company and its subsidiaries or other
services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
(2021: nil).

Directors’ termination benefit

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, no payments were made to the directors of the
Company as compensation for the early termination of
the appointment (2021: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Company did not make payment to any third party
for making available director’s services (2021: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors of the Company, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such directors (2021:
nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save for transactions disclosed elsewhere in the notes
to these consolidated financial statements, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year (2021: nil).
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38

HHEBERSBE

2022410 H24H - Asiaray Outdoor
Media Limited 2 & B # B A R 2 75T
VEEHERERESH  ATHBEK
o HEREHENERBERS REE
AENESHEB(BREESE - PINK

1THREAEHAEF - F1EBL2MARQFH
BRA2022F 10 A24H A% ©

7R2023F2A9H » LIBHTHESE
BERATEMMEERESLEERR
BARGIYESEREESYN  RBA
BEERELEAERREENMME—
R MRRRNFEZEEER 8
2023F 1 A1EHRAEHAF - FBHE2H
ANATBEA2023F2 A9RHIRE o

Br EXFTIEES - 52022512831
REEARFHRAMIL  HERLEFEXR
SEMNEMBAEMF -

38

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 24 October 2022, Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited
and MTR Corporation Limited entered into an
advertising sales agency service contract in respect of
the operation, sales and marketing and management
of the advertising media including advertising panels,
outdoor billboard and LED display for MTR Malls
and Commercial Premises for a period of 5 years
commencing on 1 January 2023. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24
October 2022.

On 9 February 2023, FBHTHESEREERA
A] (Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Media Company
Limited*) and MMM EEHELELEERAR QA
(Hangzhou Metro Commercial Operation and
Management Co., Ltd.*) entered into an advertising
resources operation contract in respect of the exclusive
concession rights to use and operate the advertising
resources in Hangzhou metro line 2, line 4 and line 9
for a period of 5 years commencing on 1 January 2023.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 9 February 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other significant
event affecting the Group which have occurred since
31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report.

*  For identification purpose only
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

ES

RESULTS

20225
2022

ARBTR
RMB’000

BZ12831ALEE

Year ended 31 December
20214 2020%F 20194
2021 2020 2019
ARETT ARBTIT ARETT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(restated) (restated) (restated)
(BF7) (K=FH) (KL55)

20185
2018
ARET T
RMB'000
(restated)
(& =5)

PN/NCTE Y =DN (Loss)/profit attributable to

(B518),/FI8 owners of the Company (112,663)  (143,671)  (145,180)  (111,305) 53,151
REtFIE - BE - HE Earings before interest, tax,

MEHEETRET depreciation and amortisation 1,154,525 1,055,666 918,861 712,063 165,492
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

K12831H

As at 31 December
2022% 20214 20204 20194 20184
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ARETRT ARBTT AREBTT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’'000
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(&=E5) (E5) (E5) (&E5)
BEE Total assets 3,153,008 5,452,873 4,441,361 3,953,369 1,401,443
HwaE Total liabilities (2,880,860) (5,075,916) (4,125,969) (3,493,573)  (897,473)
FEE Net assets 272,148 376,957 315,392 459,796 503,970
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MiBEEE
(ERFEFEATE)
MESRE

FHUITES

MRELE
(R2022F 107 1 H {778 EHEFE)

el tes
(202344 H18H B (T)
REFELZ T
(R2023F4H18HEZ(T)

BAHITES
BRELE
BxEkEcBS P
BEER T
DNEME
MR E
REARR

MiBEEE
EmmEL

Bt EEE

ERELAE(ER)
BxEkEGBS P
BT

REZES"

B ELE A (EE)
BxEkEcBs P
BERER T

FMEES

BExREEAEGBS JP(EFE)
MEE L
ERELLE
Bkt

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwan Tat Cheong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Ka Po

(re-designated from an executive Director on 1 October

2022)
Mr. Wong Chi Kin
Mr. Yang Peng

(resigned on 18 April 2023)
Ms. Wu Xiaopin

(appointed on 18 April 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP
Ms. Mak Ka Ling

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Ip Pui Sum
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Mr. Ip Pui Sum

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP
Ms. Mak Ka Ling

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP
Ms. Mak Ka Ling

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
Ms. Mak Ka Ling
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Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest
Entity Auditor

LEGAL ADVISER

Mason Ching & Associates
2403, 24/F., World-Wide House
19 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

United Overseas Bank Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

16/F.,

Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower
1 Kornhill Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

WEBSITE
http://www.asiaray.com
STOCK CODE

1993
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